



This is an electronic reprint of the original article. This reprint may differ from the original in pagination and typographic detail.

Österberg, Monika; Henn, K. Alexander; Farooq, Muhammad; Valle-Delgado, Juan José Biobased Nanomaterials–The Role of Interfacial Interactions for Advanced Materials

Published in: Chemical Reviews

DOI: 10.1021/acs.chemrev.2c00492

Published: 08/03/2023

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Published under the following license: CC BY

Please cite the original version:

Österberg, M., Henn, K. A., Farooq, M., & Valle-Delgado, J. J. (2023). Biobased Nanomaterials—The Role of Interfacial Interactions for Advanced Materials. *Chemical Reviews*, *123*(5), 2200-2241. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.2c00492

This material is protected by copyright and other intellectual property rights, and duplication or sale of all or part of any of the repository collections is not permitted, except that material may be duplicated by you for your research use or educational purposes in electronic or print form. You must obtain permission for any other use. Electronic or print copies may not be offered, whether for sale or otherwise to anyone who is not an authorised user.



Biobased Nanomaterials—The Role of Interfacial Interactions for Advanced Materials

Monika Österberg,* K. Alexander Henn, Muhammad Farooq, and Juan José Valle-Delgado

Cite This: Chem. Rev. 2023, 123, 2200–2



ACCESS

III Metrics & More

ABSTRACT: This review presents recent advances regarding biomass-based nanomaterials, focusing on their surface interactions. Plant biomass-based nanoparticles, like nanocellulose and lignin from industry side streams, hold great potential for the development of lightweight, functional, biodegradable, or recyclable material solutions for a sustainable circular bioeconomy. However, to obtain optimal properties of the nanoparticles and materials made thereof, it is crucial to control the interactions both during particle production and in applications. Herein we focus on the current understanding of these interactions. Solvent interactions during particle formation and production, as well as interactions with water, polymers, cells and other components in applications. We demonstrate how the surface chemistry of the nanomaterials affects these interactions and how excellent performance is only achieved when the interactions are controlled. We furthermore introduce suitable methods for probing interactions with nanomaterials, describe their advantages and challenges, and



introduce some less commonly used methods and discuss their possible applications to gain a deeper understanding of the interfacial chemistry of biobased nanomaterials. Finally, some gaps in current understanding and interesting emerging research lines are identified.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2200
1.1. Sources for Biobased Nanomaterials	2201
1.2. The Plant Cell Wall	2201
1.3. Scope and Goals of the Review	2202
2. Intermolecular and Surface Interactions	2203
2.1. DLVO Forces	2203
2.2. Non-DLVO Forces	2204
3. Cellulose Nanomaterials	2205
3.1. Interaction of CNMs with Water and Ionic	
Solutes	2205
3.2. Interactions of CNMs with Nonpolar Sol-	
vents	2207
3.3. Interactions of CNMs with Polymers	2208
3.4. Interactions of CNMs with Proteins and	
Cells	2212
4. Lignin Nanoparticles	2212
4.1. Structural Factors Affecting LNP Properties	2213
4.2. Effect of Solvent Interactions on LNP	
Formation	2215
4.3. Interactions of LNPs with Aqueous Media	2218
4.4. Interactions of LNPs with Polymers	2219
4.5. Interactions of LNPs with Cells	2221
4.6. Lignin-Based Fibers	2224
5. Lignin Containing Cellulose Nanomaterials	2224
b. Techniques to Study Interactions	2228

7. Conclusions and Outlook	2228
Author Information	2229
Corresponding Author	2229
Authors	2229
Author Contributions	2229
Notes	2230
Biographies	2230
Acknowledgments	2230
Abbreviations	2230
References	2231

Article Recommendations

1. INTRODUCTION

Worldwide population growth, combined with widespread increases in energy and materials use, contributes significantly to global warming, pollution, and diminution of Earth's natural resources. To maintain the current standard of living while protecting the environment, there is a demand for a materials paradigm shift to a circular materials bioeconomy. This

Special Issue: Sustainable Materials

Received: July 12, 2022 Published: January 31, 2023



2200

includes more efficient recycling, upcycling and sustainable use of renewable resources. In the transition from fossil-based resources to renewables, biobased nanomaterials are pursued as one of the most promising alternatives to address these challenges. Cellulose nanomaterials (CNMs) are by far the most researched plant-based nanomaterial,¹⁻⁴ followed by lignin nanoparticles (LNPs).^{5,6} Other renewable nanomaterials include chitin and chitosan,⁷⁻⁹ starch,^{10,11} and hemicelluloses,¹²⁻¹⁴ but these have, to date, attracted less attention. Biobased nanomaterials combine the possibilities of nanotechnology with the typical advantages of renewables, like abundance, biodegradability, recyclability, biocompatibility, and low production costs. Harnessing their unique inherent properties, advanced materials that not only replace but outperform the current synthetic materials can be developed from biobased nanomaterials.

1.1. Sources for Biobased Nanomaterials

The main biopolymers in nature with the ability to form nanomaterials are polysaccharides, polyphenols, and proteins. Polyphenols are abundantly found in plants, while proteins are mainly synthesized by animals or bacteria. Polysaccharides are widely present in any living material. Wood and vascular plants contain the polysaccharides cellulose and hemicellulose, and lignin, a complex polyphenolic polymer. Wood and plant fibers have been used for centuries in materials like paper and textiles, and plant-based biorefineries have been optimized for high yields at low cost and minimal environmental burden. While there is still high demand for macroscopic pulp fibers for packaging and tissue, and polymeric cellulose for textiles and bioenergy, existing biorefineries are also excellent sources of biomass for CNM and lignin nanomaterial (LNM) production. A sustainably managed forest reduces soil degradation, acts as a carbon sink, has a positive impact on biodiversity, can create income, and provides food and recreation for people.^{15–17} At the same time, it is an abundant source of timber and fibers. Virgin wood fibers have been used extensively for CNM production with excellent results, but in the interest of efficient use of resources, other feedstocks should be considered. Agriculture waste residues are also common feedstocks for both CNMs and LNMs with the benefits of having more frequent harvests. Lignin is available as a side stream from the pulp and paper industry and biorefineries, but it is currently mainly burned for energy. Efficient utilization of the lignin in materials would boost the transition to more energy-efficient processes and greener energy sources, and lead to a positive carbon handprint by binding the carbon in products for a longer time.^{18,19}

CNMs can also be obtained from nonplant sources like algae, tunicates, and different bacteria species.^{20–22} In particular, bacterial cellulose has been intensively studied in the last two decades, with a special focus on biomedical applications.²³ Nevertheless, the isolation and preparation of nonplant CNMs still need optimization for large-scale production.

Sources for other natural nanomaterials include, for example, crustacean shell waste and fungi for extraction of chitin nanofibrils, or biotechnical means for the controlled preparation of silk nanofibrils.^{24,25} Their extraction is still more energy intensive (chitin nanofibrils from crustaceans) or available at a smaller scale (silk nanofibrils or chitin from fungi) than the plant-based nanomaterials.²⁶ Therefore, we are focused on

nanomaterials derived from plants, and hence the plant cell wall structure is reviewed next.

1.2. The Plant Cell Wall

Plant cell walls are complex, dynamic structures with multiple roles, including providing strength, expandability, modularity, and a barrier against pathogens.²⁷ In nature, elementary constituents range from oligosaccharides and polysaccharides to lignin and fibers found in biomass. Furthermore, they are multifunctional and stereoregular and show a wide variety of complex structures based on small chemical variations. Understanding both the hierarchical structures and function of these constituents in nature is important for the efficient design of functional biobased nanomaterials, hence these are briefly reviewed in this section.

Typically, the plant cell is constituted of primary and secondary cell walls, and the cells are bound together by the middle lamella. The cell wall consists of cellulose, hemicelluloses (xylan, glucuronoxylan, xyloglucan, arabinoxylan, mixed linkage glucan, or glucomannan), lignin, and pectic polysaccharides. The middle lamella is mainly made of lignin and pectin. The main polymer in the cell wall is cellulose. Cellulose is a polysaccharide consisting of chains of β -(1-4)linked-D-glucose repeating units. These chains assemble into bundles, called microfibrils, held together by hydrogen bonds and van der Waals (vdW) interactions.²⁸ The width of the microfibrils depends on their biological origin, ranging from approximately 3–4 nm for trees to 20 nm for algae. While the smallest fibrils were long thought to consist of 36 cellulose chains, molecular dynamics simulations recently suggest that the smallest microfibrils consist of only 18 cellulose chains.²⁹⁻³¹

The crystalline structure of the cellulose microfibrils is another aspect of the cell wall structure that recent advances in measurement methods have been able to shed light on. The measured crystallinity of native cellulose is usually in the range of 50-80%, which has led to the traditional assumption that the microfibril consists of crystalline domains interrupted by amorphous domains along the length of the fibril. However, recent neutron scattering studies have shown that these unordered domains are very short, only 1-2 nm, and should be called defects or disordered regions instead and the crystallinity is in fact much higher.³²

Aligned microfibrils form thin discrete layers with randomly changing fibril orientation when traversing through the primary cell wall. The microfibrils are surrounded by hemicelluloses. The hemicelluloses are branched polysaccharides with a backbone consisting of neutral sugar units, while the branches may be neutral or negatively charged. The hemicelluloses are bound to the cellulose fibrils via hydrogen bonds and vdW attraction. It has been suggested that the hemicelluloses facilitate cell wall expansion by preventing the close packing of cellulose fibrils and thus weakening the mechanical strength of the cell wall.²⁷ Measurements of the total sugar composition of cell walls from different tissue of *Arabidopsis thaliana* has revealed that not only the cell wall composition vary between different plants, but every tissue type has a different polysaccharide composition.³³

Polyphenolic lignin is found in the secondary cell wall and is essential for the structural integrity of the cell wall and the stiffness and strength of the stem and root. The monomeric precursors for lignin are *p*-coumaryl, coniferyl, and sinapyl alcohols. Polymeric lignin is composed of an integrated



Figure 1. Schematic of interaction energy—distance profiles between two negatively charged particles, focusing on the effect of the ionic strength on the DLVO interaction (solid curves). The interaction energy (and consequently the force) is zero when particles are far apart, but when they approach each other, the overlap of their EDLs generates a repulsion of osmotic nature (water flows in between the particles to dilute the accumulation of ions in the overlapped EDLs). At low salt concentrations, the EDL is thick, and the EDL repulsion starts at a larger separation between the particles (I). On the contrary, at high salt concentrations, the EDL is thinner, which allows particles to come closer to one other before the EDL repulsion arises (II). When the salt concentration is high enough, the attractive van der Waals forces can overcome the repulsive EDL force, which leads to particle aggregation.

network of aromatic units derived from the radical coupling of these monomers. The basic units are called *p*-hydroxyphenyl, guacil, and syringyl, denoted as H, G, and S, respectively. They differ in the level of methoxylation of the aromatic ring: H-lignin being non-methoxylated, G-lignin containing one methoxy group, and S-lignin having two methoxy groups.

Lignin typically comprises 20-30% of the lignocellulosic biomass, however, the exact structure of the complex polymer varies greatly depending on the botanic origin of the lignin and the isolation process. Hardwood lignins contain a similar amount of G- and S-lignins, while softwood lignins contain more G-units. Herbaceous lignins contain all three units. Biorefineries are optimized for high yield of the polysaccharides, which leads to severe changes in the lignin structure. For a detailed understanding of the chemical structure of technical lignins, the reader is referred to recent papers,³⁴⁻³⁷ here we give a very general overview.

To remove lignin from the biomass, the ester and ether bonds in native lignin are cleaved, breaking the lignin into smaller fragments of different chemical structures.³⁷ However, radical coupling can lead to the formation of new carbon– carbon bonds and condensation into less soluble lignin.³⁴ Some processes also introduce new functional groups, such as the introduction of sulfur during the Kraft or sulfite processes. In general, lignin degradation during various technical processing results in a decrease in aliphatic OH groups, β -O-4 linkages, and total oxygenated aliphatic moieties. In contrast, the amount of phenolic OH and saturated aliphatic moieties increase.³⁷ Due to these various reactions, technical lignins are complex mixtures of molecules with varying molecular weight and chemical structure, and detailed nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopic analysis has identified several hundreds of different signals.³⁷

1.3. Scope and Goals of the Review

There are numerous reviews on the production, properties, and applications of both $\rm CNMs^{2,38-40}$ and $\rm LNPs,^{5,6}$ hence these aspects are only briefly discussed here. In contrast, their interfacial interactions have surprisingly garnered less focus even though the properties of nanomaterials are governed by their surface properties. This review aims at describing the specific surface properties of plant-based nanomaterials and how the surface properties affect their interactions with solvents, polymers, proteins, and other compounds relevant to their performance in applications. Although our discussion is centered on CNMs and LNPs, some model thin films from regenerated cellulose or lignin are also mentioned to highlight how differences in surface chemistry and morphology affect the material properties and the interactions with other molecules. We expect that this information will enable efficient choice of the most suitable nanoparticles for specific applications and pave the way for the development of new innovative materials solutions. We furthermore hope that this review will elucidate the potential of surface-sensitive techniques for understanding the behavior of plant-based nanomaterials and inspire more scientists to explore these methods. We focus on the lignocellulosic nanomaterials, so other natural nanoparticles



Figure 2. (a) Thickness, optical thickness, and mass fractions of water in TEMPO–CNF thin films as a result of water vapor uptake as a function of relative humidity and schematic illustration of the water vapor uptake of TEMPO–CNF thin films at different humidity levels.⁸⁸ Reproduced with permission from ref 88. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society. (b) Adsorbed mass as a function of time for anionic (carboxymethyl cellulose, CMC), nonionic (xyloglucan, XG; guar gum galactomannan, GG), and cationic polysaccharides (chitosan, CHI) on CNF.⁸⁹ Reproduced from ref 89, used under open access from BioResources. (c) Change in dissipation as a function of normalized frequency shift during the adsorption of CMC on CNF model surfaces in aqueous CaCl₂ environments.⁹⁰ (d) Schematic of CMC adsorption in the presence of CaCl₂. (c,d) Reproduced with permission from ref 90 under Creative Commons CC-BY license. Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society.

will not be reviewed. Material applications of silk nanofibers is an emerging field that holds great future potential, and we refer the interested reader to some recent papers on the topic.^{41–44} Starch nanoparticles have attracted interest for their ability to encapsulate, protect, and orally deliver bioactive components because of their diverse functionality, high biocompatibility, and environmental friendliness.⁴⁵ Their production and application are reviewed in more detail by Qiu et al.⁴⁵ and Kim et al.⁴⁶ Chitin and chitosan nanoparticles have been actively explored in biomedical applications.^{47,48}

To facilitate a more thorough discussion on nanoparticle interactions, the basics of intermolecular and surface forces are recapped in section 2. In section 3, cellulose nanomaterials are discussed, first introducing the main points regarding their surface properties that will affect their interactions, then discussing their interactions in various media and finally with polymers, proteins, and cells. Section 4 is devoted to lignin nanomaterials. Because intermolecular interactions play a decisive role in the supramolecular assembly of LNPs, these are first discussed in detail before reviewing the interactions of LNPs with media and other substances. The combination of lignin and cellulose in nanomaterials is discussed in section 5. Our current understanding of the interfacial interactions of nanomaterials is based on the large variety of analysis methods that have been applied. In section 6, these methods are briefly described including their advantages, drawbacks, and especially what information they provide. In the final section, we discuss what main conclusions can be drawn based on the current literature and what are still open questions and possible emerging fields.

2. INTERMOLECULAR AND SURFACE INTERACTIONS

In this section, some common intermolecular and surface forces are briefly introduced. We focus on forces that are relevant for the systems discussed in this review, such as vdW, electrical double layer (EDL), and hydration forces, as well as interactions induced by adsorbed polymers. For a more comprehensive description, the reader is referred to the textbook by Israelachvili.⁴⁹

2.1. DLVO Forces

The colloidal stability of nanomaterials can be discussed in the framework of the classical DLVO theory,^{50,51} named after Derjaguin, Landau, Verwey, and Overbeek. This theory suggests that the interaction between two particles across a liquid at any distance equals the sum of the EDL force and the vdW interactions. The DLVO theory is often a good first estimate for interparticle forces at separations down to about 5 nm. A qualitative overview of the DLVO forces as a function of particle separation is shown in Figure 1.

The vdW forces originate from the correlation between permanent or induced electric dipoles of molecules approaching one another. The vdW interaction energy (W_{vdW}) between two molecules decays quickly with separation (eq 1).

$$W_{\rm vdW} = -\frac{\beta}{D^6} \tag{1}$$

where the molecular properties like dipole moments or polarizabilities are included in β , and D denotes the distance between the molecules. Because even nonpolar molecules can have induced dipole moments, we note that the vdW forces are present between all molecules and surfaces. The vdW interaction energy between particles or surfaces is the sum of the vdW interaction energies between all of their constituting molecules, and it depends on both the geometry and molecular properties of the system. The molecular properties are included in the Hamaker constant $A_{\rm H}$, which, according to the Lifshitz theory, can be connected to the dielectric permittivity ε and refractive index n of the interacting particles or surfaces and the medium in which they interact. Thus, the nonretarded $A_{\rm H}$ for particle 1 interacting with particle 3 across medium 2 can be expressed by eq 2:

$$A_{\rm H} \approx \frac{3}{4} kT \left(\frac{\varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_2}{\varepsilon_1 + \varepsilon_2} \right) \left(\frac{\varepsilon_3 - \varepsilon_2}{\varepsilon_3 + \varepsilon_2} \right) + \frac{3h\nu}{8\sqrt{2}} \\ \frac{(n_1^2 - n_2^2)(n_3^2 - n_2^2)}{\sqrt{(n_1^2 + n_2^2)} \sqrt{(n_3^2 + n_2^2)} \left[\sqrt{(n_1^2 + n_2^2)} + \sqrt{(n_3^2 + n_2^2)} \right]}$$
(2)

where k is the Boltzmann constant, T is the temperature, h is Planck's constant, and ν is UV absorption frequency. The expression for interaction energy W_{vdW} between a spherical particle of radius R and a flat surface, assuming that $D \ll R$, is given by eq 3:

$$W_{\rm vdw(sphere-plane)} = -\frac{A_{\rm H}R}{6D}$$
(3)

Considering that force *F* and interaction energy *W* are related by the equation $F = -\frac{dW}{dD}$, the corresponding van der Waals force is given by eq 4.

$$F_{\rm vdw(sphere-plane)} = -\frac{A_{\rm H}R}{6D^2} \tag{4}$$

The vdW interaction energy and forces between two spherical particles of radius R_1 and R_2 are given by eqs 5 and 6, respectively.

$$W_{\rm vdW(sphere-sphere)} = -\frac{A_{\rm H}}{6D} \left(\frac{R_{\rm I}R_{\rm 2}}{R_{\rm 1} + R_{\rm 2}} \right)$$
(5)

$$F_{\rm vdW(sphere-sphere)} = -\frac{A_{\rm H}}{6D^2} \left(\frac{R_1 R_2}{R_1 + R_2}\right) \tag{6}$$

From these equations, we note that the vdW forces decay much slower between particles than between molecules, affecting the overall interactions at separations up to a few nm. It can be seen in eqs 2–6 that the vdW interaction is always attractive ($W_{\rm vdW} < 0$; $F_{\rm vdW} < 0$) between particles of the same nature, it is stronger in the air or nonpolar media than in water, and it is strong for polar particles.

For charged particles or surfaces in aqueous media, we also have to take into account the contribution of the EDL force, which often dominates the interaction at long distances. The EDL force arises from the overlapping of the EDLs formed around the charged particles, and its magnitude depends on the charge of the particles (the higher the charge, the stronger the EDL repulsion), whereas the range of the repulsion or thickness of the EDL is described by the Debye length κ^{-1} , which correlates inversely with the ionic strength $I = (\sum_i c_{i0} z_i^2)/2$ of the aqueous medium as described by eq 7:

$$\kappa^{-1} = \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r kT}{2e^2 I N_{\rm A}}} \tag{7}$$

where c_{i0} is the concentration of ions *i* with valence z_i in the bulk, N_A is Avogadro's number, ε_0 is the dielectric constant of vacuum, ε_r is the relative permittivity of the medium, and *e* is the elementary charge. For particles with similar charge, the EDL force is repulsive, while oppositely charged particles have attractive EDL force.

Different mathematical expressions can be obtained for the EDL interaction energy and force depending on the conditions of the interaction. In the simplest case, the EDL repulsion decays exponentially with the separation between the particles (eqs 8 and 9):

$$W_{\rm EDL} = C e^{-\kappa D} \tag{8}$$

$$F_{\rm EDL} = \kappa C e^{-\kappa D} \tag{9}$$

where parameters like the surface potential and radius of the particles, the temperature, and the relative permittivity of the medium are included in factor C.

DLVO theory is often a good first approximation when predicting the stability of biobased nanoparticle dispersions, and a few main conclusions can be made already here, while specific cases are discussed in more detail below (see sections 3.1 and 4.3). A high charge of the particles results in strong EDL repulsion, whereas increasing the ionic strength in the medium leads to shorter κ^{-1} , that is, faster decay of the EDL repulsion. The screening of the EDL repulsion by increasing the ionic strength enables the particles to come close enough for the attractive vdW forces to dominate, leading to aggregation.

2.2. Non-DLVO Forces

Not all systems are well described by the DLVO theory. Hydrophilic surfaces may strongly bind water molecules, leading to a repulsion at short distances, compensating the attractive vdW interactions and enabling colloidal stability even in conditions where aggregation is expected. Hydration forces depend on the ionic species in the media, their concentration, as well as surface roughness.⁵² Usually it is monotonically repulsive, but oscillatory hydration forces are also possible.53-55 In the presence of polymers, both attractive and repulsive forces that cannot be described by DLVO theory may occur. Very common for plant-based nanomaterials is the presence of steric repulsion. This repulsion is generally present when surfaces are fully covered with polymers that have good solubility in the media and are hence adsorbed in an extended conformation, but it can also be due to the roughness of the model substrates used in the studies. When two such polymercoated surfaces approach, the polymers need to acquire a new, more collapsed, and energetically less favorable conformation, leading to repulsion. EDL repulsion sometimes enhances the steric repulsion, leading to a more long-ranged repulsion than for pure EDL. This force is often called *electrosteric repulsion*.

Hence the range of steric repulsion may vary between some subnanometers to hundreds of nanometers. If the adsorbed amount of polymer is low and the particles are not fully covered, bridging attraction may be observed. This occurs when a polymer chain adsorbed to one surface or particle is attracted to another particle. The bridging attraction can range to several nm. For a more thorough review on the interactions between surfaces covered with polymers or polyelectrolytes, the reader is referred to the report by Claesson et al.⁵⁶

The above-mentioned forces are important for colloidal stability in nanoparticle dispersions and adsorption of polymers and proteins because they range over several nm. Intermolecular forces like hydrogen bonds, $\pi - \pi$ interactions, Lewis acid/base interactions, and interactions between ions and dipoles play a role in the solubility of polymers and rigidity and mechanical properties of supramolecular assemblies like the CNF, LNPs, or mechanical properties of composites. However, one needs to keep in mind that the range of these interactions is less than 0.5 nm. Hence particles or molecules first need to come very close to one another before they become relevant.

3. CELLULOSE NANOMATERIALS

A nanomaterial is defined as a material with any external dimension in the nanoscale (between 1 and 100 nm) or having internal or surface structure in the nanoscale.⁵⁷ Nanocellulose is the general term for cellulosic nanomaterials (CNMs), which include cellulose nanocrystals (CNCs), cellulose nanofibrils (CNFs), and bacterial cellulose or bacterial nanocellulose (BNC). CNCs are sometimes also called cellulose whiskers or nanocrystalline cellulose, while especially in older literature, microfibrillar cellulose or nanofibrillar/nanofibrillated cellulose are used as synonyms for CNF. In 2011, standard nomenclature for CNMs was suggested, and now the generally used abbreviations are CNC and CNF.⁵⁸ The morphology and surface properties of these depend on the cellulosic feedstock and production method. A wide range of methods can be combined for a thorough characterization of CNMs, these include electron microscopy and atomic force microscopy (AFM) to determine size and morphology, X-ray diffraction methods for degree of crystallinity, conductometric titration for surface charge, zeta potential measurements, and dynamic light scattering for colloidal stability, among others. Rheology measurements give information on viscoelasticity of hydrogels, and spectroscopy can be used to determine chemical composition, including surface sensitive X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy and Fourier transform infrared and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy for bulk analysis. In this review, we focus on methods used to study interactions of CNMs, including quartz crystal microbalance with dissipation monitoring (QCM-D), surface plasmon resonance (SPR), atomic force microscopy (AFM) force spectroscopy, and calorimetry.

CNCs are mostly produced via acid hydrolysis using sulfuric acid or selective oxidation of the cellulose primary hydroxyl groups using 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl (TEMPO) mediated oxidation, leading to highly crystalline whiskers with either sulfate ester groups $(-OSO_3^-)$ or carboxylic groups $(-COO^-)$ at the surface, respectively. The sulfate ester group is a strong acid, hence CNCs produced via sulfuric acid treatment are negatively charged irrespective of the pH. Sulfate content ranging from 200 to 330 mmol/kg of CNCs and zeta potentials from -35 to -45 mV have typically been reported.^{59,60} The carboxylic groups, on the other hand, are

weak acids and protonated at low pH and deprotonated at higher pH, making the charge of TEMPO CNCs pHdependent. The pK_a value of acetic acid is 4.7, but because dissociation of charged groups is impeded by other charged groups in the vicinity, the effective pK_a for the carboxylic groups on CNCs is slightly higher. Degrees of oxidation up to 0.1 have been reported.⁶¹ The CNCs can be produced via hydrolysis using hydrochloric acid, but these CNCs are, in practice, uncharged and hence have very low colloidal stability.⁶² Cationic CNCs can be produced by reacting the sulfate ester containing CNCs with 2,3-epoxypropyl trimethylammonium chloride (EPTMAC) resulting in a zeta potential of +30 mV. Recently an alternative method using reactive eutectic media to produce cationic CNCs was introduced.⁶³ For a more thorough assessment of CNC production, chemistry, and applications, the reader is referred to a comprehensive review by Habibi et al.²

CNFs are produced by mechanical disintegration of cellulose pulp, sometimes aided with enzymes. Using bleached pulp as a starting material results in fibrils with a low negative charge, consisting of cellulose and hemicelluloses, with zeta potential around -3 mV at pH 8. The hemicellulose content on the fibril surface is very difficult to experimentally determine but may still affect the interactions, for example, by introducing some charged groups and by adding amorphous structures on the CNF surface. The pulp can also be chemically modified prior to disintegration to introduce a higher charge and facilitate fibrillation using less energy. The two most common approaches are TEMPO-mediated fibrillation and carboxymethylation, which both introduce anionic groups to the fibrils.^{64,65} Cationic CNF can be produced via reacting the pulp with EPTMAC or periodate and Girard's reagent T prior to disintegration.^{66,67} The sign and magnitude of the surface charge affect the interaction of CNF in applications, hence these factors are important to consider. Charge densities of 0.5 and 0.9 mequiv/g have been reported for carboxymethylated and TEMPO-oxidized pulp used for the production of highly anionic CNF.^{65,68} This resulted in a zeta potential at pH 8 of -39 mV for 0.9 mequiv/g charged TEMPO-oxidized pulp. Just as for CNCs with COOH groups, the charge is pH-dependent for these CNFs.

The surfaces of CNMs provide hydroxyl groups, and for the more anionic variants, also carboxylic groups that are accessible for chemical modification. To combine the advantages of CNMs with the controllability of synthetic chemistry, extensive research has been devoted to tailoring the CNMs for various applications via chemical modification. The challenges concerning accessible surface area, if the colloidal stability is not considered during modification, are discussed in sections 3.1 and 3.2, but for a more comprehensive review of the available types of modified CNMs, we refer the reader to recent reviews.^{38,69} In the future, green chemistry concepts like chemoenzymatic surface modification⁷⁰ need to be considered. The toxicity and degradability of CNMs are affected by chemical modification,^{70,71} and we envision that this will lead to an increased focus on alternative and milder approaches to the tailoring of the surface chemistry of CNMs. One approach in this direction is the use of lignin-containing nanocellulosic materials which are briefly reviewed in section 5.

3.1. Interaction of CNMs with Water and Ionic Solutes

Water interacts with cellulose both at molecular and supramolecular scales, and such water-cellulose interactions

are commonly present in Nature (e.g., in wood). Understanding and tailoring those interactions can lead to new, advanced applications of cellulose-based materials.⁷² Fundamental studies on CNM dispersions using calorimetry, rheology and scattering techniques, and on CNM thin films using surface-sensitive methods like QCM-D, SPR, and AFM with modeling tools, have increased our understanding of how CNMs interact with water and are affected by ionic strength and pH. The main findings from these studies and their implications on applications are addressed here.

Cellulose can form hydrogen bonds with water molecules through the abundant hydroxyl groups present in the cellulose molecular structure. Due to their larger surface area, there are considerably more accessible hydroxyl groups on the surface of CNFs than on macroscopic fibers, which explains the larger hydration state of cellulose at the nanoscale. Nevertheless, water does not dissolve cellulose. The formation of multiple intra- and intermolecular hydrogen bonds favors the formation of well-packed crystalline assemblies of the cellulose molecules within the nanofibrils that do not dissolve in water. Hydrophobic interactions, due to the amphiphilic nature of cellulose, also contribute to its insolubility in water.^{73,74} Furthermore, it is estimated that the dissolution of cellulose nanofibrils in water is not entropically favorable. This is because the partial increase in the mobility of the cellulose molecules upon dissolution is overcome by a decrease in the configurational freedom of a larger number of water molecules that are hydrogen-bonded to the cellulose molecules.^{73,}

Although insoluble in water, cellulose nanomaterials swell in the presence of water. Water molecules cannot penetrate the crystalline nanocellulose assemblies, but they can access the less ordered amorphous regions and the space between nanocellulose building blocks in 2D and 3D networks. QCM-D experiments have revealed that the swelling of cellulosic thin films is both governed by the degree of crystallinity of the cellulose materials and by the morphology and porosity of the films. Thus, comparing cellulose films with different crystallinity, Aulin et al. observed significant swelling of CNC films.⁷⁶ Because the tightly packed CNCs are not expected to swell, the observed swelling can be explained by the adsorption and accumulation of water molecules on the surface and in the spaces between the nanocrystals, further increasing the separation between them. In the same line, water vapor adsorption experiments carried out by Tammelin et al., also using the QCM-D technique, showed that a cellulose film with a degree of crystallinity of about 60% swelled more than a chemically identical but highly amorphous film when the relative humidity was 97%.⁷⁷ The reason for this at-first-unexpected result is the nanoscale porosity and, consequently, the larger surface area and higher number of hydroxyl groups accessible for water molecules in the more crystalline film. The importance of the film structure for water adsorption was also pointed out by Reishofer et al., who observed that both the preparation method and the applied treatment (e.g., drying at elevated temperature) affected the water uptake of highly amorphous cellulose thin films, especially at high relative humidities.⁷⁸ Similarly Niinivaara et al. observed that the ratio between crystalline and amorphous regions was not the only factor determining the swelling of 2D films where CNC and amorphous cellulose were combined to mimic plant cell walls.⁷⁹ In this system, the total interfacial area between CNC and amorphous cellulose was also suggested to play a role in swelling.

EDL forces also govern the swelling behavior of films and hydrogels made of charged CNMs. Hence charge density of the CNMs, ionic strength, and polarity of the media will play a decisive role in the behavior of CNMs in aqueous media, as has been shown in early studies. Ahola et al. studied the effect of the surface charge on swelling and interactions of CNF model films using QCM-D and AFM measurements.⁸⁰ They observed a larger swelling in the water of the highly charged (carboxymethylated) CNF compared to the low charged (noncarboxymethylated) counterpart. The repulsion between charged nanofibrils and osmotic effects (Donnan equilibrium) can explain the larger swelling of highly charged CNF. Increasing the salt concentration decreased the swelling of the films because the higher number of ions in the medium screened the repulsion between charged groups and reduced the osmotic pressure difference between the inside and outside of the film. In addition, an increase in film swelling was also observed, more remarkable in the case of carboxymethylated CNF, when increasing the pH from 3.5 to 10, in line with an increase in surface charged groups due to the deprotonation of carboxyl groups. The film swelling detected by QCM-D correlated with the surface forces measured between a cellulose microsphere and the CNF model films using the AFM colloidal probe technique. The observed repulsive forces were of longer range for highly charged CNF, and they changed with the salt concentration and the pH, in agreement with the swelling state of the film. The repulsive force was of longer range than expected for pure EDL repulsion, and it was assumed that steric repulsion between the swollen layers was also present.

pubs.acs.org/CR

Interesting effects of ionic solutes on CNF hydrogels and adsorption of negatively charged polymers onto cellulosic substrates have recently led to a renewed interest in the interactions between ions and cellulose, suggesting that DLVO theory is not enough to describe their behavior. Arola et al. used a combination of small deformation oscillatory rheology and molecular modeling to gain an understanding of the effect of salt on rheological properties of CNF hydrogels.⁸¹ They found that already at ion concentrations of 1 mM, various monovalent sodium salts caused crowding of hydrogels and subsequently argue that screening of the EDL repulsion could not explain this phenomenon. Instead, they suggest that the water molecules become more ordered, leading to a stronger hydration layer. This correlates with the results by Ahola et al., who found no deswelling of low-charged native CNF films at 1 mM NaCl and no change in the repulsive force upon approach. However, higher concentrations (10 or 100 mM) of electrolyte resulted in slight deswelling of CNF films, and the waterbinding was pH-sensitive, suggesting that, even for very low charged CNF, electrostatics also play a role although the effects were much more pronounced for highly charged CNF.⁸⁰

Divalent cations, especially Ca^{2+} , are known to be able to form ionic cross-links between carboxylate groups and hence stabilize hydrogels made from either TEMPO-oxidized cellulose nanofibers (TOCNF) or a mixture of alginate and CNF.⁸² Recently, Ju et al.⁸³ investigated the coordination complexes between various metal ions and carboxylated CNF and showed that the cross-linking density increases in the order $Zn^{2+} < Ca^{2+} < Cu^{2+} < Al^{3+}$. The interaction between metal ions and CNF was visualized by a shift of the Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) peaks to higher wave numbers for bands associated with the carboxylate group. Ca^{2+} ions are also efficient coagulants for filaments prepared via wet spinning of TOCNF.⁸⁴

Lombardo et al.⁸⁵ used isothermal titration calorimetry to reveal the interactions between divalent cations and CNCs. They showed that the interaction was endothermic and driven by the increase in entropy upon adsorption of ions due to an increase in the degree of freedom for released water molecules. This entropy gain compensated for the unfavorable endothermic enthalpy. A comparison of CNCs with sulfate or carboxylate groups showed that the nature of the ionizable group on the CNC affected the pH dependence of the interactions. The adsorption of cations to CNCs with carboxylic groups was clearly pH-dependent, showing that carboxylic groups needed to be deprotonated, while sulfate groups were less sensitive to the pH. They concluded that the adsorption of ions of the same net charge followed the same mechanism.

As already mentioned, the abundant hydroxyl groups on cellulose surfaces are responsible for the adsorption of water molecules. CNMs are especially hygroscopic due to their larger surface area. Combining QCM-D and spectroscopic ellipsometry in a water vapor adsorption study, Niinivaara et al. concluded that a 1 nm thick layer of water molecules was strongly adsorbed on the surface of the individual CNCs in the film,⁸⁶ in excellent agreement with the results from Reid et al. on the swelling of CNCs studied by SPR.⁸⁷ In a similar work, Hakalahti et al. distinguished between three different stages for the adsorption of water vapor on TEMPO-CNF at different relative humidity (RH) values that were well fitted with a Langmuir/Flory-Huggins clustering model. These three stages were the specific adsorption of water molecules at low RH (below 10%), a buildup of water multilayer at intermediate RH (10-75%), and clustering of water molecules at high RH (above 75%) (Figure 2a).⁸⁸

The water molecules strongly bound to cellulose surfaces have different properties from the bulk water. They cannot freeze due to conformational restrictions; thus this is called *nonfreezing water*. In contrast, the term *freezing water* is used to describe the weakly bound water molecules confined in the pores of nanocellulose networks, with a shifted temperature for solid–liquid transition compared to bulk water. Different experimental techniques (nuclear magnetic resonance or NMR, neutron scattering, differential scanning calorimetry or DSC) and molecular dynamics simulations have confirmed the presence of freezing and nonfreezing water in cellulose fibrillar materials.^{91–96} The properties of these confined water species have been exploited in DSC-based thermoporometry to quantify the porosity of cellulose materials.^{91,94,95}

The hygroscopicity of cellulose has very often been seen as a negative property because the integrity and mechanical properties of cellulosic materials (paper, cardboard, composites, etc.) are usually dramatically decreased in the presence of water. To prevent the adsorption of water and degradation of mechanical properties in wet or humid conditions, different approaches have been applied for the hydrophobization of cellulose surfaces to expand the utilization of cellulose to, for example, barrier and packaging materials. Those approaches involve changes in surface chemistry of CNF via the adsorption or covalent attachment of hydrophobic molecules,⁹⁷ nevertheless, hydrophobized CNFs do not form strong films or nanopapers because the amount of interfibrillar hydrogen bonds responsible for the strength of cellulose networks is severely decreased. A cleverer approach to avoid altering the

mechanical properties of the final product is to form the cellulose network first and then hydrophobize its exposed surfaces via vapor deposition, covalent attachment, or simply adsorption of hydrophobic molecules, polymers or nano-particles, which could be combined with treatments to enhance the roughness of the material at nano- and microscale.^{98–101} Similarly, it has been shown that CNCs with an increasing lignin content does not result in barrier materials with low water vapor transmission rates because the presence of the hydrophobic lignin makes the materials more porous.¹⁰² Nevertheless, it has also been shown that the strength of cellulose fibers and nanocellulose films is increased to some extent by humidity.^{103–106} Surface-bound water can increase strength by mediating hydrogen bonds between hydrophilic structures that would otherwise be too far away from each

structures that would otherwise be too far away from each other to form hydrogen bonds. This ultimately increases the hydrophilic structures' reach to interact with one other and therefore increases the number of hydrogen bonds.^{105–107} Bound water can also act as a plasticizer and allows both sliding, and more importantly, restabilization after deformation.¹⁰⁷ Such properties are key to enabling plastic deformation.

Adsorbed water on cellulose materials has also been considered an obstacle to the chemical modification of cellulose surfaces. Water can hinder some chemical reactions by competing with the hydroxyl groups of cellulose for the reagents. However, it has been recently proven that confined water in the nanopores between cellulose fibers can enhance the acetylation of cellulose surfaces.¹⁰⁸ Thus, the natural hygroscopicity of cellulose should not always be seen as a negative property. In this line, there are several attempts to exploit the cellulose-water interactions in advanced materials. Examples include cellulose-based humidity sensors and cellulose materials and composites with stimuli-responsive, shape-memory, self-healing, and adhesive properties.^{38,109} Cellulose-water interactions are also very important in hydrogels used, for instance, in biomedical applications. These are discussed more thoroughly in section 3.4.

Recently Leppänen et al.⁷² demonstrated the advantage of the hygroscopicity of nanocellulose networks for the entrapment of nanoscaled plastic particles from aqueous dispersions. Interestingly the binding of the plastic nanoparticles was not dependent on any specific chemical interaction. Instead, they showed, with a combination of surface-sensitive methods, nanomicroscopy, and modeling, that the governing factors were the high active surface area and high hygroscopicity of the nanocellulose films, the latter inducing strong capillary flow.

Clearly, the interaction of CNMs with water and ionic solutes is relevant in many practical applications and, consequently, significant efforts have been made to understand these. However, less attention has been given to interactions with other media addressed in section 3.2.

3.2. Interactions of CNMs with Nonpolar Solvents

In the previous section, we learned how cellulose interacts strongly with water and the implications it has on CNM performance in applications. For the same reasons, that is, the high abundance of hydroxyl groups at the surface of CNFs and CNCs, they are poorly dispersible in nonpolar media. Hence chemical functionalization of CNF or CNCs in nonpolar organic solvents like toluene has been challenging, and so reactions that can be performed in aqueous media have been the preferred choice. The reason is that, due to the poor compatibility with nonpolar solvents, the CNMs tend to aggregate and lose their nanostructure. Johansson et al. demonstrated that silylation of CNF in an amphiphilic solvent, dimethylacetamide, resulted in a surface substitution of 0.9 in comparison to only 0.03 in toluene, confirming this hypothesis. For a more comprehensive review on CNF surface modifications, the reader is referred to Missoum, Belgacem, and Bras.¹¹⁰ Here we discuss the topic mainly from the point of view of interactions between CNMs and the media.

In one of the seminal papers on cellulose nanopapers, Henriksson et al.¹¹¹ noted that the solvent affected density and porosity of the nanopapers and consequently their strength. The densest and strongest nanopapers were formed from aqueous CNF dispersions, while less polar solvents like methanol, ethanol, and acetone resulted in more porous and slightly weaker films. This phenomenon was explained to be caused by the weakening of interfibril bonds due to reduced hydrogen bonding density when films were prepared from less polar liquids. This observation is in line with the hypothesis of Johansson et al. of the tendency of amphiphilic cellulose to adapt its conformation to the media.⁷⁵

Tuning the interaction with the media is important in many applications, and the ability of some solvents to deswell CNF hydrogels has been applied both in nanocomposite preparation and wet spinning of cellulose filaments.^{84,112} Capadona et al.¹¹² slowly exchanged water with acetone in a CNC dispersion. This led to densification of the CNC network and gelling. When a polymer solution was subsequently added, and the nanocomposite was dried, surprisingly good mechanical properties were achieved due to an even distribution of the CNC throughout the polymer matrix using this sol-gel approach. While even distribution of the components in composites is a prerequisite to achieve adequate mechanical properties, favorable interactions between fibrils and matrix polymer are needed to gain full advantage of the unique properties of CNF or CNCs. This is discussed further in section 3.3.

Unfortunately, there are very few studies on how CNMs interact with solvents. One positive exception is the work by Wang et al.,⁸⁴ in which they investigated the influence of different coagulation agents (organic solvents and aqueous electrolytes) on the spinnability of TOCNF suspensions using QCM-D. They observed a significant increase in the resonance frequency (Δf) and a decrease in dissipation factor (ΔD) upon introducing ethanol to the water-swollen TOCNF film. This response can be either due to the exchange of water with less dense ethanol or due to deswelling because of poorer interaction between cellulose and ethanol. Most probably, the observed response was due to both effects. More efforts should be put into exploring CNM interactions with otherthan-aqueous media using surface-sensitive techniques. However, QCM-D is very sensitive to the density and viscoelastic properties of the solvents, hence care should be taken to also record the bulk effects using pure gold crystals, for example, before coating with CNMs to enable decoupling between bulk solvent effects and interactions between solvent and cellulose.

3.3. Interactions of CNMs with Polymers

A huge effort is being made in the development of cellulosebased materials to replace synthetic, oil-based products in a wide range of applications, including textiles, packaging, and barrier materials. In many of those cases, CNMs are combined with different polymers with the aim of obtaining composites with superior properties. In this research area, a fundamental understanding of the affinity and surface forces between polymers and cellulose is crucial for the successful design of cellulose composites with tailored properties. Deep comprehension of polymer–cellulose interactions at the molecular level is also very important for the traditional paper industry, where cationic polyelectrolytes are commonly used to flocculate cellulose fines and particle fillers. The success of current trends in replacing oil-derived additives with biopolymers in paper manufacturing and coating will benefit from a thorough understanding of the cellulose–biopolymer interactions.^{113,114}

CNMs are commonly used as reinforcing components in polymer composites. However, blending hydrophobic polymers with cellulose nanomaterials is tricky because the abundant hydroxyl groups on the cellulose surfaces lead to poor polymer–cellulose compatibility. To enhance the affinity of hydrophobic polymers for cellulose nanomaterials, different strategies have been applied involving chemical modification of cellulose surfaces or covalent attachment of polymers.¹¹⁵ Nevertheless approaches avoiding hydrophobization of cellulose surfaces or covalent binding of polymers are often preferred for greener and more sustainable solutions. In this context, the utilization of natural polysaccharides or cellulose derivatives in cellulose-based composites has attracted considerable interest.

Nonionic cellulose derivatives have been observed to adsorb on cellulose substrates to a different extent, which may have interesting applications in textiles.^{116,117} Nevertheless they are not the only nonionic polymers investigated in relation to cellulose materials. Inspired by the close association between hemicellulose polysaccharides and cellulose fibers in the plant cell walls, several studies have been carried out to better understand hemicellulose–cellulose interactions for the development of natural composites.

QCM-D and SPR analyses have shown that nonionic polysaccharides of the hemicellulose family, xyloglucan (XG), galactoglucomannan (GGM), arabinoxylans, and galactomannans, adsorb well and irreversibly on CNF films (Figure 2b).^{89,118–120} The adsorption of XG and other nonionic polysaccharides on CNC has also been reported.^{121,122} The amount and conformation of the polysaccharide in the adsorbed layers do not depend only on the polysaccharide molecular weight¹²³⁻¹²⁶ but also on their concentration and molecular structure.^{89,118,122} Thus, Villares et al.¹²² observed that the amount of adsorbed XG on CNC increased with the XG concentration in solution, indicating that the lateral rearrangement of adsorbed XG molecules to a flat conformation in diluted solutions was prevented when more XG molecules competed for adsorption in more concentrated solutions. Consequently more crowded adsorbed layers with loops and tails exposed to the solution were expected in the latter case.¹²² Furthermore, Eronen et al. observed that the adsorption of galactomannans on CNF decreased when the number of galactose side groups increased, showing that the molecular structure of the polysaccharide affected the adsorption more than the molecular weight.¹¹⁸ The reason for that could be a more coiled conformation of the polysaccharides with fewer amounts of galactose side groups, which eventually resulted in a larger number of GGM molecules adsorbed per unit of area. Chemical modifications of the polysaccharides can also affect their affinity for cellulose. Thus, enzymatically oxidized guar gum galactomannan (GG)



Figure 3. Adsorption of PDADMAC, CMC, and XG on CNF. (a) Change in frequency (Δf) from QCM-D experiments, and (b) adsorbed mass (Δm) from SPR experiments.¹³³ Adapted from ref 133. Used under open access from BioResources.

was observed to adsorb quickly on CNF films, but the adsorption rate decreased when polyethylene glycol (PEG) chains were covalently grafted to the GG molecule,¹¹⁹ probably due to some steric hindrance associated with the PEG chains. On the other hand, the addition of different, short hydrophobic tails did not hinder the adsorption of GGM on CNF,¹²⁷ while the oxidation of GGM by TEMPO decreased significantly its affinity for cellulose.¹²⁸ The latter could be explained by electrostatic repulsions between CNF and the carboxyl groups introduced in GGM during TEMPO oxidation, as confirmed by the fact that GGM with a high degree of oxidation did not adsorb on CNF in water but adsorbed to some extent when the electrostatic repulsions were screened in the presence of 0.1 M NaCl.

The adsorption of nonionic polymers to cellulose has commonly been ascribed to hydrogen bonds and vdW forces. However, several authors have argued that the adsorption of nonionic polymers like XG is in fact entropically driven by the release of structured water around the polymer and the cellulose surface. Hydrogen bonds can be formed after the polymer is adsorbed, but their contribution to the adsorption process is negligible.¹²⁹⁻¹³² The driving force for the adsorption of anionic polymers is also expected to be entropically driven due to the release of water and counterions, but in this case, the polymer charge also plays an important role. Thus, anionic polysaccharides like xylan (hemicellulose) and carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC) have been observed to adsorb on CNF to a lesser extent and form more swollen (hydrated) layers than nonionic polysaccharides (Figure 3a).¹¹⁸ In line with the assumption that the electrostatic repulsions with the negatively charged cellulose substrates can prevent or weaken the adsorption of highly charged anionic polymers, CMC was observed to adsorb irreversibly to CNF at pH 4.5,¹¹⁸ but it desorbed upon rinsing at pH 8 when all of its carboxyl groups were deprotonated.¹³³ The swelling of the adsorbed polymer layer also depends on the polymer charge. Anionic polymers swell to a larger extent than nonionic ones because of the electrostatic repulsion between polymer charged groups and the osmotic pressure associated with the accumulation of counterions around the charged polymers. Therefore, in contrast to nonionic polymers, factors like the pH or the ionic strength have a very pronounced effect on the adsorption and the swelling of ionic polymers. An interesting case is the effect of divalent cations on the adsorption of CMC on cellulose substrates. Ca²⁺ ions have been observed to affect

CMC structure in solution and favor the CMC adsorption on cellulose more than Mg^{2+} ions (Figure 2c,d), which was ascribed to the different polarity of those ions.^{90,134}

Although also affected by the pH and the ionic strength, the adsorption of cationic polymers on cellulose surfaces is driven by attractive electrostatic interactions between oppositely charged groups and, especially, the remarkable gain in entropy associated with the release of bound counterions.¹³⁵ The adsorption of cationic polymers like poly-(diallyldimethylammonium chloride) (PDADMAC) and chitosan on CNF has been monitored in real-time by QCM-D and SPR.^{118,133} At low pH and ionic strength, chitosan has been observed to adsorb on CNF in lower amounts than nonionic polysaccharides, suggesting a flat conformation for the adsorbed chitosan molecules. 118 Adsorption in flat conformation is generally expected in conditions where the electrostatic attraction between polymer and cellulose is enhanced, that is, at low ionic strength and pH values where the involved groups, both on the cellulose surface and in the polymer, are charged. Furthermore, a collapse of CNF films by the release of trapped water is often observed upon adsorption of cationic polymers, which is observed as an increase in frequency in QCM-D (Figure 3).^{133,136} Dehydration of cellulose surfaces and screening of electrostatic repulsion between charged cellulose fibrils could explain the collapse of CNF films induced by cationic polymers.

The preparation and the final macroscopic properties of composites and hydrogels are intimately connected to the surface forces between the constituting materials at micro- and nanoscales. Due to the large area-to-volume ratio of CNF and CNC, surface forces play a very important role in the formation and behavior of composites and hydrogels that include those CNMs. The surface forces govern the colloidal stability of CNM suspensions and, consequently, affect their rheological behavior. Thus, rheological measurements can provide indirect information on the stability or aggregated state of CNM suspensions and how factors like the CNM concentration, the ionic strength, or the presence of other polymers affect the interactions.^{137,138} Nevertheless the direct quantification of surface forces has only been possible thanks to very sensitive instruments like the surface force apparatus (SFA) and AFM.^{139,140} The SFA and the AFM, especially in combination with the colloidal probe technique,¹⁴¹ have tremendously advanced our understanding of the surface forces in lignocellulosic systems.¹⁴² Thus, it has been observed

that the interaction forces measured when approaching different cellulose model surfaces are generally well described by the DLVO theory at long separations, whereas a steric repulsion usually appears at short distances when the cellulose surfaces come into contact.¹⁴³ The intensity and range of the repulsive double-layer forces increase with the cellulose surface charge, and they decrease when increasing the ionic strength, as the DLVO theory predicts.^{133,144} Attractive vdW forces between cellulose surfaces have been detected in conditions where the double-layer repulsion was negligible.^{144,145}

The adsorption of polymers affects the surface forces between cellulose substrates. In fact, very different interaction forces can arise depending on the amount and conformation of the adsorbed polymer. DLVO forces are typically observed when a cationic polymer adsorbs in flat conformation on cellulose surfaces, with the double layer repulsions modulated by the extent of surface charge neutralization or reversal caused by the adsorbed polymer. This behavior is typically the case of highly charged, cationic polyelectrolytes like PDADMAC, polyvinylamine (PVAm), and PVAm derivatives.¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁸ On the other hand, nonionic polysaccharides, anionic polymers like xylan and CMC, and cationic polyelectrolytes with low charge density and high molecular weight like cationic polyacrylamide (C-PAM) usually adsorb on cellulose surfaces in an extended conformation with loops and tails. This extended conformation results in long-range steric repulsions when the polymer molecules adsorbed on two approaching surfaces overlap and compress each other.¹⁴⁹ The intensity and range of the electrosteric repulsion are directly related to the swelling of the adsorbed polymer layer. The larger the swelling of the adsorbed layer, the longer the range and stronger the intensity of the electrosteric repulsion are. 119,146,150-153 Because the pH, the ionic strength, and the polymer concentration affect the swelling of adsorbed charged polymers, the electrosteric repulsion can be modulated by changing those magnitudes.

Cationic polymers are typically used to increase paper strength and as retention aids to flocculate cellulose fines and mineral filler particles with cellulose fibers in papermaking. Several works have been devoted to the analysis of the forces between cellulose surfaces in the presence of different cationic polymers to shed light on the mechanisms underlying papermaking processes.^{146–148,153–155} In addition to the forces observed on approach discussed previously in this section, the adhesion measured when retracting the surfaces is especially relevant in this case. Both concentration and conformation of the adsorbed polymer have important impacts on the adhesion between cellulose surfaces and between cellulose and mineral surfaces like mica, silica, or glass used as models for filler particles. The partial coating of the surfaces at low polymer concentrations gives rise to adhesion by charge neutralization or polymer bridging. Polymer bridging is enhanced in the case of polymers with high molecular weight adsorbed in an extended conformation. However, increasing the polymer concentration results in strong electrosteric repulsions and no adhesion between fully coated surfaces, confirming that polymer overdosage should be avoided for effective polymerinduced flocculation.^{146,153,154} Polyelectrolyte complexes formed by the combination of cationic and anionic polymers have been observed to enhance the adhesion between cellulose surfaces, in line with empirical observations in the paper industry.¹⁵⁶ The combination of colloidal assemblies of a cationic block copolymer with carboxymethylated CNF has

Review

Friction forces at micro- and nanoscales also play a very important role in material properties. The mechanical performance of CNF-based materials, for instance, is highly dependent on the friction between cellulose fibrils. Quantitative measurements of friction forces using an AFM and the colloidal probe technique have revealed that, in general, the adsorption of polymers reduced the friction between cellulose surfaces. A correlation between surface forces, adhesion, and friction can be established. Low friction forces have been measured between surfaces with strong repulsion and weak (or lack of) adhesion. Thus, swollen, hydrated polymer layers adsorbed in an extended conformation enhance the lubrication between cellulose surfaces. Remarkably low friction coefficients have been obtained with highly charged anionic polymers like CMC, CMC with grafted PEG (CMC-PEG), and hyaluronic acid at pH and ionic strengths where the adsorbed polymer layers are charged and very swollen, which is associated with strong electrosteric repulsions and no adhesion between the surfaces.^{151,158,159} Additionally, CMC-PEG was shown to reduce the adhesion and friction between cellulose surfaces in dry conditions.¹⁶⁰ The cationic polymer chitosan has also been observed to reduce considerably the friction between cellulose surfaces at pH 3 when the repulsion induced by the fully charged polymer is stronger (Figure 4).¹⁵⁰ Thus, charged polymers can be utilized to prepare highly lubricating cellulose materials that could be used, for instance, as implants to replace damaged cartilage.^{158,159}



Figure 4. Friction measurements between (a) two neat cellulose spheres (closed squares) and (b) after adsorption of chitosan for 8 h (open squares). Measurements were conducted in aqueous solutions at pH 3. Inset: corresponding normal approach force profiles on a linear scale.¹⁵⁰ Reproduced with permission from ref 150. Copyright 2009 American Chemical Society.

Nonionic polysaccharides like XG, GGM, or modified GG can also reduce the friction between cellulose surfaces, but to a lower extent than highly charged polymers.^{119,149,161} Nevertheless, the moderate lubrication combined with certain adhesion provided by these polymers has been observed to be beneficial for the mechanical properties of CNF-based



Figure 5. (a) Schematic of interactions between biomaterial-coated probes and living cells: a typical probe with a tip (left) and a colloidal probe (right). (b) Representative retraction curves on HepG2 cells.²⁰⁰ Reproduced from ref 200, under Creative Commons CC-BY license. Single-molecule force spectroscopy (SMFS) histograms representing (c) the binding interaction force and (d) contour length between cellulose binding protein module CBM1 and CNCs from sulfuric acid hydrolysis. (e) Schematic of the SMFS experiment for the system studied.²⁰² Reproduced from ref 202, under Creative Commons CC-BY license. Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society.

composites. The interfibrillar lubrication favors the homogeneous distribution of CNF during composite formation (preventing CNF aggregates or clusters that are detrimental to the composite strength), whereas the adhesion helps to keep the fibrils together, contributing to material integrity. Thus, the addition of only 2 wt % on nonionic (XG, GGM, or modified GG) or anionic (CMC) polymers have been seen to significantly improve the tensile strength and toughness of CNF films in dry conditions, in agreement with a more even distribution of CNF in the film aided by polymer lubrication.^{119,162,163} However, very different trends have been observed in wet conditions. The high lubrication and null adhesion between cellulose fibrils induced by CMC adsorption resulted in very poor mechanical integrity of CNF-CMC films in aqueous media.¹⁶² On the contrary, XG, GGM, and chemically or enzymatically modified GG improved the mechanical properties of CNF films in wet conditions. The highest tensile strength and toughness values were obtained for CNF-GGM films, indicating that the lower the water content of the adsorbed polymer layer, the better the mechanical properties in aqueous media.¹¹⁹

The formation of multilayers through the sequential adsorption of oppositely charged polymers or nanoparticles (layer-by-layer deposition) is a useful approach for controlled surface modification. This approach has been applied to modify cellulose substrates for different applications. For example, highly hydrophobic CNF films and cellulose textiles were obtained after depositing poly-L-lysine and negatively charged wax nanoparticles.⁹⁸ On the other hand, the sequential adsorption of poly(amideamine) epichlorohydrin (PAE) and CNF on pulp fibers has been observed to improve paper strength, but the adsorption of preformed PAE-CNF aggregates did not.¹⁶⁴ QCM-D has been successfully employed to monitor, in real-time, multilayer formation using cationic

and anionic cellulose derivatives, chitosan, cationic starch, polyethylenimine, poly(allylamine hydrochloride), C-PAM, PDADMAC, CNC, CNF, and cationized CNF.^{68,160,165–167} The structure of the multilayers (adsorbed material and swelling) can be tuned by the number of adsorbed layers, the charge density of polyelectrolytes or nanoparticles, and the pH of the medium. Accordingly, the intensity and range of the measured electrosteric repulsions have been seen to correlate with the thickness and swelling of the multilayers.^{68,165,167} In some cases, attractive bridging forces have been detected when the swelling of the multilayer led to the exposure of underlying polymer layers.^{68,168}

As can be observed from the works cited here, a considerable amount of research has been dedicated to understanding the interactions of CNMs with polymers at the molecular level and the surface forces at the nano-/microscale responsible for the macroscopic properties of CNM-based materials. That knowledge has a direct impact on the optimization of industrial products and processes. Nevertheless, there is still work to do in this field. In particular, environmental concerns urge for the utilization of more sustainable raw materials to replace the oilderived additives commonly used in paper manufacturing and coatings for cellulose-based barrier materials. Biopolymers like cellulose derivatives, hemicellulose, starch, chitosan, and other polysaccharides are very good candidates to replace fossil additives, but their widespread utilization at the industrial scale has generally been hindered due to their poor resistance against water, lack of optimized industrial processing technology, and relatively higher costs with respect to fossilbased additives.^{113,114,169–171} Chemical modification of the biopolymers and a deeper understanding of their interactions with cellulose and CNMs could boost the industrial utilization of biopolymers from natural resources. The research already carried out on the interactions of hemicellulose and other

natural polysaccharides with CNMs provides very valuable information to advance that path.

3.4. Interactions of CNMs with Proteins and Cells

Lignocellulose is naturally degraded by fungi, bacteria, or protozoans through the action of different enzymes. This degradation can be utilized in industrial processes, for example, for fuel production, and hence it is of interest to investigate the adsorption of enzymes onto cellulose. Cellulases (including endoglucanases, cellobiohydrolases, and β -glucosidases) and lytic polysaccharide monooxygenases (LPMO) can decompose cellulose following different routes.^{172,173} The synergistic combination of cellulases and LPMO can efficiently degrade cellulose fibers into glucose molecules. The presence of carbohydrate binding modules in some of these cellulosedegrading enzymes enhance their selective attachment to cellulose substrates.¹⁷⁴ The adsorption and degradation activity of several enzymes on different model cellulose films have been monitored in real time using different techniques, including QCM-D, SPR, ellipsometry, AFM, and fluorescence-confocal microscopy.^{175–183}

Under controlled conditions, cellulases and LPMO can be used to produce CNMs from cellulosic biomass.^{184–188} The enzyme-aided production of CNMs is more environmentally friendly than other common procedures because it does not require harsh chemical reactions (e.g., acid hydrolysis or chemical oxidation) nor intensive mechanical fibrillation. Cellulose degrading enzymes could also be used in applications where CNM constructs are meant to be disintegrated at the end of their lifetime, for example hydrogels or 3D scaffolds for some biomedical applications.

The utilization of CNMs in biomedical applications has been intensively explored in the last two decades. The natural hydration of cellulose hydrogels, their mechanical properties, and their ability to adsorb or encapsulate different molecules are attractive characteristics for drug delivery and wound healing or 3D scaffolds for tissue engineering. Although some studies have reported a certain level of pulmonary inflammation and toxicity upon exposure to CNMs (especially in the case of CNC), numerous works have confirmed that CNMs, and CNF in particular, are nontoxic and biocompatible materials.^{189–191} The animal-free origin of CNMs has also been an advantageous property for biomedical applications. Plant-derived CNF or BNC has been successfully used in 3D cell cultures and 3D printed bioink scaffolds either alone or in combination with other polymers and nanoparticles.^{192–199}

The structure and surface chemistry of a material affects its interaction with cells. Although CNF hydrogels can mimic the fibrillar structure of the extracellular matrix (ECM), the polysaccharide nature of cellulose is very different from the protein nature of ECM. Consequently, AFM measurements applying the colloidal probe technique (Figure 5a) have revealed that the adhesion of human hepatocellular carcinoma cells (HepG2) and human pluripotent stem cells to CNF is considerably weaker than to ECM proteins like collagen I, collagen IV, and laminin-521 (Figure 5b).²⁰⁰ The adhesion of cells to CNF was also observed to be nonspecific, that is, it is not mediated by cell receptors like integrins.²⁰¹ Due to the low affinity of cells for CNF, this material is not a good substrate for traditional 2D cell culture.²⁰⁰ However, CNF hydrogels have proven to be good material for 3D cell spheroid formation, where the adhesion between cells is expected to be stronger than between cells and material.^{193,194}

The weak and nonspecific interaction of CNFs with stem cells results in a lack of signaling for cell differentiation. Thus, CNF and BNC hydrogels have been observed to be excellent materials to keep the stemness of stem cells for several weeks.^{193,203} Nevertheless, CNF and BNC hydrogels have to be modified if stronger cell adhesion and cell differentiation are desired. Proteins from the ECM can enhance cell adsorption and differentiation through their specific interactions with cell membrane receptors, and therefore a logical strategy to extend the applications of CNF in tissue engineering is to adsorb ECM proteins on the surface of the CNFs. Quantitative adhesion experiments between CNF and ECM proteins by the AFM-colloidal probe technique have shown affinity of collagen I, collagen IV, and laminin-521 for CNF to a different extent (stronger in the case of collagen I).²⁰⁴ AFM, fluorescence microscopy, and SPR studies have confirmed that the adsorption or immobilization of collagen I, collagen IV, laminin-521, and fibronectin on nanocellulose substrates enhanced the adhesion of stem cells, fibroblasts, and HepG2 cells.^{205,206} Strong immobilization of fibronectin, vitronectin, or collagen I on nanocellulose hydrogels via avidin-biotin or covalent conjugation has also been proved to promote integrin-mediated cell adhesion and facilitate the proliferation of fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and mesenchymal stem cells.^{207,208} Incorporation of growth factors into 3D CNF scaffolds is another approach to enhance fibroblast proliferation.²⁰⁹ The quantification of the interaction forces between cellulose binding proteins (CBM1) and cellulosic nanomaterials has also been demonstrated using single molecule force spectroscopy experiments employing a combination of click chemistry and protein engineering (Figure 5c,d,e).²⁰² All of these studies undoubtedly support the promising future foreseen for CNMs in tissue engineering applications.

The interaction of CNMs with bacteria and viruses has also been under research for the development of new antimicrobial materials. Different surface modification and functionalization strategies of CNMs have been proposed to achieve materials with excellent antimicrobial properties and membrane filters against microbes.^{210–212}

Importantly, nanocellulose–protein interactions can be exploited beyond biomedical applications. Thus, the combination of CNC with bovine serum albumin or CNF with soy protein has been observed to stabilize emulsions (Pickering emulsions), which is of interest to the food and pharmaceutical industries, for example.^{213,214} Furthermore, proteins like casein and zein have been used to improve the mechanical properties and thermal stability of composites containing CNFs.^{215,216} Casein, soy protein, zein, gluten, and whey proteins have also been proposed to replace fossil-based additives in paper manufacturing and coatings for cellulose-based packaging materials.^{113,169} These are just a few examples of the unlimited potential of protein-modified CNMs.

4. LIGNIN NANOPARTICLES

Efficient valorization of a large amount of technical lignins available as side streams from the pulping industry has challenged the industrial and academic community for centuries. The transformation of technical lignins into nanoparticles offers an interesting alternative to fractionation and depolymerization. Lignin nanoparticles solve the main drawbacks of technical lignins. Their morphology can be made homogeneous, they can be used without solvents, and they have a very large surface area, which increases their capacity to



Figure 6. (a) Average particle diameter, weight-average M_w , and Ph-OH content of different lignin fractions.²²⁹ Reproduced with permission from ref 229. Copyright 2021 Royal Society of Chemistry. (b) Effect of M_w on LNPs diameter and surface charge.²²⁷ Reproduced with permission from ref 227. Copyright Royal Society of Chemistry. LNPs diameter as a function of M_w and Ph-OH and Aliph-OH content in (c) eucalyptus lignin and (d) spruce lignin.²²⁶ Reproduced with permission from ref 226, used under Creative Commons CC-BY license. Copyright 2021 Royal Society of Chemistry.

interact with their surroundings.²¹⁷ Concurrently it would be significant to find a nanoparticle formation method that offers the desired lignin properties for specific applications but is also simple and reproducible in its approach, and economically and environmentally viable. Both research and industrial communities have collaborated broadly in their efforts to produce LNMs for a variety of applications. As a result, various methods have been introduced to produce nanoscale lignin (LNPs) or colloidal lignin particles (CLPs).

The preparation of LNPs with well-defined surface chemistry, controlled nanoarchitecture, and long-term stability is important for high-value applications. LNPs fabricated using different approaches tend to present different surface morphology, size, polydispersity, surface charge, etc., which is a hallmark of its specific fabrication processes. Acid neutralization and solvent shifting have been the most frequent routes adopted to prepare LNPs, acidification being the first reported²¹⁸ method. Several recent review articles reveal the existence of many other approaches, such as acid-catalyzed precipitation, flash precipitation, water-in-oil microemulsion methods, homogenization, ultrasonication, and sono-solvent shifting.^{6,219-223} Among the developed LNP fabrication methods, the critical analysis points to the solvent shifting approach as the method of choice due to its simplicity, viability, high yield, and excellent control over morphological features in terms of spherical geometry, with uniform size and smooth surfaces. Hence we focus mostly on that method in the following section.

Various analogous terminologies for solvent shifting like nanoprecipitation, dialysis, solvent exchange, and antisolvent process are frequently used to describe the same approach.⁶ During LNP preparations, the assembly conditions have been found to significantly affect the surface properties, mainly particle size, particle shape (geometry), surface charge, and stability.⁶ Solvent shifting and acid neutralization (also called pH shifting) have been investigated vigorously, compared to other reported methods, to elucidate the effect of different parameters on the nanoparticle's specific surface properties.^{224,225} Multiple factors can influence the formation of the LNPs using different approaches but more precisely during solvent shifting. These include lignin source and its chemical structure, interaction with solvents, molecular weight, initial lignin concentration, dropping speed of the lignin solution, antisolvent feed rate, stirring speed, temperature, pH, and salt concentration, among others.^o A systematic elucidation of each parameter on LNP formation is necessary to determine the ideal synthesis conditions because these factors directly or indirectly affect the self-assembly of lignin molecules by influencing their solubility, surface charge, nucleation, and growth. This section discusses the physiochemical aspects of the formation of lignin particles, their interactions in aqueous media, customization strategies, and applications.

4.1. Structural Factors Affecting LNP Properties

Because LNPs are formed by the assembly of lignin molecules into nanostructures, interactions during the particle formation process strongly affect their properties. Hence factors affecting these interactions, and consequently also the final properties of



Figure 7. Fabrication of monodispersed LNPs with tailorable size. SEM images of a series of monodispersed LNPs (average diameters are 100, 200, 300, 500, 700, and 1000 nm). Scale bars: 1 μ m.²³² Used under Creative Commons CC-BY license from ref 232. Copyright 2022 Wiley.

the particles, are reviewed. The intrinsic chemical structure of lignin from different sources, such as hardwood, softwood, or grass, possesses different ratios of monomeric units, ultimately affecting the self-assembly process of lignin into LNPs through noncovalent forces like hydrogen bonding, hydrophobic interactions, and $\pi - \pi$ interactions. For instance, guaiacyl units are more abundant in softwood lignin, whereas hardwood and grass lignins are rich in syringyl and *p*-hydroxyphenyl units.

Interconnected factors, such as lignin molecular weight, its solubility, and the presence of aliphatic and phenolic hydroxyl and carboxyl groups (amphiphilic nature), simultaneously affect the architecture of LNPs. Indeed the experimental evidence presented by Lievonen et al.,²¹⁷ Figueiredo et al.,²²⁵ Pylypchuk et al.,²²⁶ Ma et al.,²²⁷ Pang et al.,²²⁸ and Zwilling et ⁹ all of whom studied how different lignins and different lignin fractions affect the size and morphology of LNPs, demonstrates that the particle size is decreased by high numbers of phenolic hydroxyl groups and high molecular weight. The number of phenolic hydroxyl groups depends to some degree on the lignin's molecular weight. Low molecular weight lignin, due to the cleavage of interunit linkages (e.g., β -O-4 bonds) exhibits a high number of hydrophilic groups (e.g., hydroxyl and carboxyl groups). Similar to phenolic hydroxyl groups, lignin structures rich in carboxyl groups display higher hydrophilicity, which leads to larger sized LNPs.²³⁰ In contrast, the increase in the hydrophobic interactions by modifying the amphiphilic interface with *n*-alkane results in smaller LNPs.²³¹ The presence of aliphatic and phenolic hydroxyl groups also plays a decisive role in LNP morphology (Figure 6). The higher number of aliphatic hydroxyl groups in the softwood lignin can result in the formation of smaller LNPs. It is postulated that the higher aliphatic content limits the lignin solubility, resulting in smaller LNPs. On the contrary, the phenolic hydroxyl groups, due to their hydrophilic nature, facilitate the hydrogen bonding between lignin molecules and water corresponding to larger LNPs size. The noncovalent $\pi - \pi$ interactions between G-units are stronger than between Sunits, so denser packing of lignin molecules during LNP formation is expected for softwood lignin, resulting in a smaller average size of LNPs.

The LNPs prepared in most of the reported work have rather high polydispersity. Interestingly Wang et al.²³² were recently able to successfully prepare monodisperse LNPs with tailorable sizes (Figure 7). Their approach was based on the fractionation of enzymatic hydrolysis lignin (EHL) from corn stalk before particle formation. The EHL utilized in this work

exhibited a molecular weight of 1975 g mol⁻¹ and total hydroxyl and carboxyl content of 5.42 mmol g⁻¹. The narrow size distribution of LNPs after solvent extraction was regarded to be a result of homogeneous intermolecular interactions between lignin molecules during the self-assembly. From the AFM force measurements, the authors concluded that the LNP sizes are dominated by long-range forces, such as vdW, electrostatic, and hydrophobic forces, rather than the short-range adhesion force like hydrogen bonding.²³²

They further observed that the lignin fraction with more carboxylic groups possesses stronger electrostatic repulsion and weaker hydrophobic force as the water content increases. In light of these observations, the authors conclude that with water content gradually increasing in the mixed solvent, the solvent properties gradually deteriorate. As a result, the attractive forces between lignin molecules dominates and LNPs are formed. They conclude that long-range interaction, especially EDL and hydrophobic forces between each lignin molecule, must be as similar as possible to obtain monodispersed LNPs.²³²

Aside from lignin chemical compositions, the correlation between the LNP size and initial lignin concentration is evident in the solvent shifting process. Typically, initial lignin concentration and LNP size exhibit a direct relationship, as the initial lignin concentration decreases, the particle diameter also decreases. This could be interpreted as due to the fact that at a low initial concentration, fewer lignin molecules are available per unit volume participating in nucleation and growth.^{217,225,226,229,233-235} Several studies using different lignin types, such as EHL,²³⁶ pine softwood KL,²²⁹ eucalyptus hardwood and Norway spruce softwood KL,²²⁶ and acetosolv lignin,²³³ observed an increase in size with increasing lignin concentration, which is regarded as a result of particle's growth via the adsorption of lignin molecules to the initially formed nuclei. Besides the initial lignin concentration, the addition rate of antisolvent and the stirring speed also confer significant morphological changes on LNPs. Li et al.²³³ (acetosolv lignin powder from bamboo shoot shell), Sipponen et al.²³⁴ (wheat straw soda lignin), Xiong et al.²³⁶ (EHL), and Li et al.²³⁷ (KL) conclude that an increase in the antisolvent feeding rate decreased the hydrodynamic radius of LNPs and formed more nanospheres as it limited the aggregation growth time. At the same time, by increasing the stirring rate as the antisolvent is introduced, smaller LNP sizes are formed.^{233,236} It is speculated that the high stirring rate improves the mixing of organic-inorganic phases.²³⁸



Figure 8. Lignin interaction with solvents. (a) Number of water–lignin hydrogen bonds and (b) solvent–lignin hydrogen bonds in different solvent systems.²⁴⁷ (c) Arrangements of solvent molecules around a lignin molecule in water–solvent mixtures with acetone, tetrahydrofuran (THF), and dimethyl sulfoxide(DMSO) as cosolvent (solvent:water = 3:1 w/w).²⁴⁷ (d) The structure of lignin in acetone, THF, 1,4-dioxane, DMSO, and water.²⁵¹ (a–c) Reproduced from ref 247, under Creative Commons CC-BY license. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society. (d) Reproduced with permission from ref 251. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society.

LNP self-assembly during the acidification process is also contingent on the initial lignin concentration. A direct proportionality has been observed between the size of LNPs and their initial lignin concentration, however, unlike the solvent-exchange process, the size of the LNPs returns to a smaller size as the critical initial lignin concentration is exceeded. Frangville et al. and Agustin et al. have reported similar trends,^{218,239} although in the latter work, ultrasonication was coupled with acidification to assist the selfassembly. In both of these experimental works as well as in Gupta et al.,²⁴⁰ the increase of acidification rate (by increasing the acid's concentration) also affected the LNP size. For instant, Frangville et al., observed an increase in particle size from less than a hundred nanometers at 0.025 M to nearly 2 mm for 2.6 M HCl.²¹⁸ In addition, Frangville et al. and Gupta et al. reported that LNP size is reliant on the addition rate of acid into the lignin solution.^{218,240} Frangville et al. observed a 3-fold decline in LNP size, from 320 to 120 nm, upon addition of aqueous HCl at a rate of 2 drops per minute, compared to direct mixing of both phases.

The self-assembly process results in LNP surface chemistry enriched with phenolic hydroxyl and carboxylic groups. Upon dispersing in water, the charged functional groups are deprotonated, resulting in the formation of an EDL due to the counterions, which contribute to the stabilization of particles in colloidal suspension.

The reported zeta potential values of LNPs prepared from both acidification and solvent shifting methods are between -30 and -60 mV.^{6,217,225,241–244} At pH 4, the zeta potential of LNPs displays principal sigmoidal inclination, whereas a secondary inflection is observed above pH 11, which corresponds to the desorption of the more hydrophilic chains from the particles, causing a decline in surface charge.²²⁴ In general, the smaller the size of LNPs, the higher its zeta potential because charge density on a smaller particle is higher. Interestingly, coupling ultrasonication with acidification by Agustin et al. enhanced the surface charge of lignin, possibly by exposing the surface carboxyl or phenolic groups.²³⁹

4.2. Effect of Solvent Interactions on LNP Formation

In solvent switching methods, lignin is first dissolved in a small amount of water and a suitable low-polar organic solvent, such as acetone, tetrahydrofuran, or dimethyl sulfoxide.^{217,245–247} Because of lignin's amphiphilic nature, binary or tertiary solvent systems containing both polar and nonpolar solvents are needed to properly dissolve lignin (Figure 8). A large amount of polar antisolvent, usually water, is then introduced. The lignin solution is usually poured into the antisolvent, but it can also be done the other way around, which provides control over the antisolvent addition rate.^{217,233,234,245,248,249} Solvent



Figure 9. Effect of preprecipitation concentration and antisolvent addition speed on the porosity of LNPs.²³³ Reproduced with permission from ref 233. Copyright 2021 Elsevier.

switching may also be performed by the removal of the nonpolar solvent by distillation.²⁵⁰ The change from a mostly nonpolar to a mostly polar solvent system starts a gradual aggregation process from the most hydrophobic fraction, which usually contains the largest lignin molecules,²²⁶ to the most hydrophilic lignin fraction.^{217,234,246} The most hydrophilic structures, being predominantly different types of hydroxyl groups, will consequently be arranged on the surface of the particles, creating a strongly negative surface charge that induces interparticle repulsion and thus colloidal stability.^{217,234,247}

Because solvent interactions with lignin are important when preparing particles, the solvents affect the particle size and their inner structure. It has been found that acetone and dimethyl sulfoxide interact stronger with lignin compared to tetrahydrofuran,²⁴⁷ and particles made with acetone or dimethyl sulfoxide are smaller compared to particles made with tetrahydrofuran.²⁴⁷ The causes of these differences are still not fully known but are believed to be due to the strength of the solvent-lignin interactions.²⁴⁷ In that study, kraft lignin from soft wood was used and the experimental data was compared to molecular modeling using lignin model structures describing both kraft lignin and milled wood lignin. It is nevertheless difficult to make correct comparisons of different solvent systems. Zou et al.²⁴⁷ compared acetone, tetrahydrofuran (THF), dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), and 1,4-dioxane (DXN) as solvents for the preparation of lignin particles (Figure 8). Water was used as the other cosolvent. The smallest particles were obtained with DMSO, but the ratio between water and the organic solvent was not changed according to the character of the organic solvent. The optimal ratio is likely not the same for all solvents. For example, the sulfur-oxygen double bond in DMSO is more polar than the carbon-oxygen double bond in acetone or the ether bond in tetrahydrofuran, so the overall polarity of solvent systems of DMSO-water, acetone-water, and THF-water will be different when the same solvent-water ratios are used.

Solvent interactions with different structural moieties in lignin have been mentioned in publications about LNPs but rarely discussed in depth. Molecular modeling simulation studies on lignin suggest that water molecules in solvent mixtures arrange in proximity with hydroxyl groups, while organic solvents are in closer proximity with the nonpolar backbone,^{247,251} implying that the solvent mixtures are deconstructed around the solvated molecules. Solvent demixing, that is, the demixing of solvent mixtures driven by the solute's structural characteristics, has been shown to occur in lignocellulosic biomass.²⁵² Solvent demixing in the case of lignin is driven by lignin-solvent interactions, and a precise understanding of this phenomenon could perhaps be useful to tune LNP morphology and properties. However, one often overlooked factor is the interactions between the cosolvents, that is, water and the nonpolar solvent. It is known that strong lignin-solvent interactions produce small particles, but the solvent-solvent and solvent-water interactions could have an effect as well because the diffusion of a nonpolar solvent away from lignin into the bulk water facilitates particle formation. It is known that DMSO and acetone interact more strongly with water compared to THF,^{253,254} and both solvents produce smaller particles. Also, the use of THF and ethanol for particles of kraft lignin produce smaller particles than THF alone.²⁴⁵ Water and ethanol are known to interact strongly,²⁵⁵⁻²⁵⁷ and together these three solvents (water, ethanol, THF) form an azeotrope.²⁵⁸ In both of these examples, the solvent-water interactions could have an effect, but their significance has not been studied.

The first stages of particle formation can be compared to coprecipitated hybrid particles of lignin and other amphiphilic substances.^{248,259} In coprecipitation, the more hydrophobic compound is usually concentrated on the inside of the particles where it is shielded from water.^{248,259} Likewise, it is believed that the most hydrophobic lignin structures reside within the core of the particles.^{217,246} Some studies also suggest that particles contain some amount of solvent in their core in the first stages of particle formation, thereby being a sort of



Figure 10. Schematic representation of interactions of negatively charged lignin nanoparticles (LNPs) with elements in aqueous media. (a) Adsorption of cationic proteins or polymers onto LNPs, leading to either charge reversal or aggregation because of reduced net charge. (b) The electrical double layer (EDL) is reduced by high concentrations of salt, leading to aggregation. (c) Protonation of carboxylic acid groups leads to charge-neutralization and thus aggregation.

nanoemulsion.²⁴⁶ The speed of the antisolvent addition has a significant effect on the particles' structure and size, but the reason is not fully clear. Quick addition of antisolvent creates small and dense particles, while slow addition can lead to the formation of very large or hollow particles (Figure 9). Some studies suggest that the formation of hollow structures is due to hydrophobic impurities in the used solvent.²⁶⁰ However, this seems improbable to be the only cause. Hollow spheres have been obtained with various solvent systems, but only when water is added slowly to the lignin solution, and when the lignin concentration is around 2 g/L or below. $^{233,234,260-263}$ Li et al. 233 examined various lignin concentrations and water addition speeds using acetosolv lignin from bamboo shoot shells. They observed increased porosity and particle size with slow water addition and low lignin concentrations. It was also observed that irregularly shaped spheres are formed in low concentration and quick water addition, which is an interesting finding (Figure 9).

To illuminate some possible reasons for these findings, let us consider a few general differences in the lignin—solvent interactions throughout the particle formation in slow and quick antisolvent introduction approaches. In quick antisolvent addition, lignin molecules should readily rearrange into dense structures, where the nonpolar moieties are shielded from the antisolvent and continue to form spheres by aggregating. In slow antisolvent addition, the precipitation may be able to begin before or at the same time as the lignin molecules aggregate to shield the nonpolar structures, which could explain the reduced density. Eventually, the osmotic pressure may cause the particles to burst, which would result in pierced hollow particles. The presence of hydrophobic substances can be also used to create nanocapsules with shells made of lignin.^{248,262} Better knowledge of the reasons for differences in porosity between LNPs made by quick and slow precipitation would help to understand the aggregation mechanism, which is important to be able to precisely tailor the particle properties.

How LNPs interact with solvents after precipitation has not yet been studied extensively. QCM-D monitoring measurements have shown that LNPs dissolve by peeling in alkaline media.²⁶⁴ This is seen as a gradual decrease in particle size. However, alkaline-mediated dissolution generally requires a chemical reaction, that is, deprotonation. Organic solvents solvate polymers through physical interaction but their interaction with the LNP surface at the onset of the dissolution has not yet been studied. One existing study showed that lauric acid could diffuse out from hybrid LNPs,²⁴⁸ and multiple



Figure 11. Effect of PDADMAC coating on zeta potential of LNPs prepared from KL using (a) solvent exchange,²¹⁷ (b) acidification,²⁷⁹ and on average hydrodynamic diameter of LNPs from (c) solvent shifting and (d) acidification. (a,c) Adapted with permission from ref 217. Copyright 2016 Royal Society of Chemistry. (b,d) Reproduced with permission from ref 279. Copyright 2016 American Chemical Society.

studies on drug release also suggest that small molecules can be diffused out of LNPs.^{234,235,265,266} This could mean that small molecules, such as organic solvents, could likewise be infused into LNPs in the right conditions. Most studies, however, focus on how to protect LNPs from dissolving in organic solvents. Both internal²⁵⁹ and external^{267,268} cross-linking have been shown to increase particle resistance against solvents. Cross-linking can be done purely chemically, but also enzymatically.^{218,259,267,268} Internally cross-linked LNPs can be used in harsh reaction conditions and allow modification of LNPs postprecipitation.²⁵⁹

4.3. Interactions of LNPs with Aqueous Media

The surface chemistry of LNPs determines their interaction with their surroundings. During the formation of LNPs, the most soluble structures, that is, small molecular-sized fragments containing high amounts of hydroxyl groups, are adsorbed on the particle surface at the end of the precipitation, making CLPs more hydrophilic than lignin in general.^{234,264,269} The negatively charged carboxylic hydroxyl groups on the LNP surface create an EDL, which establishes repulsion between particles.^{217,234,270} As for EDLs in general, increased ionic strength in the media reduces the range of the EDL repulsion and at high enough ionic strength attractive forces dominate and lead to aggregation (Figure 10).^{217,246} The charge of the LNPs will affect the magnitude of the EDL repulsion, and the concentration and the size of particles affects the probability of collision, hence the colloidal stability of LNP dispersions will vary depending on their properties. Clear aggregation of LNP dispersions has been observed at 1 M NaCl.²¹⁷

The pH will also affect the stability of LNPs. For example, reducing pH to the isoelectric point of LNPs (ca. pH 2.0-1.5) results in aggregation because of the lost negative charge from carboxylic groups (Figure 10c).^{217,271} Likewise, LNPs dissolve when phenolic hydroxyl groups are deprotonated as the

amount of strong hydrogen bonding acceptors increases, which results in stronger interactions with water.²⁷² Dissolution usually starts occurring at pH levels above 10.^{217,272} Cross-linked particles can nevertheless retain their morphology also in alkaline solutions.²⁵⁹

LNP interactions with water are relevant in many applications, but there are very few studies explicitly probing these interactions.²⁶⁴ Plastic-like films from biopolymers are increasingly needed to replace plastics, and water interactions are highly relevant in this application. There are a few key problems in the development of biopolymer formulations. Perhaps most significantly, natural biobased polymers, including lignin, are too hydrophilic to provide sufficient protection from moisture. In contact with water, the inter- and intrachain hydrogen bonds are replaced with hydrogen bonds with water molecules. This logically decreases mechanical properties, especially in humid and wet conditions. In amphiphilic or hydrophobic polymer blends, the presence of water molecules between the polymer matrix and LNPs decreases the interfacial adhesion and ability to transfer load.

We encourage Nature-inspired approaches to tackle these problems, and both bound water and hierarchical structures may play important roles. As discussed in section 3.1, on its surface, nanocellulose contains bound water⁹⁵ that can be utilized in applications like microplastics capturing or cell culture.⁷² Although the surface-bound water of LNPs has not been studied to the same extent as for CNF, the hydrophilicity and vapor sorption of LNPs indicate that they also bind water.^{249,264,273,274} Because of this, there is inevitably some water trapped within matrices containing LNPs, especially when using solvent casting to form the composite. In section 3.1, we further noted that water molecules can have a plasticizing and positive effect on mechanical properties of cellulose nanopapers. Similarly the interaction of LNPs and water should be studied more and taken into consideration in



Figure 12. Particle diameter and zeta potential of chitosan coated LNPs (CLPs) (a) plotted against the mass ratio of chitosan to CLP.²⁸⁰ Reproduced from ref 280, under Creative Commons CC-BY license. Copyright 2019 Frontiers in Chemistry. (b) QCM-D data (third overtone) showing a change in resonant frequency upon the adsorption of Catlig onto the CLP films.²⁶⁴ Reproduced with permission from ref 264. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society. SPAR adsorption data showing the reflectometry signal ($\Delta S/S_0$) for the multilayer formation of PAH (the first and third layer) and CLNP/PLNP (the second and fourth layer) onto SiO₂ surface at (c) 0 M NaCl and (d) 10 mM NaCl.²⁸¹ (c,d) Reproduced with permission from ref 281. Copyright 2021 American Chemical Society.

applications where LNPs are used in polar and nonpolar matrices.

In LNP-CNF films, it was observed that both cationized and regular anionic LNPs significantly increased both the stress at break and strain. This was surprising because the LNPs were expected to disrupt the hydrogen bonding pattern in CNF, however, due to the hydrophilic corona of the LNPs, they are expected to also be able to form new hydrogen bonds. The increase in strain was also surprising, because lignin is brittle, and particulate reinforcers most often decrease flexibility and the capacity for plastic deformation.²⁷⁵ The increased strain was speculated to be due to the LNPs acting as ball bearing and lubricating stress transferring agents. However, we cannot exclude the plasticizing effects of surface bound water. Furthermore, it was observed that solvent-casted composites were stronger compared to hot-pressed ones, which would indicate that water may have a significant effect on the strength of hydrophilic composite materials. This angle is rarely presented in the field of biomaterial composites but is discussed frequently in studies on proteins and biological systems.^{107,276–278} An interesting discussion on this topic from a biological perspective is found in Chaplin's opinion article.²⁷⁶

4.4. Interactions of LNPs with Polymers

Interactions between polymeric systems can be realized at different length scales. However, when dealing with colloidal systems, the molecular level is a prerequisite from a surface chemistry perspective. The interactions of LNPs with polymers are important in different scenarios, such as adsorption of a polymer onto the LNP surfaces, dispersing LNPs into a continuous polymer phase, and in the case of Pickering emulsions, to enable better interactions with both oil and water phase. These interactions play essential roles in determining the adsorption, aggregation, adhesion, and phase separation of the colloidal particles in a resulting multicomponent system and will be discussed in more detail in this section.

The surface features of LNPs affecting their interactions with polymers are attributed to their negative surface charge, the presence of active functional groups like phenol hydroxyl and carboxyl, and their spherical nanoscaled dimension. The adsorption of cationic polymers onto the LNP surface predominantly relies on electrostatic interaction. To modify the affinity of LNPs to certain substrates, the adsorption of PDADMAC, chitosan, poly(allylamine hydrochloride) (PAH), and cationic lignin has been accomplished by applying the principle of electrostatic interactions, although cationic lignin is speculated to also interact with the LNPs via $\pi - \pi$ interactions. Native LNPs exhibit a negative zeta potential, which changes from negative to positive upon the adsorption of a cationic polymer. For instance, adsorption of PDADMAC causes a charge reversal on the LNP surface as a function of PDADMAC concentration, and stable cationic particles with almost unchanged particle size are obtained (Figure 11a,b).²¹⁷

At very high PDADMAC concentration, some aggregation occurred, most likely a result of more extended conformation of the PDADMAC chain forming tails and loops (Figure 11c). These particles were stable at pH above 4 and below 12. At pH 12, they started to dissolve. In another study using acid precipitated LNPs, a slightly different behavior was observed. At pH below 2, both native and PDADMAC modified LNPs aggregated, whereas, at alkaline pH greater than 10.5, only the PDADMAC-coated nanoparticles underwent aggregation (Figure 11d).

The polycationic nature of chitosan favors interactions with negatively charged microbial cell walls in addition to their emulsification capacity. Zou et al.,²⁸⁰ Moreno et al.,²⁹⁵ and Stine et al.³⁷³ adsorbed chitosan onto the LNP surfaces, resulting in the zeta potential of approximately +45, +32, and +34 mV, respectively, along with a slight increase in the particle diameter (Figure 12a). Although the adsorption is expected to be dominated by entropy due to the release of counterions and water molecules, hydrogen bonds between hydroxyl and carbonyl groups in chitosan and carbonyl, hydroxyl, and ether groups in lignin can be formed after adsorption decreasing the tendency for desorption.

Similar observations were made by Farooq et al.,²⁶⁴ who studied the adsorption of cationic lignin (catlig) polymer on LNPs and model lignin surfaces (Figure 12b). The adsorption resulted in a frequency shift (Δf_3) of merely 9 ± 1 Hz for the model lignin surface (Figure 12b). In contrast adsorption onto LNPs prepared from THF and acetone displayed higher frequency shifts of 19 ± 1 Hz and 16.0 ± 0.1 Hz, respectively. Authors asserted that the catlig adsorption onto the model lignin surface prepared from dissolved lignin is likely due to contributions from electrostatic, $\pi - \pi$, cation $-\pi$, and hydrophobic interactions, arising from the aromatic units of lignin; whereas, in the case of LNPs, the electrostatic interactions are expected to be more dominant and adsorption is driven by gain in entropy due to release of counterions and bound water. However, we need to consider that the $\pi - \pi$ and cation $-\pi$ interactions will be of importance only at <0.5 nm range. Furthermore, the nanoscale spherical geometry is also expected to enhance the Catlig adsorption to LNPs due to the larger exposed surface area. In a recent work by Alipoormazandarani et al.,²⁸¹ the adsorption of PAH and modified LNPs was studied using a stagnation point adsorption reflectometry (SPAR) and QCM-D. They observed a different adsorption behavior for carboxymethylated (CLNPs) and carboxypentylated LNPs (PLNPs) (Figure 12c,d). For instance, PLNPs with five carbon alkyl side chains demonstrated higher adsorption capacity compared to CLNPs with one carbon alkyl side chain. It is postulated that alkyl side chain length plays a crucial role in neutralizing the opposite polyelectrolyte charges. Interestingly, the SPAR adsorption data also reveals a higher adsorbed amount of both LNPs at an electrolyte concentration of 10 mM NaCl (Figure 12d) compared to that in a salt-free system (Figure 12c). A more coiled conformation of the polyelectrolyte chain in the presence of salt is expected to enhance the adsorption due to larger charge overcompensation. The data obtained from QCM-D and SPAR complement each other, further supporting the importance of combining different surface-sensitive tools to study the adsorption of different polyelectrolytes onto a colloidal system.

In the above-mentioned examples, the adsorption of the cationic polymer was commenced directly onto the LNP surfaces to enhance their performance in applications and, also,

in the case of QCM-D and SPAR experiments, to better understand the interactions of LNPs, because they have not been extensively studied yet. However, there is great interest in using LNPs in a continuous polymer phase as reinforcing, cross-linking, UV-protective, or antioxidant agents. LNPs' large surface-to-volume ratio is expected to improve the polymernanoparticle interactions, resulting in more consistent biomaterials with improved properties. An array of natural and synthetic polymers has been combined with LNPs, including poly(methyl methacrylate), polyethylene, thermoplastic polyurethane phenol-formaldehyde, polybutylene adipate-co-terephthalate, poly(lactic acid) (PLA), poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA), chitosan, wheat gluten, macroalgae, and cellulose. Among these polymers, PVA and PLA have been extensively studied. Wang et al.,²⁸² combined LNPs with PVA/ hexagonal boron nitride nanosheet and CNF, Tian et al.,²⁸³ utilized the combination of LNPs and PVA, whereas Yang et al.^{284,285} prepared nanocomposites and hydrogels with chitosan-PVA. In these reported works, authors associated the increase in tensile strength to the hydrogen bonding between CNF/LNPs, PVA/LNPs, and PVA/chitosan/LNPs, respectively. Yet only FTIR analysis was employed to qualitatively measure the hydrogen bonding interactions. Likewise improvements in the thermomechanical, antioxidant, and UV-shielding properties have been linked to the inclusion of LNPs in PLA-based nanocomposites. Although the LNP surface is rich with carboxyl and hydroxyl groups, which has a strong ability to form intermolecular hydrogen bonds with the carbonyl groups of PLA,²⁸⁶ the reported values for stiffness and strength were mostly in the same range as those of neat PLA, with only slight improvement.²⁸⁷⁻²⁹⁰

The loss in the ductility of the nanocomposite is also a consistent feature while integrating LNPs into polymer matrices. Nevertheless, in a more recent work, grafting LNPs with PLA and poly(ε -caprolactone) (PCL) copolymer resulted in a 6.7-fold improvement in the notched impact strength for nanocomposites, compared with neat PLA.²⁹⁰ The noticeable increase of toughness for PLA was attributed to the increased miscibility between PCL and PLLA, induced by adding a PCL-LNP-PLLA copolymer, where LNPs act as interfacial compatibilizers. It can be concluded that LNP's surface structure is a significant factor for mechanical properties in biocomposites, hence more focus should be on choosing the most suitable particle preparation method and lignin source based on the desired properties. Hydrophobic LNPs would fit better to hydrophobic matrices and hydrophilic LNPs to hydrophilic polymers. In general, solvent switching using organic solvents create a solubility gradient that favors hydrophilic structures on the surface, while mechanical grinding,²⁹¹ acidification,²¹⁸ or aerosol flow drying,²⁹² do not necessarily do so. Studying the strength of similar composites with different types of LNPs could thus be useful to better understand the characteristics of the particles' surfaces in composite applications and find the best applications for different types of particles. The direct interactions between the polymers and different types of LNPs should also be assessed with adequate methods. What should also be taken into consideration in future studies is the role of water in the composites.

Due to their amphiphilic nature, LNPs are excellently suitable to stabilize Pickering emulsions in which both interactions with water and nonpolar solvents are important.^{292,293} By coating LNPs with a positively charged polymer, pubs.acs.org/CR



Figure 13. (a) Schematic illustrating the preparation of the composites by the melting process. (b) SEM micrographs of top and cross-sectional surfaces of PS-GOx-chi-LNP composite films at GOx-chi-LNPs 15 wt %. (c) Tensile stress—strain curves of pure PS and PS-GOx-chi-LNP composites and pure PBMA and PBMA-GOx-chi-LNP composites. (d) Schematic illustration of the proposed interactions between hybrid LNPs with polymeric chains before and after deformation in tensile testing.²⁹⁵ Reproduced from ref 295, under Creative Commons CC-BY license. Copyright 2021 Royal Society of Chemistry.

such as chitosan or cationized lignin, the interaction between negatively charged fatty acids can be strengthened.^{280,293} Emulsions of cationized LNPs are stable for months, which make them suitable for both cosmetics and vectors for hydrophobic substances. Pang et al.³⁷⁴ prepared composite nanoparticles from lignin/sodium dodecyl sulfate and used them to fabricate lignin/polyurea composite microcapsules through the Pickering emulsion approach. Qian et al.,²⁹⁴ prepared Pickering emulsions of decane in water with the 2-(diethylamino)ethyl methacrylate grafted LNPs. The Pickering emulsion droplets exhibited the demulsification and emulsification feature by simply applying CO₂ and N₂ bubbling. Sipponen et al.²⁹³ displayed the capability of cationic LNPs to stabilize a broad range of Pickering emulsions. Results indicated that, compared to unmodified lignin or anionic LNPs, cationic LNPs are more amphiphilic. It was anticipated that additional intramolecular, as well as intermolecular stabilization by electrostatic and cation- π interactions, can further improve Pickering emulsion stabilization. Moreno et al.,²⁹⁵ performed free radical polymerization of polystyrene and poly(butyl methacrylate using oil-in-water Pickering emulsions stabilized by hybrid LNPs coated with chitosan and glucose oxidase (Figure 13a). The hybrid LNPs dispersed homogeneously within the polymeric matrices (Figure 13b), resulting in improved tensile strength without sacrificing their elasticity in comparison to pure PS and PBMA (Figure 13c,d). The selfinteractions among lignin molecules are very strong because of the large number of polar functional groups in the molecule, thus interactions play a decisive role in the determination of the structure and properties of polymer/lignin blends.

4.5. Interactions of LNPs with Cells

Due to the amphiphilic character of lignin, one of its obvious applications is as a carrier for hydrophobic substances, such as medicinal agents like resveratrol and benzazulene,^{235,266,296,29} anti-inflammatory agents like budesonide,²³⁴ or such bacter-icidal agents as silver particles,^{279,298,299} to reach their target. Many such substances are nonwater-soluble and therefore need some vector to be transported to their target site. With the development of new production methods, the use of LNPs in biomedicine, especially for drug delivery,²⁶⁵ has gained particular interest. There are a variety of different kinds of already commercial nanoparticles that are used in medicinal treatments, such as gold, silica, protein-based, virus-based, polysaccharide-based, dendrimers, and ceramic nanoparticles, and applications include drug-delivery (often to treat cancer), phototherapy, gene therapy, immunotherapy, and more.^{300,301} In this section, we discuss the scarce work that has to date been devoted to LNP interactions with cells as well as related work that suggest important factors to consider in future work in this area.

LNPs can be used as carrier for hydrophobic substances in a variety of ways.²⁶⁵ For example, in the same manner that LNPs can be used as Pickering emulsions to entrap oils,²⁸⁰ they can be used to make Pickering emulsions of medicinal substances.^{302,303} Medicinal compounds can also be coprecipitated with the lignin to make hybrid LNPs that contain the medicinal substance within them.^{235,304} LNPs can even be magnetized by coprecipitating the particles with iron oxide $(Fe^{3+}2O^{2-}3)$, which allows for even more precise targeting under magnetic fields.^{235,261,296,297} Nanoparticle internalization has been excellently summarized by Oh and Park³⁰⁵ and therefore will not be extensively reviewed here. A general



Figure 14. Aggregation and internalization specificity of nanoparticles toward nonphagocytic and phagocytic cells.

discussion of important factors is nevertheless presented here to illuminate how the properties of LNPs could be used and modified for use as drug carriers. It is also important to understand how LNPs interact with cells and to know the possible outcomes of in vivo use. This section thus addresses these interactions and the fate of LNPs when used in biomedicine.

Primarily internalization efficiency, that is, how quickly a compound is brought into a cell, is highly important to guide a medicinal agent to its target. Particles that are not internalized efficiently are, to a large extent, captured by the immune system and tend to eventually accumulate in the mononuclear phagocytic systems of central organs, such as the liver, where they can be harmful in large quantities.^{305,306} To avoid drug vectors accumulating in phagocytic cells rather than the target cells, the internalization should be optimized according to the target cell. The internalization efficiency of nanoparticles into cells is different depending on the particle size, shape, and surface chemistry and the cell type. While most nonphagocytic cell types take up nanoparticles with sizes around 50-200 nm most efficiently, phagocytic cells take up particles of 2–3 μ m most efficiently but can also internalize smaller particles down to 200 nm in size.^{307,308} Non internalized particles tend to aggregate due to bridging proteins and thus grow as time progresses³⁰⁹ and may therefore eventually be internalized by the phagocytic cells.³¹⁰ Most cell types also internalize rodshaped particles more efficiently than spheres, which is the second most favorable shape. 305,311 While the shape of LNPs prepared via solvent shifting cannot be altered significantly, the size can easily be tuned. Because of the size preference, small differences in size can significantly affect toxicity.³⁰⁸ Hence

particles with a well-controlled and narrow size distribution should be used when applying LNPs in biomedicine.

Surface chemistry also affects the internalization of NPs into cells. However, surface chemistry is difficult to control in vivo. For example, positively charged nanoparticles are often internalized more quickly than negatively charged particles,³¹² but positively charged nanoparticles are often eventually coated with various negatively charged proteins in vivo (Figure 14).³⁰⁹ The adsorption of serum proteins onto particles often leads to a decreased net charge, which can lead to aggregation via charge neutralization or bridging attraction.^{217,293} Aggregation eventually decreases specificity toward nonphagocytic cells. However, some serum substances can initiate clathrinmediated endocytosis, and nanoparticles are therefore often coated with serum proteins, DNA polymers, saccharides, liposomes, or other substances that naturally occur within living organisms. On the other hand, some serum substances can also make it easier for phagocytic cells to detect and internalize nanoparticles,³⁰⁸ which is another reason to adsorb specific serum substances beforehand, thus preventing unwanted substances from adsorbing.

While multiple studies have demonstrated the adsorption of certain proteins onto LNPs for functionalization purposes,^{313,314} no study has done so with the aim of improving cell internalization in vivo. Figueiredo et al. nevertheless demonstrated the grafting of tumor-homing phoryn and iRGD peptides onto carboxylated LNPs to increase their internalization into certain kinds of cancerous cells in vitro.²⁹⁷ However, there is still a lack of investigations specifically exploring interaction mechanisms between LNPs and cells. Such studies would be valuable, as they would increase the

understanding of important factors for the medicinal use of LNPs.

Toxicity has been briefly mentioned, but now we will move to discuss toxicity more specifically. The accumulation of particles in mononuclear phagocytic systems of central organs can lead to long-term toxic effects. One of the main tasks of the liver and kidneys is clearing foreign compounds and particles, but their ability to do so can vary.³¹⁵ In an excellent study, Zelepukin et al.,³⁰⁶ comprehensively explored factors that affect the immune system's ability to clear particles from the bloodstream. In addition to the factors that we have already discussed, they found that the nanoparticle-to-macrophage ratio was significant. Higher doses led to longer blood circulation times, seemingly because the mononuclear phagocyte system would get saturated. In fact, about 95% of all intravenously injected nanoparticles accumulate in the mononuclear phagocytic system's organs, where they can create lesions and cause long-term inflammatory responses.³¹⁶ It is unlikely that lignin can degrade in animal cells, which means LNPs could pose a problem in this regard. Particle accumulation of commonly used particles, such as silica, has led to the development of autoimmune diseases, chronic inflammation, cancer, and the production of reactive oxidative species that can spread beyond the accumulation site.³¹⁶

Cytotoxic effects within cells can be caused in many ways. Once internalized, the cell will eventually attempt to metabolize the particles.^{307,311,317} Animal cells commonly use proteasomal or lysosomal pathways for protein degradation, but these mechanisms only work on proteins because certain amino acid structures are needed to initiate proteolysis.³¹⁸ Lysosomal vesicles also drop the pH, which can help to degrade some persistent structures, but synthetic or inorganic nanomaterials, such as polystyrene, carbon nanotubes, gold, or silver particles can often resist these conditions.³¹⁹ Nanomaterials that resist lysosomal action can lead to lysosomal dysfunction, commonly in the form of lysosome membrane permeabilization, which often leads to cell death. Importantly, it is unknown whether lignin resists lysosomal degradation or not.

Nevertheless animal cells deal with the accumulation of nondegradable protein structures frequently.^{307,311,317} For example, while mildly oxidized proteins can be metabolized through proteasomal or lysosomal pathways, heavily oxidized proteins can form large aggregates that resist proteolysis,³²⁰ such as oxidized low-density lipoproteins and lipofuscin, which is also formed by oxidation.³²¹ Although the accumulation of both lipoproteins and lipofuscin is normal to some extent, it can lead to problems such as atherosclerosis and reduced lysosomal activity and dementia.^{321,322} Lignin nevertheless provides antioxidant properties, which could reduce the damage of reactive oxidative species, which promote the formation of nondegradable protein aggregates, lipofuscin, DNA damage, and more.^{320,321,323} Therefore, LNPs could be a good option to replace inorganic or synthetic particles for short and nonreoccurring treatments, such as cancer treatments, regardless of degradation. However, more studies on this topic are needed.

Nanoparticles are not only studied to be used as drug vectors in the biomedicinal field. Antibiotic-resistant bacteria are increasingly common globally, and nanoparticles have potential to be used as treatment when antibiotics fail.³²⁴ There have been a few studies on LNPs as antimicrobial agents, but many only use the LNPs as vector, e.g. for silver,

which is the actual antimicrobial agent.^{299,325,375} However, LNPs have shown some antimicrobial properties against specific bacteria, but the mechanism behind the antimicrobial activity remains unknown.²⁹⁹ Still, if the surface chemistry and particle size are contributors to the antimicrobial activity, additional studies on other types of nanoparticles could provide insight into the mechanism for LNPs and how LNPs should be used best as an antimicrobial agent.

Lintinen et al. observed a rather high growth inhibition for unmodified LNPs against Pseudumonas aeruginosa and Stapylococcus aureus but not for Escherichia coli.²⁹⁹ Good growth inhibition against S. aureus but poor inhibition against E. coli was also observed by Gerbin et al.³²⁶ There is little knowledge available regarding the antibacterial mechanisms of nanoparticles against these bacteria, but it is unlikely that particles of above 100 nm are internalized through the rigid bacterial cell wall, so the disruption of the cell wall from the outside is most likely. In addition, because P. aeruginosa and S. aureus are particularly notorious biofilm producers, while E. coli both resides as individual cells and within biofilms,³²⁷⁻³³³ one reason for the LNP's growth inhibition in these bacteria could be the inhibition of biofilm formation. For example, quercetin, a natural flavonoid with an aromatic structure, is able to inhibit biofilm formation in *P. aeruginosa* by adhering to the bacteria's surfaces.334

Unmodified LNPs have shown low cytotoxicity against mammalian cells^{199,266,296,297} and could thus be suitable for tissue engineering.^{199,298} Nanoparticles have also gathered interest in tissue engineering as they can both be used to tailor the mechanical strength of scaffolds¹⁹⁹ and work as vectors for bioactive agents.³³⁵ Although LNPs have not yet extensively been studied for tissue engineering, studies on their use as drug carriers and reinforcing materials in composites provide some foundational information. We thus discuss some ways in which LNPs could be used in this area.

Many scaffold matrices are at least partially fabricated from synthetic materials, while commonly used natural materials include collagen, actin, and fibronectin in addition to CNF discussed in section 3.4. Many synthetic polymers can elicit a foreign body response within the host cell upon plantation.^{336,337} Such a response can cause surrounding immune response cells to create a fibrotic capsule to seal off the foreign structure completely. Even synthetic materials that are widely used and regarded as prominent in tissue engineering can be rejected by the immune response.³³⁷ Lignin has not initiated such a response in various tests both in vitro and in vivo and could thus be a suitable biomaterial additive for scaffolds.³³⁶ In fact, lignin antioxidant properties have been beneficial to dampen harm to the surrounding cells and thus decrease rejection.³³⁷ Lignin nanofibers could be an interesting structural element in scaffolds and gels,³³⁷⁻³³⁹ and we thus refer to section 3.4 for a brief overview of the subject.

When the cells have differentiated in the scaffold, they start to produce their own ECM, which eventually replaces the scaffold's matrix structure. The scaffold itself should therefore dissolve or diffuse over time, however, if the matrix does so too quickly, it may not provide enough time for cultured cells to create their own matrix structures or create disturbances in the surrounding tissue and initiate inflammation.³⁴⁰ Especially in load-bearing scaffolds (bones and articular cartilage), the strength and degradation speed are highly important because the combination of regenerated tissue and the scaffold should be able to bear sufficient load throughout the scaffold's whole degradation process.^{340–342} Because the body has no mechanisms for degrading lignin, LNPs will likely not degrade in vivo, which makes it plausible that they could be used to prolong the scaffold's breakdown time. Nanoparticles in general can be used to improve the mechanical properties and prolong breakdown times of scaffolds,^{343–345} and LNPs could likely be used for this as well.¹⁹⁹

Cross-linking is another method used to increase a scaffold's mechanical properties.^{346,347} LNP-reinforced scaffolds could likewise be strengthened by cross-linking LNPs with polymers in its matrix using calcium (electrostatic cross-linking)³⁴⁸ or epoxy chemistry (covalent cross-linking),^{267,349,350} for example. Because LNPs can provide strength both as a cross-linking site and as a particulate hardener,^{199,250} the balance between strength and degradation speed can be adjusted and tuned through particle size, concentration, and degree of cross-linking.

4.6. Lignin-Based Fibers

Although LNPs have dominated the discussion so far, we will also direct some attention toward lignin nanofibers, which is an emerging field. Because of its bulky and branched structure, lignin is a brittle material with a short effective "reach" despite its moderately high molecular weight. Lignin fibers and nanofibers therefore need linear copolymers as additives to increase intermolecular interactions and thus reduce brittleness. Various polymers can be used as copolymer and can be either blended in a melt with the lignin or grafted onto the lignin. However, because some lignins easily aggregate within polymer blends,³⁵¹ copolymerization may be a better option depending on the lignin.^{337,339,352} While lignin-based fibers can be produced using a variety of methods, lignin nanofibers are primarily prepared using electrospinning.³⁵³ The thickness and strength of the fibers are affected by the force at which the fibers are pulled, that is, the voltage, the solution's viscosity, and the solvent's evaporation rate.^{354,355} The viscosity can be increased by increasing the concentration and especially by increasing the copolymer concentration, depending on its molecular weight. Therefore, spinning pure lignin fibers is highly challenging.353

The properties of the fibers depend on the lignin that is used, and fractionation can be used to obtain specific lignins to tailor the properties of the fibers. For example, electrospun fibers from acetone insoluble lignin and poly(ethylene oxide) had a higher heat storage moduli and better ability to retain their fiber morphologies when heated above 150 °C compared to fibers made from acetone-soluble lignin. In addition, acetone insoluble lignin produce hydrophilic fibers, while acetone soluble lignin fibers are rather hydrophobic.³⁵² Hydrophilic fibers, such as those from acetone-insoluble lignin, may be useful in hydrogels or certain biomedical scaffold materials. Lignin's antioxidant properties have been very useful in nanofibers for biomedical applications. For example, in section 4.5, we mentioned that many synthetic polymers can be problematic in biomedical scaffolds, as they lead to the formation of ROS. However, scaffolds from fibers of ligninpoly(lactic acid) copolymers and poly-L-lactide showed reduced formation of ROS and increased proliferation of stem cells.³³⁷ Similar results have been obtained for neurons and Schwann cells cultured on a substrate of nanofibers from lignin –polycaprolactone copolymers.³³⁹ The lignin fibers can also be surface modified. For example, although many ligninbased nanofibers are hydrophobic, ^{337,339,351} hydrophilicity and

interactions with salt ions can be increased by grafting poly-*N*isopropylacrylamide brushes onto lignin-poly(ethylene oxide) fibers.³³⁸ Because the preparation of lignin-based nanofibers is versatile, and their properties can be modified according to application by choosing not only the lignin, but also the copolymer, lignin-based nanofibers have a lot of potential in various applications, including composites, biomedicine, energy storage, and aerospace.^{337–339,351} However, we note that more systematic research on the interactions between lignin and polymer in blends and between lignin and solvent during spinning would be beneficial for the optimization of these systems.

5. LIGNIN CONTAINING CELLULOSE NANOMATERIALS

Recently, scientists have suggested combining the advantages of both cellulose and lignin in nanomaterials. There are different ways to achieve this. One approach is to produce CNMs with residual lignin, often called L-CNM in literature. L-CNF can be produced either by fibrillation of unbleached pulp^{102,356–358} or from biorefinery residues.³⁵⁹ When the lignin content is low (<20 wt %), the lignin generally facilitated fibrillation, while the opposite trend was observed for pulp with higher lignin content. Solala et al.,³⁵⁶ suggested that at low or moderate lignin content, the residual lignin is able to stabilize the free radicals that are formed during the mechanical grinding into stable phenoxy radicals. In the absence of lignin, the radicals were rapidly quenched. At high residual lignin content, the lignin is affecting the mechanical properties of the fibers, making them stiffer and restricting their swelling ability. As a consequence, the fibrillation efficiency is poorer. In an attempt to show full valorization of the lignin residues from a second-generation bioethanol production process, both LNPs and L-CNF was produced from the residue via acetone extraction. In this process, the majority of the polysaccharides had already been utilized for the bioethanol production and the residual fraction was partly degraded, hence the quality of the obtained L-CNF was not as high as achieved from unbleached pulp. Nevertheless surprisingly promising barrier properties were demonstrated for composite films including pure CNF, L-CNF, and LNPs.³⁵⁹

L-CNCs have also been produced to some extent, but the yield seems to generally be lower in the presence of lignin.³⁶⁰ Other methods to produce lignin-containing CNF are to adsorb soluble lignin,³⁶¹ graft lignin to the CNF surface,³⁶² or combine CNF and LNPs.^{249,363} These three approaches will result in slightly different surface properties. Unfortunately the literature on surface interactions of lignin containing CNMs is scarce. L-CNFs and L-CNCs have been observed to have slightly lower surface charge³⁶⁴ compared to pure CNMs. This could decrease their colloidal stability and make them more susceptible for aggregation by addition of salt. Water retention value (WRV) has been used to probe the interaction of L-CNF with water, and L-CNF has generally been found to have lower WRV than CNF from bleached pulp.¹⁰² However, we note that the water retention is related both to the degree of fibrillation as well as to the hydrophilicity of the fibril surface. Hence these two properties cannot be decoupled. Unbleached pulp may furthermore have a higher number of residual hemicelluloses. Residual hemicelluloses generally lead to increased swelling that consequently leads to both easier fibrillation and higher WRV³⁶⁵ adding to the challenge of addressing the surface chemistry of L-CNF only based on WRV. Consequently

pubs.acs.org/CR

Table 1. Analytical Methods Commonly Employed to Study Surface Properties and Interactions of Biobased Nanomaterials

Atomic force microscopy (AFM)			
Working principle		Sample preparation	
For high-resolution images, the tip scans over the surface in a raster-scan manner of the cantilever is recorded with a laser beam reflected from the cantilever Interaction forces are measured from the deflection of the cantilever while a retracting the tip (or a colloidal probe) and the sample to/from each other.	er, and the deflection to a photodetector. pproaching and	No special sample preparation is needed for imaging.	
		For force measurements, the molecules or materials of interest need to be immobilized on a substrate and on the tip or a colloidal probe attached to a tipless cantilever.	
Acces	ssible Info		
• Sample topography (3D nano/microscale images).			
• Mechanical properties (deformation, elastic modulus) of the sample surface.			
 Interaction and binding forces between molecules or materials. 			
Advantages		Limitations	
•3D images with subnanometric resolution.		• The samples to be imaged should not be too rough (typically roughness below a few micrometers).	
\bullet High sensitivity (~ pN) for force detection within the range 10 pN to 1	00 nN.	• Information from only a small, local area.	
• Both dry samples and samples in liquid can be analyzed.		• Vertical dimensions (height) are measured precisely, but lateral dimensions are usually overestimated because of the tip geometry (deconvolution corrections may be needed).	
 Several scanning modes are available that can provide additional information and electrical properties of the sample. 	on on the mechanical	• Sample preparation for force measurements can be time-consuming.	
• It can follow changes in the sample in real-time.		• In force-vs-distance curves, the separation between the interacting surfaces or molecules is not directly measured but calculated by assuming that the samples are in contact at the maximum applied force on approach.	
• Change of temperature or adsorption of molecules can be done in situ (e., of polymer adsorption on the interaction between surfaces in liquid).	g., to study the effect	• The microscale roughness of the samples can affect the reproducibility of force measurements and their fitting with established theoretical models.	
• Different setups are possible for force measurements (e.g., colloidal prob molecule force spectroscopy, single-cell force spectroscopy).	e technique, single-	• The attachment of cells to cantilevers for the measurement of cell-material interactions may compromise cell viability.	
Scanning electron	n microscopy (SEM)		
Working principle		Sample preparation	
high-energy beam of electrons is focused onto a sample surface. The ejected X- ays, backscattered electrons, and secondary electrons are collected by the letectors and converted into a signal which forms the image. Accessible lufe			
• Shape and size of features in the specimen (high-resolution images at pano/	microscale).		
Advantages	Limitations		
• High-resolution images with nanometric resolution.	 Samples must 	st be solid.	
• Easy to operate and short measurement time.	• SEM cannot detect elements with atomic numbers <11.		
• A variety of materials can be analyzed.	• Only surface features can be explored.		
• Greater depth of focus and higher magnification compared to optical microscopy.	• The height of information).	of the features in the images is not accessible (no 3D	
Quartz crystal microbalance wit	h dissipation monitor	ing (QCM-D)	
Working principle		Sample preparation	
Changes in the resonance frequency of a quartz crystal and the dissipation of the oscillation energy are measured during the adsorption or desorption of molecules or nanoparticles.	Adsorption can be m deposited on the Q injected using a flo	easured directly on bare QCM-D sensors or model thin films QCM-D sensors (e.g., by spin-coating). The analyte species is w chamber.	
Acces	ssible Info		
Adsorption and desorption kinetics.			
 viscoelastic properties of the adsorbed layers. Swalling and degralling of this layer. 			
Swening and deswening of thin layers.	Limitations		
• High sensitivity in mass detection (<1 ng/cm ²)	Model thin film	as are required as substrates	
Adsorption can be monitored in real-time	Unable to disti	nouish selective adsorption of multiple component systems	
• It provides quantitative information on adsorbed mass and qualitative	• The sensed ma	ss includes both substance adsorption and bound solvent	

• It provides quantitative information on adsorbed mass and qualitative information on the viscoelasticity of the adsorbed layer.

• Label-free method.

• The sensed mass includes both substance adsorption and bound solvent molecules, and their respective contributions are difficult to decouple.

pubs.acs.org/CR

Table 1. continued Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) Working principle Sample preparation Plane-polarized light can generate surface plasmons at the interface between a metal (gold) and a dielectric Adsorption can be measured directly on bare SPR sensors or model thin films deposited on the SPR sensors (e.g., by spin-coating). The analyte species is medium at a particular angle (SPR angle) under total internal reflection conditions. The adsorption of molecules or nanoparticles causes a change in the refractive index leading to a change in the SPR angle, which is proportional to the mass adsorbed. injected using a flow chamber. Accessible Info • Adsorption and desorption kinetics. • Kinetics of intermolecular interactions. • Thickness and refractive index of the adsorbed layer when two wavelength lasers are used. Limitations Advantages • High sensitivity in mass detection ($\leq 1 \text{ ng/cm}^2$). • Model thin films are required as substrates. • Unable to distinguish selective adsorption of • Adsorption can be monitored in real-time. multiple component systems. • It provides quantitative information of adsorbed mass. Label-free method. • Unlike QCM-D, SPR is an optical technique that is less sensitive to bound solvent molecules. Spectroscopic ellipsometry, flow cell (SE) Working principle Sample preparation Changes in the state of polarization of light are measured upon reflection at No special sample preparation is needed. an interface. Accessible Info • In situ adsorption. Interfacial mixing. • Swelling and deswelling. • Composition. • Film thickness. • Crystallinity. Refractive index • Anisotropy. • Surface roughness. • Uniformity. Advantages Limitations • Fast and generally available. • The standard analysis applies to only homogeneous, well-defined layers adsorbed on flat surfaces. • Noninvasive, nondestructive. • Several film properties can be determined simultaneously. • Difficult to set models for composite surfaces. X-ray reflectivity (XRR) Working principle Sample preparation The sample surface is irradiated with a beam of X-rays over a range of angles close to the critical angle for total No special sample preparation is needed. reflection. A portion of X-rays is reflected at every interface, creating a reflectometry pattern. Accessible Info • The layer thickness of thin films and multilayers. Surface and interface roughness. • Surface density gradients and layer density. Limitations Advantages • Fast measurements. • Maximum film thickness ~300 nm. • Large areas can be analyzed (up to 300 mm). · Surface roughness must be lower than ~5 nm for thickness determination. • No vacuum requirements. • Can be applied to conductive and insulating samples. • Prior knowledge about the type of surface is required. • In situ adsorption. Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) Working principle Sample preparation The sample is exposed to IR radiation to excite vibrations in molecular bonds. The Samples in various states, e.g., solids and liquids, can be analyzed. No absorption peaks in the spectra at characteristic wavelengths indicate chemical groups special sample preparation is needed. present in the sample. Accessible Info • The molecular structure of the material. • Qualitative information on inter- and intramolecular interactions, water interactions, and conformational changes. Advantages Limitations • Nondestructive. Less surface-sensitive compared to XPS. • Fast and accurate. • Difficult to directly analyze the IR spectra qualitatively and quantitatively because bands are often wide, strong, and overlap with each other. • Easy to operate. · Solid samples should be in a dry form such as free-standing films or powders. • Generally available. • Water left in sample decreases accuracy.

Table 1. continued

Table 1. continued			
X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS)			
Working principle	Sample preparation		
The sample is irradiated with X-rays and emits photoelectrons. The intensity of the detected photoelectrons is then plotted as a function of their binding energy for analysis.	The measurements are done in (ultra)high vacuum conditions. Nevertheless, ambient pressure XPS tools also exist, so no vacuum is required. No special sample preparation is needed.		

Accessible Info

• Surface chemical composition and chemical bonds on the surface.

Advantages

- Surface sensitive.
- Quantitative chemical composition of the sample surface.
- Relatively small sample amounts are needed.

- Limitations • (Ultra)high vacuum is usually required.
 - The sample must tolerate (ultra)high vacuum.
 - \bullet Only for surface analysis (analysis depth below 10 nm for classical Al K $\!\alpha$ source).
 - Changes in sample surface due to water loss cannot be overruled.

• Complex and expensive device.

	Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR)		
Working principle	Sample	e preparation	
Constant and oscillating magnetic fields are applied to the sample and the response from the nuclei of the atoms is detected with sensitive radio frequency receivers.	In liquid-state NMR, samples with correct concentration are dissolved in suitable deuterated solvents and transferred to NMR tube (typically 5 mm diameter). Additional solvents generally need to be removed before sample preparation, solids need to be filtered, and in some cases, degassing is required.		
	In solid-state NMR, samples are packed inside th usually made of zirconia.	e rotors of various outer of	diameters (1–7 mm usually),
	Accessible Info		
• Provides a range of information: molecular structure, d	ynamics, interactions, physical parameters, and qu	antification.	
Advantages	Limitations		
• Molecules can be measured in their native state.	Molecules can be measured in their native state. • Expensive equipment and maintenance.		
• Various nuclei can be detected.	• Spectral assignment and data analysis can	be complex in some kinds	s of samples.
• Various 1, 2 and 3-dimensional experiments and their combinations can be utilized.	• Spectral interferences from impurities and	solvent.	
 Nondestructive technique. 	 Not surface-sensitive. 		
• Amenable to many sample types: solutions, solids, tissues, and gas.	• Often requires the dissolution of samples.		
• Spectral databases.			
	Water contact angle (WCA)		
I	Norking principle		Sample preparation
A drop of water is placed on the specimen surface, and the liquid, gas and solid phases meet) is measured. For advar respectively, while measuring the contact angle in real t	e resulting angle formed by the droplet at the three- ncing and receding angles, the volume of the drop is time.	phase boundary (where increased or decreased,	No special sample preparation is needed.
	Accessible Info		
• Sample wettability (water contact angle).			
• Surface free energy, surface/interfacial tension.			
Advantages			Limitations
• Inexpensive.			• Artifact-prone, swelling of substrate.
• Simple and rapid.			• Measuring the WCA of highly hydrophilic surfaces is challenging.
• A small amount of water required.			 Surface chemistry information is not accessible.
	Dynamic light scattering (DLS)		
Working prin	nciple	Sample	preparation
The intensity of the light scattered by a dispersion fluctu	ates due to the Brownian motion of the particles	Dispersions should be r	repared at an appropriate
The analysis of those fluctuations provides the particle's the hydrodynamic radius is obtained.	s translational diffusion coefficient through which	concentration, but off preparation is needed.	nerwise, no special sample
	Accessible Info		
• Hydrodynamic radius.			
• Size distribution and polydispersity index (PDI).			
Advantages		Limitations	
• Applicable to a wide range of materials.		 Particle geometry 	is ignored.
• Short measurement time.		 Overestimation of layer. Adjustment of optimal measurement 	particle size due to hydration f sample concentration for hts.
• Noninvasive, simple.			
• Particle size range of 1–1000 nm.			

Review

wetting studies using water contact angle measurements or other more surface sensitive methods like QCM-D should be applied to probe the effect of lignin on water interactions of CNMs.

The motivation behind using lignin-containing CNMs are 2fold. On the one hand, the sustainability aspect of utilizing a waste stream for added value materials³⁵⁹ in the case of biorefinery residues or decreasing the processing steps when using unbleached pulp. On the other hand, all the anticipated benefits like compatibility with polymer matrix in composites, better water resistance, and resistance against oxidation and UV degradation are even more important motivations for using lignin containing CNMs. The use of CLPs together with CNF has the advantage of both nanomaterials being hydrophilic and easily dispersed in aqueous media. So far, these nanomaterials have been combined in films and hydrogels.^{199,249} However, more research is needed on the tuning of the surface chemistry of the LNPs for advanced materials as well as characterizing their interactions.

6. TECHNIQUES TO STUDY INTERACTIONS

In the previous sections (sections 3.2-5), our current understanding of the surface properties and interactions of plant-based nanomaterials was reviewed. This understanding is based on the methods that have been available. To facilitate the choice of suitable methods for further investigations, some general information, advantages, and disadvantages of the main analytical methods used for the study of properties and interactions of biobased nanomaterials are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1 describes methods that have been reasonably often used to study interactions of plant-based nanomaterials. Notably, the AFM in various configurations (colloidal probe microscopy, single cell force spectroscopy, or single molecule force spectroscopy) is one of the few methods that directly probe the force as a function of separation, enabling correlation to DLVO and other theories of colloidal stability. This has been successfully used for CNMs, but there are only a few studies on lignin model surfaces and no available reports on LNPs using force measurements. The various adsorption methods (QCM-D, XRR, SPR, and ellipsometry) have all been extensively applied especially for CNMs but lately also to a lesser extent for LNPs. QCM-D is probably the most commonly used method to probe adsorption, swelling, and deswelling kinetics as well as viscoelastic properties of layers. Due to the slightly different mechanisms of detection, a combination of methods is advantageous.^{89,264,28}

The spectroscopic methods (NMR, FTIR, and XPS) are slightly different; they do not probe surface interactions in situ but can detect interaction like formation of new covalent or hydrogen bonds in bulk or, in the case of XPS, at the surface. Contact angle measurements are commonly applied to study the wetting properties of thin films from CNMs or LNM, that is, the interactions with water, while DLS can be used to probe aggregation of particles in dispersion but does not give very detailed information on interactions.

The analytical tools probing the surface interactions affecting nanomaterials assembly is rapidly evolving. Another positive trend is the increased efforts to apply computational and modeling tools to increase our understanding of the systems. Modeling and simulation can provide insight into the favorable mechanisms and thermodynamics during nanomaterial assemblies, interfacial dynamism between nanomaterial components, such as nanoparticle interactions with synthetic and biopolymers, polyelectrolytes, other nanoparticles and water along with molecular origin of interactions.³⁶⁶ It is not farfetched that deployment of these technological advances in experimental and numerical tools will lead to next-generation nanomaterials assemblies with tunable, adaptable, and interacting property pathways. Scattering methods have significantly increased our understanding of CNMs but have, with a few exceptions, not yet been applied to LNPs.^{367–369}

With ever-expanding methods of nanoparticle synthesis and functionalization, a continuous improvement in highly accurate physical and chemical characterization methods is a prerequisite. Interestingly and notably, there are many characterization techniques which are utilized on a regular basis in the field of polymer science to gain fundamental understanding of polymer-polymer or polymer-nanoparticle interactions, but their adoption by the scientific community involved in the field of biobased nanomaterials has remained impeded. Such characterization techniques include mass spectrometry, isothermal titration calorimetry, sum frequency generation vibrational spectroscopy, and broadband dielectric spectroscopy. There are a few studies available indicating the potential of these methods.^{131,370–372} These are powerful analytical tools with the collective capabilities to study noncovalent interactions, analyze interactions by their thermodynamic patterns, molecular structures of buried solid/solid interfaces, and analyzing the molecular dynamics of polar segments that relax at the vicinity of nanoparticles. Without a doubt, the information gained from the above-mentioned tools is of unparallel importance, but it is likely that, due to the multidisciplinary and rapidly evolving nature of the bionanomaterials research field, a research group's access to a range of characterization tools is limited. Furthermore, each characterization technique requires sophisticated data analysis and interpretation that can be beyond the expertise of a research group. Therefore it is imperative to build scientific collaborations to share knowledge, skills, tools, and techniques to accumulate a large body of knowledge that leads to scientific achievements and consequently economic development and growth.

7. CONCLUSIONS AND OUTLOOK

In this review, we have summarized the main surface characteristics of plant-based nanomaterials and their interactions with aqueous and nonpolar media as well as with polymers, proteins, and cells. We also described typical and less common methods that have been used for probing these interactions. Due to the extensive and thorough investigations of CNM interactions during the last 15 years, we have a reasonably good understanding of the main factors governing their behavior in aqueous media. Polymer adsorption to CNMs has also been rather extensively studied. Some key reports showing the effect of cellulose amphiphilicity on modification strategies for CNMs has advanced the use of CNMs in advanced materials. However, there are still knowledge gaps to be filled. One issue relates to the use of CNMs in biomedical applications, including tissue engineering and drug delivery. While there have been breakthroughs in, for example, the use of CNF hydrogels for wound healing, this research area would benefit from more understanding of the interactions between living cells and CNMs. The label-free and surface sensitive methods described in this review could nicely complement fluorescence microscopy and other assays more commonly

used in biopharmaceutics. However, interdisciplinary collaboration is important to further development. Deep understanding of cell physiology is needed to ensure that cells stay alive during measurements and that relevant experimental setups are used, while fundamental understanding of the materials chemistry, colloid chemistry, and cell physiology is required for robust interpretation of results. Hydrogel stiffness and porosity is also essential for cell viability and transport of nutrients or drugs. While rheology measurements tell us about viscoelastic properties of the hydrogels, combining them with interactions studies using other methods would enable decoupling of the various reasons for changes in viscoelasticity like effect of solids content, charge water binding, particle size distribution, and aspect ratio. Differential scanning calorimetry thermoporometry measurements reveal pore size and volume in the nanometer range and could be used to a higher extent for hydrogel characterization. CNMs are also gaining interest in various foam or aerogel structures. More work on interaction with CNMs with nonpolar media could boost this research area.

Regarding LNPs, most focus has to date been on preparation and use of the particles, and significantly fewer efforts have been toward understanding their interactions. Compared to CNMs, this field is just emerging. A positive exception is the recent efforts combining detailed characterization with molecular modeling that has been applied to better understand the interactions governing the particle formation and parameters affecting the particle properties. However, due to the structural complexity of lignin, more research using different lignins, and looking more into the solvent—solvent interactions are desired for a better understanding of these complex supramolecular assemblies.

While it is indeed important to know how to tune the properties of LNPs, their surface interactions in applications are just as important but yet largely unexplored. This lack of knowledge is most probably hampering the efficient use of LNPs in applications. Herein, we note that because LNPs also bind water, similar effects due to water binding that have been observed for CNMs could occur also with LNPs. This phenomenon is worth further exploration, both fundamentally using surface sensitive techniques and in applications. We also note that, due to the complex chemistry of lignin and lack of fundamental studies, all kinds of interactions, ranging from hydrophobic, $\pi - \pi$ and hydrogen bonds to electrostatic and vdW interactions are suggested when describing LNP interactions. However, these conclusions are seldom combined with experimental evidence. To date, direct interaction forces have not been measured using LNPs, but they could tell us what forces are dominating in specific situations. Furthermore, it is important to investigate how much variations in lignin source or particle preparation method affects interactions in final applications. This information would help in designing new materials; especially useful would be to probe how various surface modifications affect interactions. Not only AFM measurements but as large a variety as possible of different experimental methods in combination with molecular modeling should be applied to further our understanding of LNPs. This knowledge will play an important role in the development of any application for LNP. However, understanding and being able to tailor surface interactions is especially important for biomedical applications, where comprehending surface interactions is crucial to develop safe and effective treatments.

The need to combine methods does not only apply to LNPs but in general to all systems containing plant-based nanomaterials. Various methods probe interactions at different length scales (colloidal forces vs chemical bonds), in different states (dry or wet), or single interactions versus average over larger areas. Hence, one method is seldom enough. Just like scientists from other fields are getting interested in plant-based nanomaterials, we should look for potential new characterization methods more commonly used in other fields. The best methods depend on the intended applications. For example, in hydrogels, Pickering emulsions, and particle and film formation in aqueous media, the stiffness, rheological properties, selfassembly, stability, and distribution of components will be governed by long-ranged colloidal forces. As a consequence methods probing interactions in liquid, like colloidal probe microscopy, QCM-D, SPR, and calorimetry are useful. Then again short-ranged forces like hydrogen bonds and $\pi - \pi$ interactions becomes important when discussing the strength of formed particles, films, and composites. To access these interactions, spectroscopy can be used but also other techniques that are less commonly used within the biomaterials research field should be explored. The importance of combining experimental studies with modeling and fundamental knowledge on interaction forces and polymer adsorption theory cannot be stressed enough to avoid misleading speculations and spreading of misconceptions. In summary, we hope that this review will inspire scientists to utilize the inherent surface properties of biobased nanomaterials to develop novel, value added, and sustainable materials.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

Monika Österberg – Department of Bioproducts and Biosystems, School of Chemical Engineering, Aalto University, 02150 Espoo, Finland; orcid.org/0000-0002-3558-9172; Email: monika.osterberg@aalto.fi

Authors

- K. Alexander Henn Department of Bioproducts and Biosystems, School of Chemical Engineering, Aalto University, 02150 Espoo, Finland; orcid.org/0000-0002-0637-6610
- Muhammad Farooq Department of Bioproducts and Biosystems, School of Chemical Engineering, Aalto University, 02150 Espoo, Finland; orcid.org/0000-0003-2301-7449
- Juan José Valle-Delgado Department of Bioproducts and Biosystems, School of Chemical Engineering, Aalto University, 02150 Espoo, Finland; orcid.org/0000-0002-4808-1730

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.2c00492

Author Contributions

CRediT: **Monika** Österberg conceptualization, funding acquisition, project administration, supervision, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing; K. Alexander Henn visualization, writing-original draft; **Muhammad Farooq** visualization, writing-original draft; **Juan José Valle-Delgado** writing-original draft, writing-review & editing.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies

Monika Österberg is Professor in Bioproducts Chemistry and Head of the Department of Bioproducts and Biosystems at the School of Chemical Engineering, Aalto University. She received her Ph.D. in Surface Chemistry from the Royal Institute of Technology (KTH) in 2000. In 2012, she joined the faculty of Aalto University and was tenured in 2016. Currently, she is research PI of the FinnCERES Competence Centre for Materials Bioeconomy. Her research aims to enhance the sustainable use of natural resources, with research interests in fundamental interfacial phenomena of forest biomaterials like lignin, cellulose, and hemicelluloses, and the development of new materials from these polymers. Lignocellulosic nanomaterials is one of the main focus areas.

K. Alexander Henn is a doctoral student in the Department of Bioproducts and Biosystems at Aalto University. He specializes in lignin particles, which has been his research area since 2017. He received his Master's degree in Biomaterials Technology in 2020 and began his doctoral studies in 2021 in Professor Monika Österberg's research group. Currently, he is working with lignin-based adhesives and composites, with prior experience in coatings of lignin nanoparticles and epoxies, enzymatic treatments of lignin and the use of lignin particles for thermal storage applications. He has some background in synthetic biology, which was the topic of his Bachelor's thesis and minor subject in his Master's studies. He is also skilled in three-dimensional graphical modelling, which he utilizes to teach and visualize science.

Muhammad Farooq is a postdoctoral researcher in the Department of Bioproducts and Biosystems at Aalto University. He received his Ph.D. in 2021 on lignocellulosic building blocks for aerogels and nanocomposite applications under the supervision of Prof. Monika Österberg. He has prior experience in polymer science from his Master's studies, obtaining his degree from the University of Potsdam in 2014. His research interests are lignocellulosic nanomaterials, biobased polymeric systems, and their interactions at micro- and nanoscales.

Juan José Valle-Delgado is a University Lecturer in the Department of Bioproducts and Biosystems at Aalto University. He received his Ph.D. from the University of Granada (Spain) in 2004. After postdoctoral positions at the Royal Institute of Technology (KTH, Sweden), Institute for Bioengineering of Catalonia (IBEC, Spain), and Barcelona Centre for International Health Research (CRESIB, Spain), Valle-Delgado joined Aalto University in 2012. Since then, he has been working in the group of Prof. Monika Österberg. His research interests include colloidal dispersions, biopolymers, biological systems (proteins and cells), and surface forces at micro-/ nanoscale, with special focus on forest nanomaterials and biomedical applications. He has deep experience with atomic force microscopy (AFM) and different AFM-based techniques.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Österberg, Farooq, and Henn acknowledge Academy of Finland's Flagship Program (project numbers 318890 and 318891, Competence Center for Materials Bioeconomy, FinnCERES), for funding. We thank Dr. Heidi Henrickson for her excellent help with proofreading, list of abbreviations, and guidance.

ABBREVIATIONS

AFM = atomic force microscopy BNC = bacterial nanocellulose Catlig = cationic lignin C-PAM = cationic polyacrylamide CLNP = carboxymethylated lignin nanoparticles CLP = colloidal lignin particle CMC = carboxymethyl cellulose CMC-PEG = CMC with grafted PEG CNC = cellulose nanocrystal CNF = cellulose nanofibril CNM = cellulose nanomaterial DMA = dimethyl acetamide DMSO = dimethyl sulfoxide DSC = differential scanning calorimetry DXN = 1.4-dioxane E. coli = Escherichia coli ECM = extracellular matrix EDL = electrostatic double layer EPTMAC = 2,3-epoxypropyl trimethylammonium chloride FTIR = Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy G-lignin = guaiacyl lignin GG = guar gum galactomannan GGM = galactoglucomannan H-lignin = p-hydroxyphenyl lignin HepG2 = human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line L-CNC = lignin-containing CNCs L-CNF = CNF containing residual lignin L-CNM = CNM produced with residual lignin LNP = lignin nanoparticle LNM = lignin nanomaterials NMR = nuclear magnetic resonance P. aeruginosa = Pseudumonas aeruginosa PAE = poly(amideamine) epichlorohydrin PAH = poly(allylamine hydrochloride) $PCL = poly(\varepsilon$ -caprolactone) PDADMAC = poly(diallyldimethylammonium chloride) PEG = polyethylene glycol PLA = poly(lactic acid)PLNPs = carboxypentylated lignin nanoparticles PVA = poly(vinyl alcohol) PVAm = polyvinylamine QCM-D = quartz crystal microbalance with dissipation monitoring RH = relative humidity S-lignin = syringyl lignin S. aureus = Stapylococcus aureus SMFS = single molecule force spectroscopy SFA = surface force apparatus SPAR = stagnation point adsorption reflectometry SPR = surface plasmon resonance TEMPO = 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl THF = tetrahydrofuran TOCNF = TEMPO-oxidized cellulose nanofibers vdW = van der Waals WA07 = human pluripotent stem cell WRV = water retention value XPS = X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy XG = xyloglucan

Review

REFERENCES

(1) Nechyporchuk, O.; Belgacem, M. N.; Bras, J. Production of Cellulose Nanofibrils: A Review of Recent Advances. *Ind. Crops Prod.* **2016**, *93*, 2–25.

(2) Habibi, Y.; Lucia, L. A.; Rojas, O. J. Cellulose Nanocrystals: Chemistry, Self-Assembly, and Applications. *Chem. Rev.* **2010**, *110*, 3479–3500.

(3) Teodoro, K. B. R.; Sanfelice, R. C.; Migliorini, F. L.; Pavinatto, A.; Facure, M. H. M.; Correa, D. S. A Review on the Role and Performance of Cellulose Nanomaterials in Sensors. *ACS Sensors* **2021**, *6*, 2473–2496.

(4) Foster, E. J.; Moon, R. J.; Agarwal, U. P.; Bortner, M. J.; Bras, J.; Camarero-Espinosa, S.; Chan, K. J.; Clift, M. J. D.; Cranston, E. D.; Eichhorn, S. J.; et al. Current Characterization Methods for Cellulose Nanomaterials. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2018**, 47, 2609–2679.

(5) Schneider, W. D. H.; Dillon, A. J. P.; Camassola, M. Lignin Nanoparticles Enter the Scene: A Promising Versatile Green Tool for Multiple Applications. *Biotechnol. Adv.* **2021**, *47*, 107685.

(6) Österberg, M.; Sipponen, M. H.; Mattos, B. D.; Rojas, O. J. Spherical Lignin Particles: A Review on Their Sustainability and Applications. *Green Chem.* **2020**, *22*, 2712–2733.

(7) Mohan, K.; Ganesan, A. R.; Ezhilarasi, P. N.; Kondamareddy, K. K.; Rajan, D. K.; Sathishkumar, P.; Rajarajeswaran, J.; Conterno, L. Green and Eco-Friendly Approaches for the Extraction of Chitin and Chitosan: A Review. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2022**, *287*, 119349.

(8) Lee, S.; Hao, L. T.; Park, J.; Oh, D. X.; Hwang, D. S. Nanochitin and Nanochitosan: Chitin Nanostructure Engineering with Multiscale Properties for Biomedical and Environmental Applications. *Adv. Mater.* **2022**, 2203325.

(9) Bai, L.; Liu, L.; Esquivel, M.; Tardy, B. L.; Huan, S.; Niu, X.; Liu, S.; Yang, G.; Fan, Y.; Rojas, O. J. Nanochitin: Chemistry, Structure, Assembly, and Applications. *Chem. Rev.* **2022**, *122*, 11604–11674.

(10) Boufi, S.; Bel Haaj, S.; Magnin, A.; Pignon, F.; Impéror-Clerc, M.; Mortha, G. Ultrasonic Assisted Production of Starch Nanoparticles: Structural Characterization and Mechanism of Disintegration. *Ultrason. Sonochem.* **2018**, *41*, 327–336.

(11) Torres, F. G.; De-la-Torre, G. E. Synthesis, Characteristics, and Applications of Modified Starch Nanoparticles: A Review. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2022**, *194*, 289–305.

(12) Meng, Z.; Sawada, D.; Laine, C.; Ogawa, Y.; Virtanen, T.; Nishiyama, Y.; Tammelin, T.; Kontturi, E. Bottom-up Construction of Xylan Nanocrystals in Dimethyl Sulfoxide. *Biomacromolecules* **2021**, 22, 898–906.

(13) Hamedi, S.; Yousefi, P.; Garmaroody, R. E.; Koosha, M.A Review on Potential of Hemicellulose for the Production of Bio-Based Materials. *Basparesh***2022**. DOI: 10.22063/BASPAR-ESH.2022.3067.1599

(14) Xiang, Z.; Tang, N.; Jin, X.; Gao, W. Fabrications and Applications of Hemicellulose-Based Bio-Adsorbents. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2022**, *278*, 118945.

(15) Viccaro, M.; Caniani, D. Forest, Agriculture, and Environmental Protection as Path to Sustainable Development. *Nat. Resour. Res.* **2019**, *28*, 1–4.

(16) Solly, E. F.; Brunner, I.; Helmisaari, H.-S.; Herzog, C.; Leppälammi-Kujansuu, J.; Schöning, I.; Schrumpf, M.; Schweingruber, F. H.; Trumbore, S. E.; Hagedorn, F. Unravelling the Age of Fine Roots of Temperate and Boreal Forests. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 3006. (17) Lindenmayer, D. B.; Margules, C. R.; Botkin, D. B. Indicators of Biodiversity for Ecologically Sustainable Forest Management. *Conserv. Biol.* **2000**, *14*, 941–950.

(18) Grönman, K.; Pajula, T.; Sillman, J.; Leino, M.; Vatanen, S.; Kasurinen, H.; Soininen, A.; Soukka, R. Carbon Handprint - An Approach to Assess the Positive Climate Impacts of Products Demonstrated via Renewable Diesel Case. J. Clean. Prod. 2019, 206, 1059–1072.

(19) Norris, G. A.; Burek, J.; Moore, E. A.; Kirchain, R. E.; Gregory, J. Sustainability Health Initiative for NetPositive Enterprise Handprint Methodological Framework. *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess.* **2021**, *26*, 528–542.

(20) Jonoobi, M.; Oladi, R.; Davoudpour, Y.; Oksman, K.; Dufresne, A.; Hamzeh, Y.; Davoodi, R. Different Preparation Methods and Properties of Nanostructured Cellulose from Various Natural Resources and Residues: A Review. *Cellulose* **2015**, *22*, 935–969.

(21) de Amorim, J. D. P.; de Souza, K. C.; Duarte, C. R.; da Silva Duarte, I.; de Assis Sales Ribeiro, F.; Silva, G. S.; de Farias, P. M. A.; Stingl, A.; Costa, A. F. S.; Vinhas, G. M.; et al. Plant and Bacterial Nanocellulose: Production, Properties and Applications in Medicine, Food, Cosmetics, Electronics and Engineering. A Review. *Environ. Chem. Lett.* **2020**, *18*, 851–869.

(22) Ross, I. L.; Shah, S.; Hankamer, B.; Amiralian, N. Microalgal Nanocellulose - Opportunities for a Circular Bioeconomy. *Trends Plant Sci.* **2021**, *26*, 924–939.

(23) Wahid, F.; Huang, L. H.; Zhao, X. Q.; Li, W. C.; Wang, Y. Y.; Jia, S. R.; Zhong, C. Bacterial Cellulose and Its Potential for Biomedical Applications. *Biotechnol. Adv.* **2021**, *53*, 107856.

(24) Nawawi, W. M. F. B. W.; Jones, M.; Murphy, R. J.; Lee, K. Y.; Kontturi, E.; Bismarck, A. Nanomaterials Derived from Fungal Sources-Is It the New Hype? *Biomacromolecules* **2020**, *21*, 30–55.

(25) Ling, S.; Chen, W.; Fan, Y.; Zheng, K.; Jin, K.; Yu, H.; Buehler, M. J.; Kaplan, D. L. Biopolymer Nanofibrils: Structure, Modeling, Preparation, and Applications. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* **2018**, *85*, 1–56.

(26) Tardy, B. L.; Mattos, B. D.; Otoni, C. G.; Beaumont, M.; Majoinen, J.; Kämäräinen, T.; Rojas, O. J. Deconstruction and Reassembly of Renewable Polymers and Biocolloids into Next Generation Structured Materials. *Chem. Rev.* **2021**, *121*, 14088– 14188.

(27) Somerville, C.; Bauer, S.; Brininstool, G.; Facette, M.; Hamann, T.; Milne, J.; Osborne, E.; Paredez, A.; Persson, S.; Raab, T.; et al. Toward a Systems Approach to Understanding Plant Cell Walls. *Science.* **2004**, *306*, 2206–2211.

(28) Cosgrove, D. J. Re-Constructing Our Models of Cellulose and Primary Cell Wall Assembly. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* **2014**, *22*, 122–131.

(29) Kubicki, J. D.; Yang, H.; Sawada, D.; O'Neill, H.; Oehme, D.; Cosgrove, D. The Shape of Native Plant Cellulose Microfibrils. *Sci. Rep.* **2018**, *8*, 13983–8.

(30) Terrett, O. M.; Lyczakowski, J. J.; Yu, L.; Iuga, D.; Franks, W. T.; Brown, S. P.; Dupree, R.; Dupree, P. Molecular Architecture of Softwood Revealed by Solid-State NMR. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 4978.

(31) Nixon, B. T.; Mansouri, K.; Singh, A.; Du, J.; Davis, J. K.; Lee, J.-G.; Slabaugh, E.; Vandavasi, V. G.; O'Neill, H.; Roberts, E. M.; et al. Comparative Structural and Computational Analysis Supports Eighteen Cellulose Synthases in the Plant Cellulose Synthesis Complex. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 28696.

(32) Nishiyama, Y.; Kim, U.-J.; Kim, D.-Y.; Katsumata, K. S.; May, R. P.; Langan, P. Periodic Disorder along Ramie Cellulose Microfibrils. *Biomacromolecules* **2003**, *4*, 1013–1017.

(33) Richmond, T. A.; Somerville, C. R. Integrative Approaches to Determining Csl Function. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **2001**, *47*, 131–143.

(34) Giummarella, N.; Lindén, P. A.; Areskogh, D.; Lawoko, M. Fractional Profiling of Kraft Lignin Structure: Unravelling Insights on Lignin Reaction Mechanisms. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2020**, *8*, 1112–1120.

(35) Balakshin, M.; Capanema, E. A.; Zhu, X.; Sulaeva, I.; Potthast, A.; Rosenau, T.; Rojas, O. J. Spruce Milled Wood Lignin: Linear, Branched or Cross-Linked? *Green Chem.* **2020**, *22*, 3985–4001.

(36) Sadeghifar, H.; Ragauskas, A. Perspective on Technical Lignin Fractionation. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2020**, *8*, 8086–8101.

(37) Balakshin, M. Y.; Capanema, E. A. Comprehensive Structural Analysis of Biorefinery Lignins with a Quantitative 13C NMR Approach. *RSC Adv.* **2015**, *5*, 87187–87199.

(38) Heise, K.; Kontturi, E.; Allahverdiyeva, Y.; Tammelin, T.; Linder, M. B.; Nonappa; Ikkala, O. Nanocellulose: Recent Fundamental Advances and Emerging Biological and Biomimicking Applications. *Adv. Mater.* **2021**, *33*, 2004349.

(39) Thomas, B.; Raj, M. C.; B, A. K.; H, r. M.; Joy, J.; Moores, A.; Drisko, G. L.; Sanchez, C. Nanocellulose, a Versatile Green Platform:

From Biosources to Materials and Their Applications. Chem. Rev. 2018, 118, 11575–11625.

(40) Kontturi, E.; Laaksonen, P.; Linder, M. B.; Nonappa; Gröschel, A. H.; Rojas, O. J.; Ikkala, O. Advanced Materials through Assembly of Nanocelluloses. *Adv. Mater.* **2018**, *30*, 1703779.

(41) Mohammadi, P.; Jonkergouw, C.; Beaune, G.; Engelhardt, P.; Kamada, A.; Timonen, J. V. I.; Knowles, T. P. J.; Penttila, M.; Linder, M. B. Controllable Coacervation of Recombinantly Produced Spider Silk Protein Using Kosmotropic Salts. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2020**, *560*, 149–160.

(42) Lemetti, L.; Hirvonen, S.-P.; Fedorov, D.; Batys, P.; Sammalkorpi, M.; Tenhu, H.; Linder, M. B.; Aranko, A. S. Molecular Crowding Facilitates Assembly of Spidroin-like Proteins through Phase Separation. *Eur. Polym. J.* **2019**, *112*, 539–546.

(43) Mottaghitalab, F.; Farokhi, M.; Shokrgozar, M. A.; Atyabi, F.; Hosseinkhani, H. Silk Fibroin Nanoparticle as a Novel Drug Delivery System. *J. Controlled Release* **2015**, *206*, 161–176.

(44) Crivelli, B.; Perteghella, S.; Bari, E.; Sorrenti, M.; Tripodo, G.; Chlapanidas, T.; Torre, M. L. Silk Nanoparticles: From Inert Supports to Bioactive Natural Carriers for Drug Delivery. *Soft Matter* **2018**, *14*, 546–557.

(45) Qiu, C.; Wang, C.; Gong, C.; McClements, D. J.; Jin, Z.; Wang, J. Advances in Research on Preparation, Characterization, Interaction with Proteins, Digestion and Delivery Systems of Starch-Based Nanoparticles. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2020**, *152*, 117–125.

(46) Kim, H.-Y.; Park, S. S.; Lim, S.-T. Preparation, Characterization and Utilization of Starch Nanoparticles. *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces* **2015**, *126*, 607–620.

(47) Zeng, J.-B.; He, Y.-S.; Li, S.-L.; Wang, Y.-Z. Chitin Whiskers: An Overview. *Biomacromolecules* **2012**, *13*, 1–11.

(48) Peniche, H.; Peniche, C. Chitosan Nanoparticles: A Contribution to Nanomedicine. *Polym. Int.* **2011**, *60*, 883–889.

(49) Israelachvili, J.Intermolecular and Surface Forces, 3rd ed.; Elsevier, 2011.

(50) Derjaguin, B.; Landau, L. Theory of the Stability of Strongly Charged Lyophobic Sols and of the Adhesion of Strongly Charged Particles in Solutions of Electrolytes. *Prog. Surf. Sci.* **1993**, *43*, 30–59. (51) Verwey, E. J. W. Theory of the Stability of Lyophobic Colloids. *J. Phys. Colloid Chem.* **1947**, *51*, 631–636.

(52) Rutland, M. W.; Christenson, H. K. The Effect of Nonionic Surfactant on Ion Adsorption and Hydration Forces. *Langmuir* **1990**, *6*, 1083–1087.

(53) Trokhymchuk, A.; Henderson, D.; Wasan, D. T. A Molecular Theory of the Hydration Force in an Electrolyte Solution. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **1999**, *210*, 320–331.

(54) Israelachvili, J. N.; Pashley, R. M. Molecular Layering of Water at Surfaces and Origin of Repulsive Hydration Forces. *Nature* **1983**, 306, 249–250.

(55) Vigil, G.; Xu, Z.; Steinberg, S.; Israelachvili, J. Interactions of Silica Surfaces. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 1994, 165, 367–385.

(56) Claesson, P. M.; Poptoshev, E.; Blomberg, E.; Dedinaite, A. Polyelectrolyte-Mediated Surface Interactions. *Adv. Colloid Interface Sci.* 2005, *114*, 173–187.

(57) Nanotechnologies—Standard Terms and Their Definition for Cellulose Nanomaterial; Technical Committee ISO/TC229 of the International Organization for Standardization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2017.

(58) Proposed New TAPPI Standard: Standard Terms and Their Definition for Cellulose Nanomaterial; Technical Association of Pulp and Paper Industry (TAPPI), 2011; pp 1–6.

(59) Beck, S.; Méthot, M.; Bouchard, J. General Procedure for Determining Cellulose Nanocrystal Sulfate Half-Ester Content by Conductometric Titration. *Cellulose* **2015**, *22*, 101–116.

(60) Reid, M. S.; Villalobos, M.; Cranston, E. D. Benchmarking Cellulose Nanocrystals: From the Laboratory to Industrial Production. *Langmuir* **201**7, 33, 1583–1598.

(61) Habibi, Y.; Chanzy, H.; Vignon, M. R. TEMPO-Mediated Surface Oxidation of Cellulose Whiskers. *Cellulose* **2006**, *13*, 679– 687. (62) Araki, J.; Wada, M.; Kuga, S.; Okano, T. Biréfringent Glassy Phase of a Cellulose Microcrystal Suspension. *Langmuir* **2000**, *16*, 2413–2415.

(63) Jaekel, E. E.; Sirviö, J. A.; Antonietti, M.; Filonenko, S. One-Step Method for the Preparation of Cationic Nanocellulose in Reactive Eutectic Media. *Green Chem.* **2021**, *23*, 2317–2323.

(64) Saito, T.; Kimura, S.; Nishiyama, Y.; Isogai, A. Cellulose Nanofibers Prepared by TEMPO-Mediated Oxidation of Native Cellulose. *Biomacromolecules* **2007**, *8*, 2485–2491.

(65) Wågberg, L.; Decher, G.; Norgren, M.; Lindström, T.; Ankerfors, M.; Axnäs, K. The Build-up of Polyelectrolyte Multilayers of Microfibrillated Cellulose and Cationic Polyelectrolytes. *Langmuir* **2008**, *24*, 784–795.

(66) Olszewska, A.; Eronen, P.; Johansson, L. S.; Malho, J. M.; Ankerfors, M.; Lindström, T.; Ruokolainen, J.; Laine, J.; Österberg, M. The Behaviour of Cationic NanoFibrillar Cellulose in Aqueous Media. *Cellulose* **2011**, *18*, 1213–1226.

(67) Liimatainen, H.; Suopajärvi, T.; Sirviö, J.; Hormi, O.; Niinimäki, J. Fabrication of Cationic Cellulosic Nanofibrils through Aqueous Quaternization Pretreatment and Their Use in Colloid Aggregation. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2014**, *103*, 187–192.

(68) Eronen, P.; Laine, J.; Ruokolainen, J.; Österberg, M. Comparison of Multilayer Formation Between Different Cellulose Nanofibrils and Cationic Polymers. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2012, 373, 84–93.

(69) Ghasemlou, M.; Daver, F.; Ivanova, E. P.; Habibi, Y.; Adhikari, B. Surface Modifications of Nanocellulose: From Synthesis to High-Performance Nanocomposites. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* **2021**, *119*, 101418.

(70) Afrin, S.; Karim, Z. Isolation and Surface Modification of Nanocellulose: Necessity of Enzymes over Chemicals. *ChemBioEng. Rev.* **2017**, *4*, 289–303.

(71) Harper, B. J.; Clendaniel, A.; Sinche, F.; Way, D.; Hughes, M.; Schardt, J.; Simonsen, J.; Stefaniak, A. B.; Harper, S. L. Impacts of Chemical Modification on the Toxicity of Diverse Nanocellulose Materials to Developing Zebrafish. *Cellulose* **2016**, *23*, 1763–1775.

(72) Leppänen, I.; Lappalainen, T.; Lohtander, T.; Jonkergouw, C.; Arola, S.; Tammelin, T. Capturing Colloidal Nano- and Microplastics with Plant-Based Nanocellulose Networks. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13*, 1814.

(73) Lindman, B.; Karlström, G.; Stigsson, L. On the Mechanism of Dissolution of Cellulose. J. Mol. Liq. 2010, 156, 76–81.

(74) Medronho, B.; Romano, A.; Miguel, M. G.; Stigsson, L.; Lindman, B. Rationalizing Cellulose (in)Solubility: Reviewing Basic Physicochemical Aspects and Role of Hydrophobic Interactions. *Cellulose* **2012**, *19*, 581–587.

(75) Johansson, L. S.; Tammelin, T.; Campbell, J. M.; Setälä, H.; Österberg, M. Experimental Evidence on Medium Driven Cellulose Surface Adaptation Demonstrated Using Nanofibrillated Cellulose. *Soft Matter* **2011**, *7*, 10917–10924.

(76) Aulin, C.; Ahola, S.; Josefsson, P.; Nishino, T.; Hirose, Y.; Österberg, M.; Wågberg, L. Nanoscale Cellulose Films with Different Crystallinities and Mesostructures - Their Surface Properties and Interaction with Water. *Langmuir* **2009**, *25*, 7675–7685.

(77) Tammelin, T.; Abburi, R.; Gestranius, M.; Laine, C.; Setälä, H.; Österberg, M. Correlation between Cellulose Thin Film Supramolecular Structures and Interactions with Water. *Soft Matter* **2015**, *11*, 4273–4282.

(78) Reishofer, D.; Resel, R.; Sattelkow, J.; Fischer, W. J.; Niegelhell, K.; Mohan, T.; Kleinschek, K. S.; Amenitsch, H.; Plank, H.; Tammelin, T.; et al. Humidity Response of Cellulose Thin Films. *Biomacromolecules* **2022**, *23*, 1148–1157.

(79) Niinivaara, E.; Faustini, M.; Tammelin, T.; Kontturi, E. Mimicking the Humidity Response of the Plant Cell Wall by Using Two-Dimensional Systems: The Critical Role of Amorphous and Crystalline Polysaccharides. *Langmuir* **2016**, *32*, 2032–2040.

(80) Ahola, S.; Salmi, J.; Johansson, L. S.; Laine, J.; Österberg, M. Model Films from Native Cellulose Nanofibrils. Preparation, Swelling, and Surface Interactions. *Biomacromolecules* **2008**, *9*, 1273–1282.

(81) Arola, S.; Kou, Z.; Rooijakkers, B. J. M.; Velagapudi, R.; Sammalkorpi, M.; Linder, M. B. On the Mechanism for the Highly Sensitive Response of Cellulose Nanofiber Hydrogels to the Presence of Ionic Solutes. *Cellulose* **2022**, *29*, 6109–6121.

(82) Monfared, M.; Mawad, D.; Rnjak-Kovacina, J.; Stenzel, M. H. 3D Bioprinting of Dual-Crosslinked Nanocellulose Hydrogels for Tissue Engineering Applications. *J. Mater. Chem. B* **2021**, *9*, 6163–6175.

(83) Ju, Y.; Ha, J.; Song, Y.; Lee, D. Revealing the Enhanced Structural Recovery and Gelation Mechanisms of Cation-Induced Cellulose Nanofibrils Composite Hydrogels. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2021**, 272, 118515.

(84) Wang, L.; Lundahl, M. J.; Greca, L. G.; Papageorgiou, A. C.; Borghei, M.; Rojas, O. J. Effects of Non-Solvents and Electrolytes on the Formation and Properties of Cellulose I Filaments. *Sci. Rep.* **2019**, *9*, 16691.

(85) Lombardo, S.; Gençer, A.; Schütz, C.; Van Rie, J.; Eyley, S.; Thielemans, W. Thermodynamic Study of Ion-Driven Aggregation of Cellulose Nanocrystals. *Biomacromolecules* **2019**, *20*, 3181–3190.

(86) Niinivaara, E.; Faustini, M.; Tammelin, T.; Kontturi, E. Water Vapor Uptake of Ultrathin Films of Biologically Derived Nanocrystals: Quantitative Assessment with Quartz Crystal Microbalance and Spectroscopic Ellipsometry. *Langmuir* **2015**, *31*, 12170–12176.

(87) Reid, M. S.; Villalobos, M.; Cranston, E. D. Cellulose Nanocrystal Interactions Probed by Thin Film Swelling to Predict Dispersibility. *Nanoscale* **2016**, *8*, 12247–12257.

(88) Hakalahti, M.; Faustini, M.; Boissière, C.; Kontturi, E.; Tammelin, T. Interfacial Mechanisms of Water Vapor Sorption into Cellulose Nanofibril Films as Revealed by Quantitative Models. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 2951–2958.

(89) Eronen, P.; Junka, K.; Laine, J.; Österberg, M. Interaction between Water-Soluble Polysaccharides and Native Nanofibrillar Cellulose Thin Films. *BioResources* **2011**, *6*, 4200–4217.

(90) Arumughan, V.; Nypelö, T.; Hasani, M.; Larsson, A. Calcium Ion-Induced Structural Changes in Carboxymethylcellulose Solutions and Their Effects on Adsorption on Cellulose Surfaces. *Biomacromolecules* **2022**, *23*, 47–56.

(91) Maloney, T. C.; Paulapuro, H.; Stenius, P. Hydration and Swelling of Pulp Fibers Measured with Differential Scanning Calorimetry. *Nord. Pulp Pap. Res. J.* **1998**, *13*, 31–36.

(92) Lindh, E. L.; Terenzi, C.; Salmén, L.; Furó, I. Water in Cellulose: Evidence and Identification of Immobile and Mobile Adsorbed Phases by 2H MAS NMR. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* 2017, 19, 4360–4369.

(93) O'Neill, H.; Pingali, S. V.; Petridis, L.; He, J.; Mamontov, E.; Hong, L.; Urban, V.; Evans, B.; Langan, P.; Smith, J. C.; Davidson, B. H. Dynamics of Water Bound to Crystalline Cellulose. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, 7, 11840.

(94) Aarne, N.; Kontturi, E.; Laine, J. Influence of Adsorbed Polyelectrolytes on Pore Size Distribution of a Water-Swollen Biomaterial. *Soft Matter* **2012**, *8*, 4740–4749.

(95) Paajanen, A.; Ceccherini, S.; Maloney, T.; Ketoja, J. A. Chirality and Bound Water in the Hierarchical Cellulose Structure. *Cellulose* **2019**, *26*, 5877–5892.

(96) Srinivas, G.; Cheng, X.; Smith, J. C. Coarse-Grain Model for Natural Cellulose Fibrils in Explicit Water. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2014**, *118*, 3026–3034.

(97) Rodriguez-Fabia, S.; Torstensen, J.; Johansson, L.; Syverud, K. Hydrophobization of Lignocellulosic Materials Part II: Chemical Modification. *Cellulose* **2022**, *29*, 8957–8995.

(98) Forsman, N.; Lozhechnikova, A.; Khakalo, A.; Johansson, L. S.; Vartiainen, J.; Österberg, M. Layer-by-Layer Assembled Hydrophobic Coatings for Cellulose Nanofibril Films and Textiles, Made of Polylysine and Natural Wax Particles. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2017**, *173*, 392–402.

(99) Peresin, M. S.; Kammiovirta, K.; Heikkinen, H.; Johansson, L.-S.; Vartiainen, J.; Setälä, H.; Österberg, M.; Tammelin, T. Understanding the Mechanisms of Oxygen Diffusion through Surface Functionalized Nanocellulose Films. Carbohydr. Polym. 2017, 174, 309-317.

(100) Österberg, M.; Vartiainen, J.; Lucenius, J.; Hippi, U.; Seppälä, J.; Serimaa, R.; Laine, J. A Fast Method to Produce Strong NFC Films as a Platform for Barrier and Functional Materials. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2013**, *5*, 4640–4647.

(101) Song, J.; Rojas, O. J. Approaching Super-Hydrophobicity from Cellulosic Materials: A Review. *Nord. Pulp Pap. Res. J.* **2013**, *28*, 216–238.

(102) Spence, K. L.; Venditti, R. A.; Rojas, O. J.; Habibi, Y.; Pawlak, J. J. The Effect of Chemical Composition on Microfibrillar Cellulose Films from Wood Pulps: Water Interactions and Physical Properties for Packaging Applications. *Cellulose* **2010**, *17*, 835–848.

(103) Nakamura, K.; Hatakeyama, T.; Hatakeyama, H. Effect of Bound Water on Tensile Properties of Native Cellulose. *Text. Res. J.* **1983**, *53*, 682–688.

(104) Placet, V.; Cisse, O.; Boubakar, M. L. Influence of Environmental Relative Humidity on the Tensile and Rotational Behaviour of Hemp Fibres. *J. Mater. Sci.* **2012**, *47*, 3435–3446.

(105) Hou, Y. Z.; Guan, Q. F.; Xia, J.; Ling, Z. C.; He, Z. Z.; Han, Z. M.; Yang, H.-B.; Gu, P.; Zhu, Y. B.; Yu, S. H.; Wu, H.A. Strengthening and Toughening Hierarchical Nanocellulose via Humidity-Mediated Interface. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 1310–1320.

(106) Petridis, L.; O'Neill, H. M.; Johnsen, M.; Fan, B.; Schulz, R.; Mamontov, E.; Maranas, J.; Langan, P.; Smith, J. C. Hydration Control of the Mechanical and Dynamical Properties of Cellulose. *Biomacromolecules* **2014**, *15*, 4152–4159.

(107) Zhang, D.; Chippada, U.; Jordan, K. Effect of the Structural Water on the Mechanical Properties of Collagen-like Microfibrils: A Molecular Dynamics Study. *Ann. Biomed. Eng.* **2007**, *35*, 1216–1230.

(108) Beaumont, M.; Jusner, P.; Gierlinger, N.; King, A. W. T.; Potthast, A.; Rojas, O. J.; Rosenau, T. Unique Reactivity of Nanoporous Cellulosic Materials Mediated by Surface-Confined Water. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 2513.

(109) Solin, K.; Borghei, M.; Sel, O.; Orelma, H.; Johansson, L. S.; Perrot, H.; Rojas, O. J. Electrically Conductive Thin Films Based on Nanofibrillated Cellulose: Interactions with Water and Applications in Humidity Sensing. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2020**, *12*, 36437– 36448.

(110) Missoum, K.; Belgacem, M. N.; Bras, J. Nanofibrillated Cellulose Surface Modification: A Review. *Materials.* **2013**, *6*, 1745– 1766.

(111) Henriksson, M.; Berglund, L. A.; Isaksson, P.; Lindström, T.; Nishino, T. Cellulose Nanopaper Structures of High Toughness. *Biomacromolecules* **2008**, *9*, 1579–1585.

(112) Capadona, J. R.; Van Den Berg, O.; Capadona, L. A.; Schroeter, M.; Rowan, S. J.; Tyler, D. J.; Weder, C. A Versatile Approach for the Processing of Polymer Nanocomposites with Self-Assembled Nanofibre Templates. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2007**, *2*, 765– 769.

(113) Basu, S.; Malik, S.; Joshi, G.; Gupta, P. K.; Rana, V. Utilization of Bio-Polymeric Additives for a Sustainable Production Strategy in Pulp and Paper Manufacturing: A Comprehensive Review. *Carbohydr. Polym. Technol. Appl.* **2021**, *2*, 100050.

(114) Li, Q.; Wang, S.; Jin, X.; Huang, C.; Xiang, Z. The Application of Polysaccharides and Their Derivatives in Pigment, Barrier, and Functional Paper Coatings. *Polymers* **2020**, *12*, 1837.

(115) Chakrabarty, A.; Teramoto, Y. Recent Advances in Nanocellulose Composites with Polymers: A Guide for Choosing Partners and How to Incorporate Them. *Polymers* **2018**, *10*, 517.

(116) Tenhunen, T. M.; Moslemian, O.; Kammiovirta, K.; Harlin, A.; Kääriäinen, P.; Österberg, M.; Tammelin, T.; Orelma, H. Surface Tailoring and Design-Driven Prototyping of Fabrics with 3D-Printing: An All-Cellulose Approach. *Mater. Des.* **2018**, *140*, 409–419.

(117) Sundman, O. Adsorption of Four Non-Ionic Cellulose Derivatives on Cellulose Model Surfaces. *Cellulose* **2014**, *21*, 115–124.

(118) Eronen, P.; Österberg, M.; Heikkinen, S.; Tenkanen, M.; Laine, J. Interactions of Structurally Different Hemicelluloses with Nanofibrillar Cellulose. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2011**, *86*, 1281–1290.

(119) Lucenius, J.; Valle-Delgado, J. J.; Parikka, K.; Österberg, M. Understanding Hemicellulose-Cellulose Interactions in Cellulose Nanofibril-Based Composites. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2019**, 555, 104–114.

(120) Lyu, Y.; Matsumoto, T.; Taira, S.; Ijiri, K.; Yoshinaga, A.; Shigetomi, K.; Uraki, Y. Influences of Polysaccharides in Wood Cell Walls on Lignification in Vitro. *Cellulose* **2021**, *28*, 9907–9917.

(121) Hu, Z.; Cranston, E. D.; Ng, R.; Pelton, R. Tuning Cellulose Nanocrystal Gelation with Polysaccharides and Surfactants. *Langmuir* **2014**, *30*, 2684–2692.

(122) Villares, A.; Moreau, C.; Dammak, A.; Capron, I.; Cathala, B. Kinetic Aspects of the Adsorption of Xyloglucan onto Cellulose Nanocrystals. *Soft Matter* **2015**, *11*, 6472–6481.

(123) Hayashi, T.; Ogawa, K.; Mitsuishi, Y. Characterization of the Adsorption of Xyloglucan to Cellulose. *Plant Cell Physiol.* **1994**, *35*, 1199–1205.

(124) Kabel, M. A.; van den Borne, H.; Vincken, J. P.; Voragen, A. G. J.; Schols, H. A. Structural Differences of Xylans Affect Their Interaction with Cellulose. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2007, *69*, 94–105.

(125) Suurnäkki, A.; Oksanen, T.; Kettunen, H.; Buchert, J. The Effect of Mannan on Physical Properties of ECF Bleached Softwood Kraft Fibre Handsheets. *Nord. Pulp Pap. Res. J.* 2003, *18*, 429–435.

(126) Vincken, J. P.; De Keizer, A.; Beldman, G.; Voragen, A. G. J. Fractionation of Xyloglucan Fragments and Their Interaction with Cellulose. *Plant Physiol.* **1995**, *108*, 1579–1585.

(127) Lozhechnikova, A.; Dax, D.; Vartiainen, J.; Willför, S.; Xu, C.; Österberg, M. Modification of Nanofibrillated Cellulose Using Amphiphilic Block-Structured Galactoglucomannans. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2014**, *110*, 163–172.

(128) Leppänen, A. S.; Xu, C.; Eklund, P.; Lucenius, J.; Österberg, M.; Willför, S. Targeted Functionalization of Spruce O-Acetyl Galactoglucomannans - 2,2,6,6-Tetramethylpiperidin-1-Oxyl-Oxidation and Carbodiimide-Mediated Amidation. *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.* 2013, 130, 3122–3129.

(129) Benselfelt, T.; Cranston, E. D.; Ondaral, S.; Johansson, E.; Brumer, H.; Rutland, M. W.; Wågberg, L. Adsorption of Xyloglucan onto Cellulose Surfaces of Different Morphologies: An Entropy-Driven Process. *Biomacromolecules* **2016**, *17*, 2801–2811.

(130) Reid, M. S.; Villalobos, M.; Cranston, E. D. The Role of Hydrogen Bonding in Non-Ionic Polymer Adsorption to Cellulose Nanocrystals and Silica Colloids. *Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2017**, *29*, 76–82.

(131) Lombardo, S.; Thielemans, W. Thermodynamics of Adsorption on Nanocellulose Surfaces. *Cellulose* **2019**, *26*, 249–279. (132) Kishani, S.; Benselfelt, T.; Wågberg, L.; Wohlert, J. Entropy Drives the Adsorption of Xyloglucan to Cellulose Surfaces - A Molecular Dynamics Study. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2021**, *588*, 485– 493.

(133) Ahola, S.; Myllytie, P.; Österberg, M.; Teerinen, T.; Laine, J. Effect of Polymer Adsorption on Cellulose Nanofibril Water Binding Capacity and Aggregation. *BioResources* **2008**, *3*, 1315–1328.

(134) Arumughan, V.; Nypelö, T.; Hasani, M.; Brelid, H.; Albertsson, S.; Wågberg, L.; Larsson, A. Specific Ion Effects in the Adsorption of Carboxymethyl Cellulose on Cellulose: The Influence of Industrially Relevant Divalent Cations. *Colloids Surfaces A Physicochem. Eng. Asp.* **2021**, *626*, 127006.

(135) Wågberg, L. Polyelectrolyte Adsorption onto Cellulose Fibres - A Review. Nord. Pulp Pap. Res. J. 2000, 15, 586–597.

(136) Vuoriluoto, M.; Orelma, H.; Johansson, L. S.; Zhu, B.; Poutanen, M.; Walther, A.; Laine, J.; Rojas, O. J. Effect of Molecular Architecture of PDMAEMA-POEGMA Random and Block Copolymers on Their Adsorption on Regenerated and Anionic Nanocelluloses and Evidence of Interfacial Water Expulsion. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2015, *119*, 15275–15286. (137) Hubbe, M. A.; Tayeb, P.; Joyce, M.; Tyagi, P.; Kehoe, M.; Dimic-Misic, K.; Pal, L. Rheology of Nanocellulose-Rich Aqueous Suspensions: A Review. *BioResources* **2017**, *12*, 9556–9661.

(138) Oguzlu, H.; Danumah, C.; Boluk, Y. Colloidal Behavior of Aqueous Cellulose Nanocrystal Suspensions. *Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2017**, *29*, 46–56.

(139) Israelachvili, J. N.; Adams, G. E. Measurement of Forces between Two Mica Surfaces in Aqueous Electrolyte Solutions in the Range 0–100 nm. J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans. 1 Phys. Chem. Condens. Phases 1978, 74, 975–1001.

(140) Binnig, G.; Quate, C. F.; Gerber, C. Atomic Force Microscope. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1986, 56, 930.

(141) Ducker, W. A.; Senden, T. J.; Pashley, R. M. Direct Measurement of Colloidal Forces Using an Atomic Force Microscope. *Nature* **1991**, 353, 239–241.

(142) Österberg, M.; Valle-Delgado, J. J. Surface Forces in Lignocellulosic Systems. *Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci.* 2017, 27, 33–42.

(143) Carambassis, A.; Rutland, M. W. Interactions of Cellulose Surfaces: Effect of Electrolyte. *Langmuir* **1999**, *15*, 5584–5590.

(144) Notley, S. M. Effect of Introduced Charge in Cellulose Gels on Surface Interactions and the Adsorption of Highly Charged Cationic Polyelectrolytes. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2008**, *10*, 1819–1825.

(145) Notley, S. M.; Pettersson, B.; Wågberg, L. Direct Measurement of Attractive van Der Waals' Forces between Regenerated Cellulose Surfaces in an Aqueous Environment. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 13930–13931.

(146) Salmi, J.; Österberg, M.; Stenius, P.; Laine, J. Surface Forces between Cellulose Surfaces in Cationic Polyelectrolyte Solutions: The Effect of Polymer Molecular Weight and Charge Density. *Nord. Pulp Pap. Res. J.* **2007**, *22*, 249–257.

(147) Notley, S. M.; Chen, W.; Pelton, R. Extraordinary Adhesion of Phenylboronic Acid Derivatives of Polyvinylamine to Wet Cellulose: A Colloidal Probe Microscopy Investigation. *Langmuir* **2009**, *25*, 6898–6904.

(148) Poptoshev, E.; Rutland, M. W.; Claesson, P. M. Surface Forces in Aqueous Polyvinylamine Solutions. 2. Interactions between Glass and Cellulose. *Langmuir* **2000**, *16*, 1987–1992.

(149) Stiernstedt, J.; Brumer, H.; Zhou, Q.; Teeri, T. T.; Rutland, M. W. Friction between Cellulose Surfaces and Effect of Xyloglucan Adsorption. *Biomacromolecules* **2006**, *7*, 2147–2153.

(150) Nordgren, N.; Eronen, P.; Österberg, M.; Laine, J.; Rutland, M. W. Mediation of the Nanotribological Properties of Cellulose by Chitosan Adsorption. *Biomacromolecules* **2009**, *10*, 645–650.

(151) Olszewska, A.; Junka, K.; Nordgren, N.; Laine, J.; Rutland, M. W.; Österberg, M. Non-Ionic Assembly of Nanofibrillated Cellulose and Polyethylene Glycol Grafted Carboxymethyl Cellulose and the Effect of Aqueous Lubrication in Nanocomposite Formation. *Soft Matter* **2013**, *9*, 7448–7457.

(152) Paananen, A.; Österberg, M.; Rutland, M.; Tammelin, T.; Saarinen, T.; Tappura, K.; Stenius, P. Interaction between Cellulose and Xylan: An Atomic Force Microscope and Quartz Crystal Microbalance Study. ACS Symp. Ser. 2003, 864, 269–290.

(153) Zauscher, S.; Klingenberg, D. J. Normal Forces between Cellulose Surfaces Measured with Colloidal Probe Microscopy. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2000, 229, 497–510.

(154) Österberg, M. The Effect of a Cationic Polyelectrolyte on the Forces between Two Cellulose Surfaces and between One Cellulose and One Mineral Surface. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2000**, 229, 620–627.

(155) Leporatti, S.; Sczech, R.; Riegler, H.; Bruzzano, S.; Storsberg, J.; Loth, F.; Jaeger, W.; Laschewsky, A.; Eichhorn, S.; Donath, E. Interaction Forces between Cellulose Microspheres and Ultrathin Cellulose Films Monitored by Colloidal Probe Microscopy - Effect of Wet Strength Agents. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2005, 281, 101–111.

(156) Salmi, J.; Österberg, M.; Laine, J. The Effect of Cationic Polyelectrolyte Complexes on Interactions between Cellulose Surfaces. *Colloids Surfaces A Physicochem. Eng. Asp.* 2007, 297, 122–130.

(157) Wang, M.; Olszewska, A.; Walther, A.; Malho, J.-M.; Schacher, F. H.; Ruokolainen, J.; Ankerfors, M.; Laine, J.; Berglund, L. A.; Österberg, M.; et al. Colloidal Ionic Assembly between Anionic Native Cellulose Nanofibrils and Cationic Block Copolymer Micelles into Biomimetic Nanocomposites. *Biomacromolecules* **2011**, *12*, 2074–2081.

(158) Greene, G. W.; Olszewska, A.; Osterberg, M.; Zhu, H.; Horn, R. A Cartilage-Inspired Lubrication System. *Soft Matter* **2014**, *10*, 374–382.

(159) Valle-Delgado, J. J.; Johansson, L. S.; Österberg, M. Bioinspired Lubricating Films of Cellulose Nanofibrils and Hyaluronic Acid. *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces* **2016**, *138*, 86–93.

(160) Olszewska, A.; Valle-Delgado, J. J. J.; Nikinmaa, M.; Laine, J.; Österberg, M. Direct Measurements of Non-Ionic Attraction and Nanoscaled Lubrication in Biomimetic Composites from Nano-fibrillated Cellulose and Modified Carboxymethylated Cellulose. *Nanoscale* **2013**, *5*, 11837–11844.

(161) Stiernstedt, J.; Nordgren, N.; Wågberg, L.; Brumer, H.; Gray, D. G.; Rutland, M. W. Friction and Forces between Cellulose Model Surfaces: A Comparison. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2006, 303, 117–123.

(162) Lucenius, J.; Parikka, K.; Österberg, M. Nanocomposite Films Based on Cellulose Nanofibrils and Water-Soluble Polysaccharides. *React. Funct. Polym.* **2014**, 85, 167–174.

(163) Mautner, A.; Lucenius, J.; Österberg, M.; Bismarck, A. Multi-Layer Nanopaper Based Composites. *Cellulose* **2017**, *24*, 1759–1773.

(164) Ahola, S.; Österberg, M.; Laine, J. Cellulose Nanofibrils - Adsorption with Poly(Amideamine) Epichlorohydrin Studied by QCM-D and Application as a Paper Strength Additive. *Cellulose* **2008**, *15*, 303–314.

(165) Salmi, J.; Nypelö, T.; Österberg, M.; Laine, J. Layer Structures Formed by Silica Nanoparticles and Cellulose Nanofibrils with Cationic Polyacrylamide (C-PAM) on Cellulose Surface and Their Influence on Interactions. *BioResources* **2009**, *4*, 602–625.

(166) Aulin, C.; Johansson, E.; Wågberg, L.; Lindström, T. Self-Organized Films from Cellulose i Nanofibrils Using the Layer-by-Layer Technique. *Biomacromolecules* **2010**, *11*, 872–882.

(167) Junka, K.; Sundman, O.; Salmi, J.; Österberg, M.; Laine, J. Multilayers of Cellulose Derivatives and Chitosan on Nanofibrillated Cellulose. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2014**, *108*, 34–40.

(168) Olszewska, A. M.; Kontturi, E.; Laine, J.; Österberg, M. All-Cellulose Multilayers: Long Nanofibrils Assembled with Short Nanocrystals. *Cellulose* **2013**, *20*, 1777–1789.

(169) Rastogi, V. K.; Samyn, P. Bio-Based Coatings for Paper Applications. *Coatings* **2015**, *5*, 887–930.

(170) Helanto, K.; Matikainen, L.; Talj, R.; Rojas, O. J. Bio-Based Polymers for Sustainable Packaging and Biobarriers: A Critical Review. *BioResources* **2019**, *14*, 4902–4951.

(171) Nechita, P.; Iana-Roman, M. R. Review on Polysaccharides Used in Coatings for Food Packaging Papers. *Coatings* **2020**, *10*, 566.

(172) Johansen, K. S. Lytic Polysaccharide Monooxygenases: The Microbial Power Tool for Lignocellulose Degradation. *Trends Plant Sci.* **2016**, *21*, 926–936.

(173) Bornscheuer, U.; Buchholz, K.; Seibel, J. Enzymatic Degradation of (Ligno)Cellulose. *Angew. Chemie - Int. Ed.* 2014, *53*, 10876–10893.

(174) Gilbert, H. J.; Knox, J. P.; Boraston, A. B. Advances in Understanding the Molecular Basis of Plant Cell Wall Polysaccharide Recognition by Carbohydrate-Binding Modules. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* **2013**, *23*, 669–677.

(175) Eriksson, J.; Malmsten, M.; Tiberg, F.; Callisen, T. H.; Damhus, T.; Johansen, K. S. Enzymatic Degradation of Model Cellulose Films. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2005, 284, 99–106.

(176) Ahola, S.; Turon, X.; Österberg, M.; Laine, J.; Rojas, O. J. Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Native Cellulose Nanofibrils and Other Cellulose Model Films: Effect of Surface Structure. *Langmuir* **2008**, *24*, 11592–11599.

(177) Suchy, M.; Linder, M. B.; Tammelin, T.; Campbell, J. M.; Vuorinen, T.; Kontturi, E. Quantitative Assessment of the Enzymatic Degradation of Amorphous Cellulose by Using a Quartz Crystal Microbalance with Dissipation Monitoring. Langmuir 2011, 27, 8819-8828.

(178) Allen, S. G.; Tanchak, O. M.; Quirk, A.; Raegen, A. N.; Reiter, K.; Whitney, R.; Clarke, A. J.; Lipkowski, J.; Dutcher, J. R. Surface Plasmon Resonance Imaging of the Enzymatic Degradation of Cellulose Microfibrils. *Anal. Methods* **2012**, *4*, 3238–3245.

(179) Igarashi, K.; Uchihashi, T.; Koivula, A.; Wada, M.; Kimura, S.; Penttilä, M.; Ando, T.; Samejima, M. Visualization of Cellobiohydrolase i from Trichoderma Reesei Moving on Crystalline Cellulose Using High-Speed Atomic Force Microscopy. *Methods Enzymol.* **2012**, *510*, 169–182.

(180) Eibinger, M.; Ganner, T.; Bubner, P.; Rošker, S.; Kracher, D.; Haltrich, D.; Ludwig, R.; Plank, H.; Nidetzky, B. Cellulose Surface Degradation by a Lytic Polysaccharide Monooxygenase and Its Effect on Cellulase Hydrolytic Efficiency. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2014**, *289*, 35929– 35938.

(181) Ganner, T.; Roŝker, S.; Eibinger, M.; Kraxner, J.; Sattelkow, J.; Rattenberger, J.; Fitzek, H.; Chernev, B.; Grogger, W.; Nidetzky, B.; Plank, H. Tunable Semicrystalline Thin Film Cellulose Substrate for High-Resolution, In-Situ AFM Characterization of Enzymatic Cellulose Degradation. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2015**, 7, 27900– 27909.

(182) Song, J.; Yang, F.; Zhang, Y.; Hu, F.; Wu, S.; Jin, Y.; Guo, J.; Rojas, O. J. Interactions between Fungal Cellulases and Films of Nanofibrillar Cellulose Determined by a Quartz Crystal Microbalance with Dissipation Monitoring (QCM-D). *Cellulose* **2017**, *24*, 1947– 1956.

(183) Zhang, P.; Chen, M.; Duan, Y.; Huang, R.; Su, R.; Qi, W.; Thielemans, W.; He, Z. Real-Time Adsorption of Exo- and Endoglucanases on Cellulose: Effect of PH, Temperature, and Inhibitors. *Langmuir* **2018**, *34*, 13514–13522.

(184) Koskela, S.; Wang, S.; Xu, D.; Yang, X.; Li, K.; Berglund, L. A.; McKee, L. S.; Bulone, V.; Zhou, Q. Lytic Polysaccharide Monooxygenase (LPMO) Mediated Production of Ultra-Fine Cellulose Nanofibres from Delignified Softwood Fibres. *Green Chem.* **2019**, *21*, 5924–5933.

(185) Karnaouri, A.; Chorozian, K.; Zouraris, D.; Karantonis, A.; Topakas, E.; Rova, U.; Christakopoulos, P. Lytic Polysaccharide Monooxygenases as Powerful Tools in Enzymatically Assisted Preparation of Nano-Scaled Cellulose from Lignocellulose: A Review. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2022**, 345, 126491.

(186) Arantes, V.; Dias, I. K. R.; Berto, G. L.; Pereira, B.; Marotti, B. S.; Nogueira, C. F. O. The Current Status of the Enzyme-Mediated Isolation and Functionalization of Nanocelluloses: Production, Properties, Techno-Economics, and Opportunities. *Cellulose* **2020**, *27*, 10571–10630.

(187) Henriksson, M.; Henriksson, G.; Berglund, L. A.; Lindström, T. An Environmentally Friendly Method for Enzyme-Assisted Preparation of Microfibrillated Cellulose (MFC) Nanofibers. *Eur. Polym. J.* 2007, 43, 3434–3441.

(188) Pääkko, M.; Ankerfors, M.; Kosonen, H.; Nykänen, A.; Ahola, S.; Österberg, M.; Ruokolainen, J.; Laine, J.; Larsson, P. T.; Ikkala, O.; et al. Enzymatic Hydrolysis Combined with Mechanical Shearing and High-Pressure Homogenization for Nanoscale Cellulose Fibrils and Strong Gels. *Biomacromolecules* **2007**, *8*, 1934–1941.

(189) Lin, N.; Dufresne, A. Nanocellulose in Biomedicine: Current Status and Future Prospect. *Eur. Polym. J.* **2014**, *59*, 302–325.

(190) Rashad, A.; Mustafa, K.; Heggset, E. B.; Syverud, K. Cytocompatibility of Wood-Derived Cellulose Nanofibril Hydrogels with Different Surface Chemistry. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 1238–1248.

(191) Nicu, R.; Ciolacu, F.; Ciolacu, D. E. Advanced Functional Materials Based on Nanocellulose for Pharmaceutical/Medical Applications. *Pharmaceutics* **2021**, *13*, 1125.

(192) Bhattacharya, M.; Malinen, M. M.; Lauren, P.; Lou, Y. R.; Kuisma, S. W.; Kanninen, L.; Lille, M.; Corlu, A.; Guguen-Guillouzo, C.; Ikkala, O.; et al. Nanofibrillar Cellulose Hydrogel Promotes Three-Dimensional Liver Cell Culture. *J. Controlled Release* **2012**, *164*, 291–298. (193) Lou, Y. R.; Kanninen, L.; Kuisma, T.; Niklander, J.; Noon, L. A.; Burks, D.; Urtti, A.; Yliperttula, M. The Use of Nanofibrillar Cellulose Hydrogel as a Flexible Three-Dimensional Model to Culture Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* **2014**, *23*, 380–392.

(194) Malinen, M. M.; Kanninen, L. K.; Corlu, A.; Isoniemi, H. M.; Lou, Y. R.; Yliperttula, M. L.; Urtti, A. O. Differentiation of Liver Progenitor Cell Line to Functional Organotypic Cultures in 3D Nanofibrillar Cellulose and Hyaluronan-Gelatin Hydrogels. *Biomaterials* **2014**, *35*, 5110–5121.

(195) Markstedt, K.; Mantas, A.; Tournier, I.; Martínez Ávila, H.; Hägg, D.; Gatenholm, P. 3D Bioprinting Human Chondrocytes with Nanocellulose-Alginate Bioink for Cartilage Tissue Engineering Applications. *Biomacromolecules* **2015**, *16*, 1489–1496.

(196) Nguyen, D.; Hägg, D. A.; Forsman, A.; Ekholm, J.; Nimkingratana, P.; Brantsing, C.; Kalogeropoulos, T.; Zaunz, S.; Concaro, S.; Brittberg, M.; et al. Cartilage Tissue Engineering by the 3D Bioprinting of IPS Cells in a Nanocellulose/Alginate Bioink. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7*, 658.

(197) McCarthy, R. R.; Ullah, M. W.; Booth, P.; Pei, E.; Yang, G. The Use of Bacterial Polysaccharides in Bioprinting. *Biotechnol. Adv.* **2019**, *37*, 107448.

(198) Xu, W.; Zhang, X.; Yang, P.; Långvik, O.; Wang, X.; Zhang, Y.; Cheng, F.; Österberg, M.; Willför, S.; Xu, C. Surface Engineered Biomimetic Inks Based on UV Cross-Linkable Wood Biopolymers for 3D Printing. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2019**, *11*, 12389–12400.

(199) Zhang, X.; Morits, M.; Jonkergouw, C.; Ora, A.; Valle-Delgado, J. J.; Farooq, M.; Ajdary, R.; Huan, S.; Linder, M.; Rojas, O.; et al. Three-Dimensional Printed Cell Culture Model Based on Spherical Colloidal Lignin Particles and Cellulose Nanofibril-Alginate Hydrogel. *Biomacromolecules* **2020**, *21*, 1875–1885.

(200) Harjumäki, R.; Nugroho, R. W. N.; Zhang, X.; Lou, Y.-R.; Yliperttula, M.; Valle-Delgado, J. J.; Österberg, M. Quantified Forces between HepG2 Hepatocarcinoma and WA07 Pluripotent Stem Cells with Natural Biomaterials Correlate with in Vitro Cell Behavior. *Sci. Rep.* **2019**, *9*, 7354.

(201) Harjumäki, R.; Zhang, X.; Nugroho, R. W. N.; Farooq, M.; Lou, Y. R.; Yliperttula, M.; Valle-Delgado, J. J.; Österberg, M. AFM Force Spectroscopy Reveals the Role of Integrins and Their Activation in Cell-Biomaterial Interactions. *ACS Appl. Bio Mater.* **2020**, *3*, 1406–1417.

(202) Griffo, A.; Rooijakkers, B. J. M.; Hähl, H.; Jacobs, K.; Linder, M. B.; Laaksonen, P. Binding Forces of Cellulose Binding Modules on Cellulosic Nanomaterials. *Biomacromolecules* **2019**, *20*, 769–777.

(203) Anton-Sales, I.; Koivusalo, L.; Skottman, H.; Laromaine, A.; Roig, A. Limbal Stem Cells on Bacterial Nanocellulose Carriers for Ocular Surface Regeneration. *Small* **2021**, *17*, 2003937.

(204) Nugroho, R. W. N.; Harjumäki, R.; Zhang, X.; Lou, Y. R.; Yliperttula, M.; Valle-Delgado, J. J.; Österberg, M. Quantifying the Interactions between Biomimetic Biomaterials - Collagen I, Collagen IV, Laminin 521 and Cellulose Nanofibrils - by Colloidal Probe Microscopy. *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces* **2019**, *173*, 571–580.

(205) Osorio, M.; Ortiz, I.; Gañán, P.; Naranjo, T.; Zuluaga, R.; van Kooten, T. G.; Castro, C. Novel Surface Modification of Three-Dimensional Bacterial Nanocellulose with Cell-Derived Adhesion Proteins for Soft Tissue Engineering. *Mater. Sci. Eng., C* 2019, 100, 697–705.

(206) Zhang, X.; Viitala, T.; Harjumäki, R.; Kartal-Hodzic, A.; Valle-Delgado, J. J.; Österberg, M. Effect of Laminin, Polylysine and Cell Medium Components on the Attachment of Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cells to Cellulose Nanofibrils Analyzed by Surface Plasmon Resonance. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2021, 584, 310–319.

(207) Kuzmenko, V.; Sämfors, S.; Hägg, D.; Gatenholm, P. Universal Method for Protein Bioconjugation with Nanocellulose Scaffolds for Increased Cell Adhesion. *Mater. Sci. Eng., C* 2013, 33, 4599–4607.

(208) Leppiniemi, J.; Mutahir, Z.; Dulebo, A.; Mikkonen, P.; Nuopponen, M.; Turkki, P.; Hytönen, V. P. Avidin-Conjugated Nanofibrillar Cellulose Hydrogel Functionalized with Biotinylated Fibronectin and Vitronectin Promotes 3D Culture of Fibroblasts. *Biomacromolecules* **2021**, *22*, 4122–4137.

(209) Liu, T.; Zhang, Y.; Lu, X.; Wang, P.; Zhang, X.; Tian, J.; Wang, Q.; Song, J.; Jin, Y.; Xiao, H. Binding Affinity of Family 4 Carbohydrate Binding Module on Cellulose Films of Nanocrystals and Nanofibrils. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2021**, *251*, 116725.

(210) Hassan, G.; Forsman, N.; Wan, X.; Keurulainen, L.; Bimbo, L. M.; Johansson, L. S.; Sipari, N.; Yli-Kauhaluoma, J.; Zimmermann, R.; Stehl, S.; et al. Dehydroabietylamine-Based Cellulose Nanofibril Films: A New Class of Sustainable Biomaterials for Highly Efficient, Broad-Spectrum Antimicrobial Effects. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2019**, *7*, 5002–5009.

(211) Hassan, G.; Forsman, N.; Wan, X.; Keurulainen, L.; Bimbo, L. M.; Stehl, S.; Van Charante, F.; Chrubasik, M.; Prakash, A. S.; Johansson, L. S.; et al. Non-Leaching, Highly Biocompatible Nanocellulose Surfaces That Efficiently Resist Fouling by Bacteria in an Artificial Dermis Model. *ACS Appl. Bio Mater.* **2020**, *3*, 4095–4108.

(212) Norrrahim, M. N. F.; Mohd Kasim, N. A.; Knight, V. F.; Ong, K. K.; Mohd Noor, S. A.; Abdul Halim, N.; Ahmad Shah, N. A.; Jamal, S. H.; Janudin, N.; Misenan, M. S. M.; Ahmad, M. Z.; Yaacob, M. H.; Wan Yunus, W. M. Z.; et al. Emerging Developments Regarding Nanocellulose-Based Membrane Filtration Material against Microbes. *Polymers* (*Basel*) **2021**, *13*, 3249.

(213) Liu, F.; Zheng, J.; Huang, C. H.; Tang, C. H.; Ou, S. Y. Pickering High Internal Phase Emulsions Stabilized by Protein-Covered Cellulose Nanocrystals. *Food Hydrocoll.* **2018**, *82*, 96–105.

(214) Zhang, X.; Liu, Y.; Wang, Y.; Luo, X.; Li, Y.; Li, B.; Wang, J.; Liu, S. Surface Modification of Cellulose Nanofibrils with Protein Nanoparticles for Enhancing the Stabilization of O/W Pickering Emulsions. *Food Hydrocoll.* **2019**, *97*, 105180.

(215) Khakalo, A.; Filpponen, I.; Rojas, O. J. Protein-Mediated Interfacial Adhesion in Composites of Cellulose Nanofibrils and Polylactide: Enhanced Toughness towards Material Development. *Compos. Sci. Technol.* **2018**, *160*, 145–151.

(216) Li, Q.; Gao, R.; Wang, L.; Xu, M.; Yuan, Y.; Ma, L.; Wan, Z.; Yang, X. Nanocomposites of Bacterial Cellulose Nanofibrils and Zein Nanoparticles for Food Packaging. *ACS Appl. Nano Mater.* **2020**, *3*, 2899–2910.

(217) Lievonen, M.; Valle-Delgado, J. J.; Mattinen, M.-L.; Hult, E.-L.; Lintinen, K.; Kostiainen, M. A.; Paananen, A.; Szilvay, G. R.; Setälä, H.; Österberg, M. A Simple Process for Lignin Nanoparticle Preparation. *Green Chem.* **2016**, *18*, 1416–1422.

(218) Frangville, C.; Rutkevičius, M.; Richter, A. P.; Velev, O. D.; Stoyanov, S. D.; Paunov, V. N. Fabrication of Environmentally Biodegradable Lignin Nanoparticles. *ChemPhysChem* **2012**, *13*, 4235–4243.

(219) Low, L. E.; Teh, K. C.; Siva, S. P.; Chew, I. M. L.; Mwangi, W. W.; Chew, C. L.; Goh, B.-H.; Chan, E. S.; Tey, B. T. Lignin Nanoparticles: The next Green Nanoreinforcer with Wide Opportunity. *Environ. Nanotechnology, Monit. Manag.* **2021**, *15*, 100398.

(220) Pereira, A. do E. S.; Luiz de Oliveira, J.; Maira Savassa, S.; Barbara Rogério, C.; Araujo de Medeiros, G.; Fraceto, L. F. Lignin Nanoparticles: New Insights for a Sustainable Agriculture. *J. Clean. Prod.* **2022**, 345, 131145.

(221) Chauhan, P. S. Lignin Nanoparticles: Eco-Friendly and Versatile Tool for New Era. *Bioresour. Technol. Reports* 2020, *9*, 100374.

(222) Tang, Q.; Qian, Y.; Yang, D.; Qiu, X.; Qin, Y.; Zhou, M. Lignin-Based Nanoparticles: A Review on Their Preparations and Applications. *Polymers.* **2020**, *12*, 2471.

(223) Zhang, Z.; Terrasson, V.; Guénin, E. Lignin Nanoparticles and Their Nanocomposites. *Nanomaterials* **2021**, *11*, 1336.

(224) Lizundia, E.; Sipponen, M. H.; Greca, L. G.; Balakshin, M.; Tardy, B. L.; Rojas, O. J.; Puglia, D. Multifunctional Lignin-Based Nanocomposites and Nanohybrids. *Green Chem.* **2021**, *23*, 6698– 6760.

(225) Figueiredo, P.; Lahtinen, M. H.; Agustin, M. B.; Morais de Carvalho, D.; Hirvonen, S. P.; Penttilä, P. A.; Mikkonen, K. S. Green Fabrication Approaches of Lignin Nanoparticles from Different Technical Lignins: A Comparison Study. *ChemSusChem* **2021**, *14*, 4718–4730.

(226) Pylypchuk, I. V.; Riazanova, A.; Lindström, M. E.; Sevastyanova, O. Structural and Molecular-Weight-Dependency in the Formation of Lignin Nanoparticles from Fractionated Soft- And Hardwood Lignins. *Green Chem.* **2021**, *23*, 3061–3072.

(227) Ma, M.; Dai, L.; Xu, J.; Liu, Z.; Ni, Y. A Simple and Effective Approach to Fabricate Lignin Nanoparticles with Tunable Sizes Based on Lignin Fractionation. *Green Chem.* **2020**, *22*, 2011–2017.

(228) Pang, T.; Wang, G.; Sun, H.; Wang, L.; Liu, Q.; Sui, W.; Parvez, A. M.; Si, C. Lignin Fractionation for Reduced Heterogeneity in Self-Assembly Nanosizing: Toward Targeted Preparation of Uniform Lignin Nanoparticles with Small Size. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2020**, *8*, 9174–9183.

(229) Zwilling, J. D.; Jiang, X.; Zambrano, F.; Venditti, R. A.; Jameel, H.; Velev, O. D.; Rojas, O. J.; Gonzalez, R. Understanding Lignin Micro- And Nanoparticle Nucleation and Growth in Aqueous Suspensions by Solvent Fractionation. *Green Chem.* **2021**, *23*, 1001–1012.

(230) Liu, Z. H.; Hao, N.; Shinde, S.; Pu, Y.; Kang, X.; Ragauskas, A. J.; Yuan, J. S. Defining Lignin Nanoparticle Properties through Tailored Lignin Reactivity by Sequential Organosolv Fragmentation Approach (SOFA). *Green Chem.* **2019**, *21*, 245–260.

(231) Li, B.; You, S.; Qi, W.; Wang, Y.; Su, R.; He, Z. Structure-Tunable Assembly of Lignin Sub-Micro Spheres by Modifying the Amphiphilic Interfaces of Lignin via n-Alkane. *Eur. Polym. J.* **2020**, *126*, 109539.

(232) Wang, J.; Chen, W.; Yang, D.; Fang, Z.; Liu, W.; Xiang, T.; Qiu, X. Correction to: Monodispersed Lignin Colloidal Spheres with Tailorable Sizes for Bio-Photonic Materials. *Small* **2022**, *18*, 2200671. (233) Li, S.; Zhou, S.; Zhao, G. Tuning the Morphology of Microand Nano-Spheres from Bamboo Shoot Shell Acetosolv Lignin. *Ind. Crops Prod.* **2021**, *171*, 113860.

(234) Sipponen, M. H.; Lange, H.; Ago, M.; Crestini, C. Understanding Lignin Aggregation Processes. A Case Study: Budesonide Entrapment and Stimuli Controlled Release from Lignin Nanoparticles. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2018**, *6*, 9342–9351.

(235) Dai, L.; Liu, R.; Hu, L. Q.; Zou, Z. F.; Si, C. L. Lignin Nanoparticle as a Novel Green Carrier for the Efficient Delivery of Resveratrol. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. **2017**, *5*, 8241–8249.

(236) Xiong, F.; Han, Y.; Wang, S.; Li, G.; Qin, T.; Chen, Y.; Chu, F. Preparation and Formation Mechanism of Size-Controlled Lignin Nanospheres by Self-Assembly. *Ind. Crops Prod.* **2017**, *100*, 146–152.

(237) Li, H.; Deng, Y.; Wu, H.; Ren, Y.; Qiu, X.; Zheng, D.; Li, C. Self-Assembly of Kraft Lignin into Nanospheres in Dioxane-Water Mixtures. *Holzforschung* **2016**, *70*, 725–731.

(238) Dwivedi, P.; Karumbaiah, K. M.; Das, R.Nano-Size Polymers via Precipitation of Polymer Solutions. In *Nano-Size Polymers: Preparation, Properties, Applications;* Springer, Cham, 2016; pp 251–282.

(239) Agustin, M. B.; Penttilä, P. A.; Lahtinen, M.; Mikkonen, K. S. Rapid and Direct Preparation of Lignin Nanoparticles from Alkaline Pulping Liquor by Mild Ultrasonication. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2019**, *7*, 19925–19934.

(240) Gupta, A. K.; Mohanty, S.; Nayak, S. K. Synthesis, Characterization and Application of Lignin Nanoparticles (LNPs). *Mater. Focus* **2014**, *3*, 444–454.

(241) Lee, J. H.; Park, S. Y.; Choi, I. G.; Choi, J. W. Investigation of Molecular Size Effect on the Formation of Lignin Nanoparticles by Nanoprecipitation. *Appl. Sci.* **2020**, *10*, 4910.

(242) Ma, Q.; Chen, L.; Wang, R.; Yang, R.; Zhu, J. Y. Direct Production of Lignin Nanoparticles (LNPs) from Wood Using p-Toluenesulfonic Acid in an Aqueous System at 80°C: Characterization of LNP Morphology, Size, and Surface Charge. *Holzforschung* **2018**, 72, 933–942.

(243) Ma, M.; Dai, L.; Si, C.; Hui, L.; Liu, Z.; Ni, Y. A Facile Preparation of Super Long-Term Stable Lignin Nanoparticles from Black Liquor. *ChemSusChem* **2019**, *12*, 5239–5245. (244) Lee, J. H.; Kim, T. M.; Choi, I. G.; Choi, J. W. Phenolic Hydroxyl Groups in the Lignin Polymer Affect the Formation of Lignin Nanoparticles. *Nanomaterials* **2021**, *11*, 1790.

(245) Lintinen, K.; Xiao, Y.; Bangalore Ashok, R.; Leskinen, T.; Sakarinen, E.; Sipponen, M.; Muhammad, F.; Oinas, P.; Österberg, M.; Kostiainen, M. Closed Cycle Production of Concentrated and Dry Redispersible Colloidal Lignin Particles with a Three Solvent Polarity Exchange Method. *Green Chem.* **2018**, *20*, 843–850.

(246) Leskinen, T.; Smyth, M.; Xiao, Y.; Lintinen, K.; Mattinen, M. L.; Kostiainen, M. A.; Oinas, P.; Österberg, M. Scaling Up Production of Colloidal Lignin Particles. *Nord. Pulp Pap. Res. J.* **201**7, *32*, 586–596.

(247) Zou, T.; Nonappa, N.; Khavani, M.; Vuorte, M.; Penttilä, P.; Zitting, A.; Valle-Delgado, J. J.; Elert, A. M.; Silbernagl, D.; Balakshin, M.; et al. Experimental and Simulation Study of the Solvent Effects on the Intrinsic Properties of Spherical Lignin Nanoparticles. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2021**, *125*, 12315–12328.

(248) Sipponen, M. H.; Henn, A.; Penttilä, P.; Österberg, M. Lignin-Fatty Acid Hybrid Nanocapsules for Scalable Thermal Energy Storage in Phase-Change Materials. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2020**, 393, 124711.

(249) Farooq, M.; Zou, T.; Riviere, G.; Sipponen, M. H.; Österberg, M. Strong, Ductile, and Waterproof Cellulose Nanofibril Composite Films with Colloidal Lignin Particles. *Biomacromolecules* **2019**, *20*, 693–704.

(250) Österberg, M.; Sipponen, M. H.; Kostiainen, M. A.; Äkräs, L.; Riviere, G.; Zhang, X.Lignin Particle Based Hydrogel and the Method for Preparation of Lignin Colloidal Particles by Solvent Evaporation Process. WO2020109671A1, 2019.

(251) Vermaas, J. V.; Crowley, M. F.; Beckham, G. T. Molecular Lignin Solubility and Structure in Organic Solvents. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2020**, *8*, 17839–17850.

(252) Pingali, S. V.; Smith, M. D.; Liu, S. H.; Rawal, T. B.; Pu, Y.; Shah, R.; Evans, B. R.; Urban, V. S.; Davison, B. H.; Cai, C. M.; et al. Deconstruction of Biomass Enabled by Local Demixing of Cosolvents at Cellulose and Lignin Surfaces. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2020**, *117*, 16776–16781.

(253) Katayama, M.; Ozutsumi, K. The Number of Water-Water Hydrogen Bonds in Water-Tetrahydrofuran and Water-Acetone Binary Mixtures Determined by Means of X-Ray Scattering. J. Solution Chem. 2008, 37, 841–856.

(254) McLain, S. E.; Soper, A. K.; Luzar, A. Investigations on the Structure of Dimethyl Sulfoxide and Acetone in Aqueous Solution. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2007**, *127*, 174515.

(255) Dong, Q.; Yu, C.; Li, L.; Nie, L.; Li, D.; Zang, H. Near-Infrared Spectroscopic Study of Molecular Interaction in Ethanol-Water Mixtures. *Spectrochim. Acta - Part A Mol. Biomol. Spectrosc.* **2019**, 222, 117183.

(256) Gereben, O.; Pusztai, L. Investigation of the Structure of Ethanol-Water Mixtures by Molecular Dynamics Simulation I: Analyses Concerning the Hydrogen-Bonded Pairs. J. Phys. Chem. B **2015**, 119, 3070–3084.

(257) Zhang, C.; Yang, X. Molecular Dynamics Simulation of Ethanol/Water Mixtures for Structure and Diffusion Properties. *Fluid Phase Equilib.* **2005**, 231, 1–10.

(258) Su, Y.; Yang, A.; Jin, S.; Shen, W.; Cui, P.; Ren, J. Investigation on Ternary System Tetrahydrofuran/Ethanol/Water with Three Azeotropes Separation via the Combination of Reactive and Extractive Distillation. J. Clean. Prod. **2020**, 273, 123145.

(259) Zou, T.; Sipponen, M. H.; Henn, A.; Österberg, M. Solvent-Resistant Lignin-Epoxy Hybrid Nanoparticles for Covalent Surface Modification and High-Strength Particulate Adhesives. *ACS Nano* **2021**, *15*, 4811–4823.

(260) Xiong, F.; Han, Y.; Wang, S.; Li, G.; Qin, T.; Chen, Y.; Chu, F. Preparation and Formation Mechanism of Renewable Lignin Hollow Nanospheres with a Single Hole by Self-Assembly. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2017**, *5*, 2273–2281.

(261) Zhou, Y.; Han, Y.; Li, G.; Yang, S.; Xiong, F.; Chu, F. Preparation of Targeted Lignin-Based Hollow Nanoparticles for the Delivery of Doxorubicin. *Nanomaterials* **2019**, *9*, 188.

(262) Xiong, F.; Wang, H.; Xu, H.; Qing, Y.; Wu, Z.; Wu, Y. Self-Assembled Lignin Nanospheres with Solid and Hollow Tunable Structures. *Ind. Crops Prod.* **2020**, *144*, 112063.

(263) Li, H.; Deng, Y.; Liu, B.; Ren, Y.; Liang, J.; Qian, Y.; Qiu, X.; Li, C.; Zheng, D. Preparation of Nanocapsules via the Self-Assembly of Kraft Lignin: A Totally Green Process with Renewable Resources. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2016**, *4*, 1946–1953.

(264) Farooq, M.; Zou, T.; Valle-Delgado, J. J.; Sipponen, M. H.; Morits, M.; Österberg, M. Well-Defined Lignin Model Films from Colloidal Lignin Particles. *Langmuir* **2020**, *36*, 15592–15602.

(265) Sipponen, M. H.; Lange, H.; Crestini, C.; Henn, A.; Österberg, M. Lignin for Nano- and Microscaled Carrier Systems: Applications, Trends, and Challenges. *ChemSusChem* **2019**, *12*, 2039–2054.

(266) Figueiredo, P.; Ferro, C.; Kemell, M.; Liu, Z.; Kiriazis, A.; Lintinen, K.; Florindo, H. F.; Yli-Kauhaluoma, J.; Hirvonen, J.; Kostiainen, M. A.; et al. Functionalization of Carboxylated Lignin Nanoparticles for Targeted and pH-Responsive Delivery of Anticancer Drugs. *Nanomedicine* **2017**, *12*, 2581–2596.

(267) Henn, K. A.; Forsman, N.; Zou, T.; Österberg, M. Colloidal Lignin Particles and Epoxies for Bio-Based, Durable, and Multi-resistant Nanostructured Coatings. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2021**, *13*, 34793–34806.

(268) Mattinen, M. L.; Valle-Delgado, J. J.; Leskinen, T.; Anttila, T.; Riviere, G.; Sipponen, M.; Paananen, A.; Lintinen, K.; Kostiainen, M.; Österberg, M. Enzymatically and Chemically Oxidized Lignin Nanoparticles for Biomaterial Applications. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **2018**, *111*, 48–56.

(269) Notley, S. M.; Norgren, M. Surface Energy and Wettability of Spin-Coated Thin Films of Lignin Isolated from Wood. *Langmuir* **2010**, *26*, 5484–5490.

(270) Pylypchuk, I. V.; Lindén, P. A.; Lindström, M. E.; Sevastyanova, O. New Insight into the Surface Structure of Lignin Nanoparticles Revealed by 1 H Liquid-State NMR Spectroscopy. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2020**, *8*, 13805–13812.

(271) Sotiropoulou, M.; Bokias, G.; Staikos, G. Soluble Hydrogen-Bonding Interpolymer Complexes and PH-Controlled Thickening Phenomena in Water. *Macromolecules* **2003**, *36*, 1349–1354.

(272) Melro, E.; Filipe, A.; Sousa, D.; Valente, A. J. M.; Romano, A.; Antunes, F. E.; Medronho, B. Dissolution of Kraft Lignin in Alkaline Solutions. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2020**, *148*, 688–695.

(273) Hess, K. M.; Killgore, J. P.; Srubar, W. V. Nanoscale Hygromechanical Behavior of Lignin. *Cellulose* **2018**, *25*, 6345–6360. (274) Guo, X.; Yuan, H.; Xiao, T.; Wu, Y. Application of Micro-FTIR Spectroscopy to Study Molecular Association of Adsorbed Water with Lignin. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2019**, *131*, 1038–1043.

(275) Callister, W. D.Composites. In Materials Science and Engineering: An Introduction, 10th ed.; Wiley, 2018; pp 567–606.

(276) Chaplin, M. Do We Underestimate the Importance of Water in Cell Biology? *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2006**, *7*, 861–866.

(277) Zwier, T. S. Laser Spectroscopy of Jet-Cooled Biomolecules and Their Water-Containing Clusters: Water Bridges and Molecular Conformation. J. Phys. Chem. A **2001**, 105, 8827–8839.

(278) Bella, J.; Brodsky, B.; Berman, H. M. Hydration Structure of a Collagen Peptide. *Structure* **1995**, *3*, 893–906.

(279) Richter, A. P.; Bharti, B.; Armstrong, H. B.; Brown, J. S.; Plemmons, D.; Paunov, V. N.; Stoyanov, S. D.; Velev, O. D. Synthesis and Characterization of Biodegradable Lignin Nanoparticles with Tunable Surface Properties. *Langmuir* **2016**, *32*, 6468–6477.

(280) Zou, T.; Sipponen, M. H.; Österberg, M. Natural Shape-Retaining Microcapsules with Shells Made of Chitosan-Coated Colloidal Lignin Particles. *Front. Chem.* **2019**, *7*, 370.

(281) Alipoormazandarani, N.; Benselfelt, T.; Wang, L.; Wang, X.; Xu, C.; Wågberg, L.; Willför, S.; Fatehi, P. Functional Lignin Nanoparticles with Tunable Size and Surface Properties: Fabrication, Characterization, and Use in Layer-by-Layer Assembly. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2021**, *13*, 26308–26317.

(282) Wang, X.; Bian, H.; Ni, S.; Sun, S.; Jiao, L.; Dai, H. BNNS/ PVA Bilayer Composite Film with Multiple-Improved Properties by the Synergistic Actions of Cellulose Nanofibrils and Lignin Nanoparticles. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 2020, 157, 259–266.

(283) Tian, D.; Hu, J.; Bao, J.; Chandra, R. P.; Saddler, J. N.; Lu, C. Lignin Valorization: Lignin Nanoparticles as High-Value Bio-Additive for Multifunctional Nanocomposites. *Biotechnol. Biofuels* **2017**, *10*, 192–1.

(284) Yang, W.; Owczarek, J. S.; Fortunati, E.; Kozanecki, M.; Mazzaglia, A.; Balestra, G. M.; Kenny, J. M.; Torre, L.; Puglia, D. Antioxidant and Antibacterial Lignin Nanoparticles in Polyvinyl Alcohol/Chitosan Films for Active Packaging. *Ind. Crops Prod.* **2016**, *94*, 800–811.

(285) Yang, W.; Fortunati, E.; Bertoglio, F.; Owczarek, J. S.; Bruni, G.; Kozanecki, M.; Kenny, J. M.; Torre, L.; Visai, L.; Puglia, D. Polyvinyl Alcohol/Chitosan Hydrogels with Enhanced Antioxidant and Antibacterial Properties Induced by Lignin Nanoparticles. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2018**, *181*, 275–284.

(286) Li, J.; He, Y.; Inoue, Y. Thermal and Mechanical Properties of Biodegradable Blends of Poly(L-Lactic Acid) and Lignin. *Polym. Int.* **2003**, *52*, 949–955.

(287) Yang, W.; Fortunati, E.; Dominici, F.; Kenny, J. M.; Puglia, D. Effect of Processing Conditions and Lignin Content on Thermal, Mechanical and Degradative Behavior of Lignin Nanoparticles/ Polylactic (Acid) Bionanocomposites Prepared by Melt Extrusion and Solvent Casting. *Eur. Polym. J.* **2015**, *71*, 126–139.

(288) Yang, W.; Fortunati, E.; Dominici, F.; Giovanale, G.; Mazzaglia, A.; Balestra, G. M.; Kenny, J. M.; Puglia, D. Synergic Effect of Cellulose and Lignin Nanostructures in PLA Based Systems for Food Antibacterial Packaging. *Eur. Polym. J.* **2016**, *79*, 1–12.

(289) Cavallo, E.; He, X.; Luzi, F.; Dominici, F.; Cerrutti, P.; Bernal, C.; Foresti, M. L.; Torre, L.; Puglia, D. UV Protective, Antioxidant, Antibacterial and Compostable Polylactic Acid Composites Containing Pristine and Chemically Modified Lignin Nanoparticles. *Molecules* **2021**, *26*, 126.

(290) Yang, W.; Zhu, Y.; He, Y.; Xiao, L.; Xu, P.; Puglia, D.; Ma, P. Preparation of toughened poly(lactic acid)-poly(*e*-caprolactone)-lignin nanocomposites with good heat- and UV-resistance. *Industrial Crops and Products* **2022**, *183*, 114965.

(291) Nair, S. S.; Sharma, S.; Pu, Y.; Sun, Q.; Pan, S.; Zhu, J. Y; Deng, Y.; Ragauskas, A. J. High Shear Homogenization of Lignin to Nanolignin and Thermal Stability of Nanolignin-Polyvinyl Alcohol Blends. *ChemSusChem* **2014**, 7 (12), 3513.

(292) Ago, M.; Huan, S.; Borghei, M.; Raula, J.; Kauppinen, E. I.; Rojas, O. J. High-Throughput Synthesis of Lignin Particles (~30 nm to ~ 2 μ m) via Aerosol Flow Reactor: Size Fractionation and Utilization in Pickering Emulsions. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2016**, *8*, 23302–23310.

(293) Sipponen, M. H.; Smyth, M.; Leskinen, T.; Johansson, L. S.; Österberg, M. All-Lignin Approach to Prepare Cationic Colloidal Lignin Particles: Stabilization of Durable Pickering Emulsions. *Green Chem.* **2017**, *19*, 5831–5840.

(294) Qian, Y.; Zhang, Q.; Qiu, X.; Zhu, S. CO2-Responsive Diethylaminoethyl-Modified Lignin Nanoparticles and Their Application as Surfactants for CO2/N2-Switchable Pickering Emulsions. *Green Chem.* **2014**, *16*, 4963–4968.

(295) Moreno, A.; Morsali, M.; Liu, J.; Sipponen, M. H. Access to Tough and Transparent Nanocomposites via Pickering Emulsion Polymerization Using Biocatalytic Hybrid Lignin Nanoparticles as Functional Surfactants. *Green Chem.* **2021**, *23*, 3001–3014.

(296) Figueiredo, P.; Lintinen, K.; Kiriazis, A.; Hynninen, V.; Liu, Z.; Bauleth-Ramos, T.; Rahikkala, A.; Correia, A.; Kohout, T.; Sarmento, B.; et al. In Vitro Evaluation of Biodegradable Lignin-Based Nanoparticles for Drug Delivery and Enhanced Antiproliferation Effect in Cancer Cells. *Biomaterials* **2017**, *121*, 97–108.

(297) Figueiredo, P.; Sipponen, M. H.; Lintinen, K.; Correia, A.; Kiriazis, A.; Yli-Kauhaluoma, J.; Österberg, M.; George, A.; Hirvonen, J.; Kostiainen, M. A.; et al. Preparation and Characterization of Dentin Phosphophoryn-Derived Peptide-Functionalized Lignin Nanoparticles for Enhanced Cellular Uptake. *Small* **2019**, *15*, 1901427. (298) Gan, D.; Xing, W.; Jiang, L.; Fang, J.; Zhao, C.; Ren, F.; Fang, L.; Wang, K.; Lu, X. Plant-Inspired Adhesive and Tough Hydrogel Based on Ag-Lignin Nanoparticles-Triggered Dynamic Redox Catechol Chemistry. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 1487.

(299) Lintinen, K.; Luiro, S.; Figueiredo, P.; Sakarinen, E.; Mousavi, Z.; Seitsonen, J.; Rivière, G. N. S.; Mattinen, U.; Niemelä, M.; Tammela, P.; et al. Antimicrobial Colloidal Silver-Lignin Particles via Ion and Solvent Exchange. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2019**, *7*, 15297–15303.

(300) Zhang, L.; Gu, F. X.; Chan, J. M.; Wang, A. Z.; Langer, R. S.; Farokhzad, O. C. Nanoparticles in Medicine: Therapeutic Applications and Developments. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* **2008**, *83*, 761–769. (301) Lin, W. Introduction: Nanoparticles in Medicine. *Chem. Rev.* **2015**, *115*, 10407–10409.

(302) Chen, K.; Qian, Y.; Wang, C.; Yang, D.; Qiu, X.; Binks, B. P. Tumor Microenvironment-Responsive, High Internal Phase Pickering Emulsions Stabilized by Lignin/Chitosan Oligosaccharide Particles for Synergistic Cancer Therapy. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2021**, *591*, 352–362.

(303) Dai, L.; Li, Y.; Kong, F.; Liu, K.; Si, C.; Ni, Y. Lignin-Based Nanoparticles Stabilized Pickering Emulsion for Stability Improvement and Thermal-Controlled Release of Trans-Resveratrol. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2019**, *7*, 13497–13504.

(304) Tortora, M.; Cavalieri, F.; Mosesso, P.; Ciaffardini, F.; Melone, F.; Crestini, C. Ultrasound Driven Assembly of Lignin into Microcapsules for Storage and Delivery of Hydrophobic Molecules. *Biomacromolecules* **2014**, *15*, 1634–1643.

(305) Oh, N.; Park, J. H. Endocytosis and Exocytosis of Nanoparticles in Mammalian Cells. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* **2014**, *9*, 51–63.

(306) Zelepukin, I. V.; Yaremenko, A. V.; Yuryev, M. V.; Mirkasymov, A. B.; Sokolov, I. L.; Deyev, S. M.; Nikitin, P. I.; Nikitin, M. P. Fast Processes of Nanoparticle Blood Clearance: Comprehensive Study. J. Controlled Release **2020**, 326, 181–191.

(307) Shang, L.; Nienhaus, K.; Nienhaus, G. U. Engineered Nanoparticles Interacting with Cells: Size Matters. *J. Nanobiotechnology* **2014**, *12*, 5.

(308) Wang, B.; He, X.; Zhang, Z.; Zhao, Y.; Feng, W. Metabolism of Nanomaterials in Vivo: Blood Circulation and Organ Clearance. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2013**, *46*, 761–769.

(309) Nuhn, L.; Gietzen, S.; Mohr, K.; Fischer, K.; Toh, K.; Miyata, K.; Matsumoto, Y.; Kataoka, K.; Schmidt, M.; Zentel, R. Aggregation Behavior of Cationic Nanohydrogel Particles in Human Blood Serum. *Biomacromolecules* **2014**, *15*, 1526–1533.

(310) Lunov, O.; Syrovets, T.; Loos, C.; Beil, J.; Delacher, M.; Tron, K.; Nienhaus, G. U.; Musyanovych, A.; Mailänder, V.; Landfester, K.; et al. Differential Uptake of Functionalized Polystyrene Nanoparticles by Human Macrophages and a Monocytic Cell Line. *ACS Nano* **2011**, *5*, 1657–1669.

(311) Chithrani, B. D.; Chan, W. C. W. Elucidating the Mechanism of Cellular Uptake and Removal of Protein-Coated Gold Nanoparticles of Different Sizes and Shapes. *Nano Lett.* **2007**, *7*, 1542–1550.

(312) Albanese, A.; Tang, P. S.; Chan, W. C. W. The Effect of Nanoparticle Size, Shape, and Surface Chemistry on Biological Systems. *Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng.* **2012**, *14*, 1–16.

(313) Mattinen, M. L.; Riviere, G.; Henn, A.; Nugroho, R. W. N.; Leskinen, T.; Nivala, O.; Valle-Delgado, J. J.; Kostiainen, M. A.; Österberg, M. Colloidal Lignin Particles as Adhesives for Soft Materials. *Nanomaterials* **2018**, *8*, 1001.

(314) Leskinen, T.; Witos, J.; Valle-Delgado, J. J.; Lintinen, K.; Kostiainen, M.; Wiedmer, S. K.; Österberg, M.; Mattinen, M. L. Adsorption of Proteins on Colloidal Lignin Particles for Advanced Biomaterials. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 2767–2776.

(315) Yu, M.; Zheng, J. Clearance Pathways and Tumor Targeting of Imaging Nanoparticles. *ACS Nano* **2015**, *9*, 6655–6674.

(316) Gustafson, H. H.; Holt-Casper, D.; Grainger, D. W.; Ghandehari, H. Nanoparticle Uptake: The Phagocyte Problem. *Nano Today* **2015**, *10*, 487–510.

(317) Nel, A.; Xia, T.; Mädler, L.; Li, N. Toxic Potential of Materials at the Nanolevel. *Science* (80-.). **2006**, 311, 622–627.

(318) Ciechanover, A.; Orian, A.; Schwartz, A. L. Ubiquitin-Mediated Proteolysis: Biological Regulation via Destruction. *BioEssays* **2000**, *22*, 442–451.

(319) Stern, S. T.; Adiseshaiah, P. P.; Crist, R. M. Autophagy and Lysosomal Dysfunction as Emerging Mechanisms of Nanomaterial Toxicity. *Part. Fibre Toxicol.* **2012**, *9*, 20.

(320) Cecarini, V.; Gee, J.; Fioretti, E.; Amici, M.; Angeletti, M.; Eleuteri, A. M.; Keller, J. N. Protein Oxidation and Cellular Homeostasis: Emphasis on Metabolism. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* -*Mol. Cell Res.* 2007, 1773, 93–104.

(321) Brunk, U. T.; Terman, A. Lipofuscin: Mechanisms of Age-Related Accumulation and Influence on Cell Function. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **2002**, *33*, 611–619.

(322) Jessup, W.; Wilson, P.; Gaus, K.; Kritharides, L. Oxidized Lipoproteins and Macrophages. *Vascul. Pharmacol.* **2002**, *38*, 239–248.

(323) Squier, T. C. Oxidative Stress and Protein Aggregation during Biological Aging. *Exp. Gerontol.* **2001**, *36*, 1539–1550.

(324) Wang, L.; Hu, C.; Shao, L. The Antimicrobial Activity of Nanoparticles: Present Situation and Prospects for the Future. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* **2017**, *12*, 1227–1249.

(325) Wang, L.; Wang, Q.; Slita, A.; Backman, O.; Gounani, Z.; Rosqvist, E.; Peltonen, J.; Willför, S.; Xu, C.; Rosenholm, J. M.; et al. Digital Light Processing (DLP) 3D-Fabricated Antimicrobial Hydrogel with a Sustainable Resin of Methacrylated Woody Polysaccharides and Hybrid Silver-Lignin Nanospheres[†]. *Green Chem.* **2022**, *24*, 2129–2145.

(326) Gerbin, E.; Rivière, G. N.; Foulon, L.; Frapart, Y. M.; Cottyn, B.; Pernes, M.; Marcuello, C.; Godon, B.; Gainvors-Claisse, A.; Crônier, D.; et al. Tuning the Functional Properties of Lignocellulosic Films by Controlling the Molecular and Supramolecular Structure of Lignin. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2021**, *181*, 136–149.

(327) Mulcahy, L. R.; Isabella, V. M.; Lewis, K. Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Biofilms in Disease. *Microb. Ecol.* **2014**, *68*, 1–12.

(328) Banin, E.; Vasil, M. L.; Greenberg, E. P. Iron and Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Biofilm Formation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 2005, 102, 11076–11081.

(329) Mah, T. F.; Pitts, B.; Pellock, B.; Walker, G. C.; Stewart, P. S.; O'Toole, G. A. A Genetic Basis for Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Biofilm Antibiotic Resistance. *Nature* **2003**, *426*, 306–310.

(330) Wang, P.; Robert, L.; Pelletier, J.; Dang, W. L.; Taddei, F.; Wright, A.; Jun, S. Robust Growth of Escherichia Coli. *Curr. Biol.* **2010**, *20*, 1099–1103.

(331) Vogeleer, P.; Tremblay, Y. D. N.; Mafu, A. A.; Jacques, M.; Harel, J. Life on the Outside: Role of Biofilms in Environmental Persistence of Shiga-Toxin Producing Escherichia Coli. *Front. Microbiol.* **2014**, *5*, 317.

(332) Periasamy, S.; Joo, H. S.; Duong, A. C.; Bach, T. H. L.; Tan, V. Y.; Chatterjee, S. S.; Cheung, G. Y. C.; Otto, M. How Staphylococcus Aureus Biofilms Develop Their Characteristic Structure. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2012**, *109*, 1281–1286.

(333) Moormeier, D. E.; Bayles, K. W. Staphylococcus Aureus Biofilm: A Complex Developmental Organism. *Mol. Microbiol.* 2017, *104*, 365–376.

(334) Ouyang, J.; Sun, F.; Feng, W.; Sun, Y.; Qiu, X.; Xiong, L.; Liu, Y.; Chen, Y. Quercetin Is an Effective Inhibitor of Quorum Sensing, Biofilm Formation and Virulence Factors in Pseudomonas Aeruginosa. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* **2016**, *120*, 966–974.

(335) Fathi-Achachelouei, M.; Knopf-Marques, H.; Ribeiro da Silva, C. E.; Barthès, J.; Bat, E.; Tezcaner, A.; Vrana, N. E. Use of Nanoparticles in Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* **2019**, *7*, 113.

(336) Ravishankar, K.; Venkatesan, M.; Desingh, R. P.; Mahalingam, A.; Sadhasivam, B.; Subramaniyam, R.; Dhamodharan, R. Biocompatible Hydrogels of Chitosan-Alkali Lignin for Potential Wound Healing Applications. *Mater. Sci. Eng., C* **2019**, *102*, 447–457. (337) Kai, D.; Ren, W.; Tian, L.; Chee, P. L.; Liu, Y.; Ramakrishna, S.; Loh, X. J. Engineering Poly(Lactide)-Lignin Nanofibers with Antioxidant Activity for Biomedical Application. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2016**, *4*, 5268–5276.

(338) Gao, G.; Dallmeyer, J. I.; Kadla, J. F. Synthesis of Lignin Nanofibers with Ionic-Responsive Shells: Water-Expandable Lignin-Based Nanofibrous Mats. *Biomacromolecules* **2012**, *13*, 3602–3610.

(339) Wang, J.; Tian, L.; Luo, B.; Ramakrishna, S.; Kai, D.; Loh, X. J.; Yang, I. H.; Deen, G. R.; Mo, X. Engineering PCL/Lignin Nanofibers as an Antioxidant Scaffold for the Growth of Neuron and Schwann Cell. *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces* **2018**, *169*, 356–365.

(340) Birla, R.Biomaterials for Tissue Engineering. In *Introduction to Tissue Engineering: Applications and Challenges*; Wiley-IEEE, 2014; pp 84–129.

(341) Liu, Y.; Zhou, G.; Cao, Y. Recent Progress in Cartilage Tissue Engineering—Our Experience and Future Directions. *Engineering* **2017**, *3*, 28–35.

(342) Poh, P. S. P.; Valainis, D.; Bhattacharya, K.; van Griensven, M.; Dondl, P. Optimization of Bone Scaffold Porosity Distributions. *Sci. Rep.* **2019**, *9*, 9170.

(343) Buzarovska, A.; Gualandi, C.; Parrilli, A.; Scandola, M. Effect of TiO_2 Nanoparticle Loading on Poly(l-Lactic Acid) Porous Scaffolds Fabricated by TIPS. *Compos. Part B Eng.* **2015**, *81*, 189–195.

(344) Hasan, A.; Morshed, M.; Memic, A.; Hassan, S.; Webster, T. J.; Marei, H. E. S. Nanoparticles in Tissue Engineering: Applications, Challenges and Prospects. *Int. J. Nanomedicine* **2018**, *13*, 5637–5655.

(345) Roohani-Esfahani, S. I.; Nouri-Khorasani, S.; Lu, Z. F.; Appleyard, R. C.; Zreiqat, H. Effects of Bioactive Glass Nanoparticles on the Mechanical and Biological Behavior of Composite Coated Scaffolds. *Acta Biomater.* **2011**, *7*, 1307–1318.

(346) Carlström, I. E.; Rashad, A.; Campodoni, E.; Sandri, M.; Syverud, K.; Bolstad, A. I.; Mustafa, K. Cross-Linked Gelatin-Nanocellulose Scaffolds for Bone Tissue Engineering. *Mater. Lett.* **2020**, *264*, 127326.

(347) Osorio, D. A.; Lee, B. E. J.; Kwiecien, J. M.; Wang, X.; Shahid, I.; Hurley, A. L.; Cranston, E. D.; Grandfield, K. Cross-Linked Cellulose Nanocrystal Aerogels as Viable Bone Tissue Scaffolds. *Acta Biomater.* **2019**, *87*, 152–165.

(348) Fu, C.; Yi, Y.; Lin, J.; Kong, F.; Chen, L.; Ni, Y.; Huang, L. Lignin Reinforced Hydrogels with Fast Self-Recovery, Multi-Functionalities via Calcium Ion Bridging for Flexible Smart Sensing Applications. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2022**, 200, 226–233.

(349) Gioia, C.; Lo Re, G.; Lawoko, M.; Berglund, L. Tunable Thermosetting Epoxies Based on Fractionated and Well-Characterized Lignins. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2018, 140, 4054–4061.

(350) Li, R. J.; Gutierrez, J.; Chung, Y. L.; Frank, C. W.; Billington, S. L.; Sattely, E. S. A Lignin-Epoxy Resin Derived from Biomass as an Alternative to Formaldehyde-Based Wood Adhesives. *Green Chem.* **2018**, *20*, 1459–1466.

(351) Szabó, L.; Milotskyi, R.; Ueda, H.; Tsukegi, T.; Wada, N.; Takahashi, K. Controlled Acetylation of Kraft Lignin for Tailoring Polyacrylonitrile-Kraft Lignin Interactions towards the Production of Quality Carbon Nanofibers. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2021**, *405*, 126640.

(352) Karaaslan, M. A.; Cho, M. J.; Liu, L. Y.; Wang, H.; Renneckar, S. Refining the Properties of Softwood Kraft Lignin with Acetone: Effect of Solvent Fractionation on the Thermomechanical Behavior of Electrospun Fibers. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2021**, *9*, 458–470.

(353) Fang, W.; Yang, S.; Wang, X.-L.; Yuan, T.-Q.; Sun, R.-C. Manufacture and Application of Lignin-Based Carbon Fibers (LCFs) and Lignin-Based Carbon Nanofibers (LCNFs). *Green Chem.* 2017, 19, 1794–1827.

(354) Teo, W. E.; Ramakrishna, S. A Review on Electrospinning Design and Nanofibre Assemblies. *Nanotechnology* **2006**, *17*, R89–R106.

(355) Bhardwaj, N.; Kundu, S. C. Electrospinning: A Fascinating Fiber Fabrication Technique. *Biotechnol. Adv.* **2010**, *28*, 325–347.

(356) Solala, I.; Volperts, A.; Andersone, A.; Dizhbite, T.; Mironova-Ulmane, N.; Vehniäinen, A.; Pere, J.; Vuorinen, T. Mechanoradical Formation and Its Effects on Birch Kraft Pulp during the Preparation of Nanofibrillated Cellulose with Masuko Refining. *Wood Res. Technol.* **2012**, *66*, 477–483.

(357) Hanhikoski, S.; Solala, I.; Lahtinen, P.; Niemelä, K.; Vuorinen, T. Fibrillation and Characterization of Lignin-Containing Neutral Sulphite (NS) Pulps Rich in Hemicelluloses and Anionic Charge. *Cellulose* **2020**, *27*, 7203–7214.

(358) Rojo, E.; Peresin, M. S.; Sampson, W. W.; Hoeger, I. C.; Vartiainen, J.; Laine, J.; Rojas, O. J. Comprehensive Elucidation of the Effect of Residual Lignin on the Physical, Barrier, Mechanical and Surface Properties of Nanocellulose Films. *Green Chem.* **2015**, *17*, 1853–1866.

(359) Rivière, G. N.; Pion, F.; Farooq, M.; Sipponen, M. H.; Koivula, H.; Jayabalan, T.; Pandard, P.; Marlair, G.; Liao, X.; Baumberger, S.; et al. Toward Waste Valorization by Converting Bioethanol Production Residues into Nanoparticles and Nanocomposite Films. *Sustain. Mater. Technol.* **2021**, *28*, No. e00269.

(360) Agarwal, U. P.; Ralph, S. A.; Reiner, R. S.; Hunt, C. G.; Baez, C.; Ibach, R.; Hirth, K. C. Production of High Lignin-Containing and Lignin-Free Cellulose Nanocrystals from Wood. *Cellulose* **2018**, *25*, 5791–5805.

(361) Liu, Y. Strong and Flexible Nanocomposites of Carboxylated Cellulose Nanofibril Dispersed by Industrial Lignin. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 2018, 6, 5524–5532.

(362) Sadeghifar, H.; Venditti, R.; Jur, J.; Gorga, R. E.; Pawlak, J. J. Cellulose-Lignin Biodegradable and Flexible UV Protection Film. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2017**, *5*, 625–631.

(363) Zhang, Y.; Xu, W.; Wang, X.; Ni, S.; Rosqvist, E.; Smått, J.-H.; Peltonen, J.; Hou, Q.; Qin, M.; Willför, S.; et al. From Biomass to Nanomaterials: A Green Procedure for Preparation of Holistic Bamboo Multifunctional Nanocomposites Based On Formic Acid Rapid Fractionation. *ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng.* **2019**, *7*, 6592–6600.

(364) Trovagunta, R.; Zou, T.; Österberg, M.; Kelley, S. S.; Lavoine, N. Design Strategies, Properties and Applications of Cellulose Nanomaterials-Enhanced Products with Residual, Technical or Nanoscale Lignin—A Review. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2021**, *254*, 117480.

(365) Iwamoto, S.; Abe, K.; Yano, H. The Effect of Hemicelluloses on Wood Pulp Nanofibrillation and Nanofiber Network Characteristics. *Biomacromolecules* **2008**, *9*, 1022–1026.

(366) Latour Jr, R. A. Molecular Modeling of Biomaterial Surfaces. *Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci.* **1999**, *4*, 413–417.

(367) Mao, Y.; Liu, K.; Zhan, C.; Geng, L.; Chu, B.; Hsiao, B. S. Characterization of Nanocellulose Using Small-Angle Neutron, X-Ray, and Dynamic Light Scattering Techniques. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2017**, *121*, 1340–1351.

(368) Chen, P.; Li, Y.; Nishiyama, Y.; Pingali, S. V.; O'Neill, H. M.; Zhang, Q.; Berglund, L. A. Small Angle Neutron Scattering Shows Nanoscale PMMA Distribution in Transparent Wood Biocomposites. *Nano Lett.* **2021**, *21*, 2883–2890.

(369) Bonini, M.; Fratini, E.; Faraone, A. Dynamics of Water and Other Molecular Liquids Confined Within Voids and on Surface of Lignin Aggregates in Aging Bio Crude Oils. *Front. Chem.* **2021**, *9*, 753958.

(370) Dhar, N.; Au, D.; Berry, R. C.; Tam, K. C. Interactions of Nanocrystalline Cellulose with an Oppositely Charged Surfactant in Aqueous Medium. *Colloids Surfaces A Physicochem. Eng. Asp.* **2012**, *415*, 310–319.

(371) Lee, C. M.; Mohamed, N. M. A.; Watts, H. D.; Kubicki, J. D.; Kim, S. H. Sum-Frequency-Generation Vibration Spectroscopy and Density Functional Theory Calculations with Dispersion Corrections (DFT-D2) for Cellulose I α and I β . J. Phys. Chem. B **2013**, 117, 6681– 6692.

(372) Barnette, A. L.; Bradley, L. C.; Veres, B. D.; Schreiner, E. P.; Park, Y. B.; Park, J.; Park, S.; Kim, S. H. Selective Detection of Crystalline Cellulose in Plant Cell Walls with Sum-Frequency-Generation (SFG) Vibration Spectroscopy. *Biomacromolecules* **2011**, *12*, 2434–2439.

(373) Stine, J. S.; Harper, B. J.; Conner, C. G.; Velev, O. D.; Harper, S. L. In Vivo Toxicity Assessment of Chitosan-Coated Lignin

Nanoparticles in Embryonic Zebrafish (Danio rerio). Nanomat. 2021, 11 (1), 111.

(374) Pang, Y.; Wang, S.; Qiu, X.; Luo, Y.; Lou, H.; Huang, J. Preparation of Lignin/Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate Composite Nanoparticles and Their Application in Pickering Emulsion Template-Based Microencapsulation. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **2017**, *65*, 11011– 11019.

(375) Richter, A. P.; Brown, J. S.; Bharti, B.; Wang, A.; Gangwal, S.; Houck, K.; Cohen Hubal, E. A.; Paunov, V. N.; Stoyanov, S. D.; Velev, O. D. An Environmentally Benign Antimicrobial Nanoparticle Based on a Silver-Infused Lignin Core. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2015**, *10*, 817–823.

Recommended by ACS

Understanding Nanocellulose–Water Interactions: Turning a Detriment into an Asset

Laleh Solhi, Eero Kontturi, et al. FEBRUARY 01, 2023 CHEMICAL REVIEWS

READ 🗹

Cellulose-Based Fluorescent Material for Extreme pH Sensing and Smart Printing Applications

Haq Nawaz, Feng Xu, *et al.* FEBRUARY 14, 2023 ACS NANO

READ 🗹

Toward Sustaining Bioplastics: Add a Pinch of Seasoning

Hyeri Kim, Jun Mo Koo, et al.	
JANUARY 22, 2023	
ACS SUSTAINABLE CHEMISTRY & ENGINEERING	READ 🖸

Physical and Antimicrobial Properties of Chitosan/Silver Nanoparticle Composite Hydrogels: Role of the Crosslinker

Pia Ramos, Moshe Gottlieb, et al. DECEMBER 27, 2022 ACS SUSTAINABLE CHEMISTRY & ENGINEERING

READ 🗹

Get More Suggestions >